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Financial review and highlights

£1.2bn
Corporation 
revenues
• Channel 4’s record Corporation 

revenues of £1,164 million for the 
year surpassed pre-pandemic 
levels to exceed £1 billion for the 
first time ever in 2021, up 25% on 
2020 (2020: £934 million)

• Channel 4 also broke its record 
for highest-ever monthly revenues 
twice during the year, in September 
and again in November

• The TV advertising market has continued 
to beat expectations – post-Covid 
recovery has been followed by 
further growth above 2019 levels, 
as new online entrants embrace 
the potential of TV advertising 

• 2021 saw significant growth across 
all three of our key revenue streams 
(see page 210), reflecting our 
strategic focus on digital growth 
and revenue diversification

£224m
Digital 
advertising 
revenue
• All 4 views were up 21% on 2020 – a 

second year running of double-digit 
growth to reach 1,518 million views in 
2021 (2020: 1,253 million). This puts us 
well on our way to our Future4 target of 
doubling digital viewing over 2020-2025. 

• Digital advertising revenue increased by 
nearly 40% on 2020 (2020: £161 million), 
and now makes up 19% of Channel 4’s 
total revenues, up from 17% last year 
– again, well on target to reach 30% of 
revenues from digital advertising by 
2025 – see further details on page 146

• This growth is supported by our Future4 
strategy launched in 2020, with greater 
focus on digital content, platforms 
and distribution than ever before

£671m
Content  
spend
• 2021 saw Channel 4 increase its 

content spend significantly from 2020 
as we reinvested our strong surplus 
from 2020 into the independent 
production sector (2020: £522 million)

• Originated content spend of £492 
million (2020: £370 million) reflects our 
impressive remit delivery in 2021 with 
titles like It’s A Sin and our Paralympics 
coverage, and ensured that all of 
our Ofcom quotas for the year were 
achieved – see further detail on page 116

• Our clear strategy to prioritise digital 
viewing, combined with a more competitive 
post-Covid linear market, meant we 
anticipated a slightly lower linear share of 
commercial impacts (‘SOCI’) for 2021. 
Whilst portfolio SOCI for 16-34-year-olds 
fell to 20.1% (from 21.3%), portfolio SOCI 
for ABC1s performed well, increasing 
slightly to 16.6% (2020: 16.3%), its highest 
since 2018

£101m 
Pre-tax surplus
• Channel 4 achieved a record 

result for the second year running 
in 2021, recognising a three-
figure pre-tax surplus for the first 
time ever (2020: £74 million)

• A year of significant reinvestment in 
content and strategic projects was 
planned for 2021, following cuts in 2020 
to deal with the financial implications 
of the Covid crisis. As revenues have 
continued to improve during the 
year, we have responded with further 
strategic investment, demonstrating 
the flexibility of our business model. 

• A record surplus in 2021 provides 
a platform for further strategic 
growth into 2022 and beyond

£272m
Net cash 
reserves
• Channel 4’s record surplus has driven a 

£71 million increase in our cash reserves 
versus 2020, to reach our second-
highest-ever closing cash position of 
£272 million (2020: £201 million)

• While Channel 4 drew down on its £75 
million RCF at the start of the pandemic 
to ensure maximum liquidity was 
available, none of this additional funding 
was used during 2020 or 2021, and the 
facility was repaid in full in June 2021

• Net cash reserves is presented 
as an alternative performance 
measure (‘APM’) with further 
details provided on page 205

£566m
Net assets
• Net assets have grown by £114 

million during 2021 (2020: £452 
million), reflecting our post-tax 
surplus for the year, in addition to a 
significant reduction in our pension 
deficit to £29 million (2020: £68 
million), with contributions made 
during the year assisted by strong 
investment returns and changes to 
the actuarial assumptions applied

• Another year of improvement to our 
balance sheet position opens up 
new opportunities for longer-term 
investment in the coming years as 
we build on our ambitious Future4 
strategy, and only serves to underline 
Channel 4’s long-term sustainability, 
even through unprecedented times
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Income statement highlights

£m
2021

£m
2020

£m

Sales House revenues1 1,298 1,047

Corporation revenues 1,164 934

Content spend 671 522

Originated content spend 492 370

Pre-tax surplus/(deficit) 101 74

1 Sales House revenues includes the gross revenues of our partners UKTV and Discovery 
(as well as BT Sport for part of 2020). The difference between Sales House revenues 
and Corporation revenues relates to the revenue we collect on behalf of our partners. 
As Channel 4 is an agent in these relationships, we only recognise our commission on 
these sales within Corporation revenues. 

Against a backdrop of continuing uncertainty in 2021, Channel 4 has 
been able to report a record-breaking set of financial results, 
delivering the largest surplus in its history at £101 million. Record 
revenues have ensured that these results have been achieved even 
as Channel 4 embarks on significant investment, both in the 
production sector and in its innovative future strategy.

The Group achieved its highest-ever revenues of £1,164 million in 
2021 (2020: £934 million), passing £1 billion for the first time, and 
showing even stronger growth than anticipated, over and above 
recovery from the economic impact of Covid in 2020. Linear 
advertising revenues of £835 million were up 21% on 2020. Digital 
advertising revenues saw even more impressive growth, up nearly 
40% on 2020 as our digital-first Future4 strategy starts to pay 
dividends. Digital advertising revenues now make up 19% of total 
revenues (2020: 17%), which puts us well on our way to achieving a 
target of 30% of revenues from digital by 2025. Further revenue 
diversification has also led to growth in non-advertising revenue, up 
25% versus 2020 as we continue to develop our 4Studio unit and 
partnership activity.

2021 saw our investment in programming return not just to 
pre-pandemic levels (following major cancellations, delays and 
budget reductions during 2020 as a result of Covid), but to our 
third-highest content spend ever of £671 million – coming behind 
only record years in 2016 and 2017 (2020: £522 million). After 
reaching over 1 billion views for the first time in 2020, All 4 viewing 
saw continuing growth in 2021 to 1.5 billion views. After a very 
strong year in terms of our SOCI performance in 2020, we had 
anticipated a lower share in 2021 as production restarted and 
competitors were able to bring back key titles and live events. This 
is reflected in our final portfolio SOCI position, with 16-34-year-
olds down 6% year-on-year to 20.1%, although ABC1s SOCI 
increased slightly to 16.6% (2020: 16.3%).

Channel 4 is committed to investing its record 2021 surplus into its 
strategic priorities, and into the production sector. In cash terms, 
this reinvestment was already underway as at our 2021 year end. 
Given the lead time between cash committed and content making 
its way on screen, we will see this reinvestment borne out in our 
creative output, audiences and financial metrics over the coming 
years.

Balance sheet highlights
2021

£m
2020

£m

Net assets 566 452

Freehold land and buildings 98 96

Growth Fund investments 42 26

Programme stock and film rights 298 240

Net cash reserves1 272 201

Pension deficit (29) (68)

1 This alternative performance measure reflects the sum of the Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents and other financial assets net of cash borrowings at the balance sheet 
date; further details are provided on page 205.

As shown on page 202, the Group’s net assets increased by £114 
million during 2021 to a closing position of £566 million. This results 
from the Group’s post-tax surplus for the year of £89 million, plus a 
significant improvement on our pension liability (see below) and an 
associated movement on our deferred tax asset. An improvement 
in the valuation of our Horseferry Road building also contributes to 
the increase. The majority of our Growth Fund investments have 
remained stable in valuation as the economy starts to recover, 
although we have recognised a £3m decrease in fair value on 
certain holdings in relation to the more significant impact of the 
pandemic on some sectors of the economy. While our programme 
stock and film rights balance increased by £59 million during the 
year as a result of content reinvestment and production restarting, 
this was offset by working capital movements elsewhere.

The net pension deficit has decreased to £29 million (2020: 
£68 million), with contributions made by the Group during the 
year assisted by strong investment returns, which boosted the 
scheme’s assets and contributed to a higher discount rate which 
reduces the Scheme’s liabilities.

A second year running of record results has further reinforced our 
balance sheet position, putting us in good stead for strategic 
investment over the coming years and clearly demonstrating 
Channel 4’s financial sustainability.

Cash flow
In March 2020, Channel 4 drew down the full £75 million of its 
revolving credit facility to provide maximum liquidity if required in 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic and its negative impact on the 
TV advertising market, particularly as working capital requirements 
and cash balances fluctuate during the year due to the seasonality 
of ad revenues, programme investment and other spend. None of 
this additional funding was utilised at any point during 2020 or 2021, 
and the facility was repaid in full in June 2021. During 2021, the 
Group repaid £9 million of VAT payments that had been deferred in 
2020 under HMRC’s VAT deferral scheme, with the remainder 
repaid in early 2022.

Channel 4 finished 2021 with net cash reserves of £272 million, up 
£71 million on 2020 and the second-highest closing cash position in 
Channel 4’s history. This cash inflow reflects the £101 million 
surplus for the year, offset by Channel 4’s pension funding 
commitments, key capital expenditure in our Nations and Regions 
offices and investment acquisitions during the year.

Financial review and highlights
(continued)
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Our remit and business model
Channel 4 is a unique organisation: a public service publisher-
broadcaster with a distinctive creative remit, funded solely from 
commercial revenues, existing to provide a range of distinctive, 
challenging and provocative content. In order to fulfil our public 
service remit (which is set out throughout the Statement of Media 
Content Policy) we seek to optimise returns from our commercial 
activities and minimise our overheads in order to maximise our 
spend on screen, marketing and investment in our digital strategy.

As a not-for-profit public service broadcaster, our aim is to be 
commercially self-sufficient in the long term, generating surpluses 
and maintaining a strong balance sheet. A key element of our 
long-term financial strategy is the way we cross-fund commercially 
challenging genres with profitable programming. We invest our 
surpluses (when financially prudent to do so) back into original 
content and digital innovation to evolve our commercial business 
model and to maintain the relevance and reach of our remit. 

The delivery of Channel 4’s unique remit has always relied on a 
challenging funding model which requires an agile, pioneering and 
well-executed commercial strategy. The Members’ view is that this 
is one of the organisation’s strengths, incentivising Channel 4 to 
remain at the sharp end of innovation. 

The section 172(1) statement made on page 175 sets out how the 
Members promote Channel 4’s success in line with our remit and 
the business model described above. 

Our strategy
In November 2020, Channel 4 launched its new Future4 strategy 
focusing on innovation in light of challenges to the traditional 
TV marketplace to ensure the channel remains relevant as a 
destination for the next generation of audiences, securing the 
Group’s long-term sustainability.

The strategy is centred on a newly articulated view of Channel 4’s 
purpose: to create change through entertainment. This is supported 
by the following key strategic pillars (as shown on page 21):
– Prioritising digital growth over linear ratings
– Putting viewers at the heart of decision making 
– Diversifying our revenue streams to underpin our sustainability
– Focusing on strategic partnerships to compete more effectively

Future4 is outlined in greater detail on pages 20 to 21, including an 
overview of the current corporate and financial priorities that our 
key pillars translate to. Key performance indicators were 
introduced alongside the Future4 strategy in 2020 to monitor the 
business’s performance against these objectives and progress over 
time – 2021 performance is considered on pages 146 to 147. Our 
assessment of our key business risks on pages 156 to 164 notes the 
hurdles faced in implementing Future4 in practice, and the 
mitigations in place to ensure we perform against our strategic 
targets. 

Financial review and highlights 
(continued)
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Our principal activities

Our principal activities include free-to-air 
television channels which help to maintain 
our scale and creative impact, our digital 
platform All 4, and investments in film and 
independent production.

	 Channel	4
 Core focus on the values of innovation, 

creativity and diversity through original 
UK-commissioned programming. Channel 4  
is available in standard and high definition  
on the main broadcast platforms and also 
encompasses our delayed transmission 
service Channel 4+1 and 4seven. 4seven 
provides another opportunity to watch 
Channel 4 programmes from the past week 
that have generated public, media and 
social media attention.

 E4
 Focuses on comedy, drama and entertainment, 

including original commissions and US 
acquisitions. E4 is the second most popular 
digital channel for 16-34-year-olds and the 
second most popular digital channel in the UK.

 More4
 Offers lifestyle-based content to help viewers 

to get the most out of their everyday lives. 
More4 focuses on popular factual and features 
programming including homes, property, food, 
health and fashion.

 Film4
 The UK’s leading dedicated film channel, Film4 

offers a mix of the best British, European, 
US and international cinema.

 4Music
 A Channel 4-branded music and entertainment 

channel targeted at the 16-34 demographic. 

Other
Our channels are available on all the main broadcast platforms 
and offer delayed transmission and high definition services. 

Channel 4 also broadcasts a suite of entertainment and music 
channels targeted at the 16-34 demographic, including Box Hits, 
The Box, Kiss, Magic and Kerrang!

 All 4
 All 4, our VoD proposition, and other 

interactive platforms have helped to extend 
the depth and impact of programming output. 
All 4 enables us to package together a much 
wider variety of content: live TV, catch-up, 
box-sets and an increasing volume of online-
specific content, making the platform a 
standalone destination with a clear editorial 
tone of voice. We are maintaining investment in 
technology to ensure a reliable user experience 
which keeps pace with heightened competition 
and consumer expectations.

Film4 Productions
Film4 Productions develops and co-finances 
films and is known for working with the most 
distinctive and innovative talent in UK and 
international filmmaking, whether new  
or established. 

4Studio
4Studio is our in-house digital content studio, 
at the heart of our digital acceleration strategy 
leading on all aspects of short-form content 
publication across social media platforms and 
delivering on Channel 4’s strategy to serve 
young audiences in the spaces where they like 
to consume and interact with content.

Investment funds
The Indie Growth Fund helps to nurture the 
independent production sector by providing 
access to finance for a broad portfolio of small 
and medium-sized companies based in the UK 
to help them grow and develop their business.

Channel 4 Ventures attracts new advertisers to 
TV and helps stimulate existing advertising 
sectors. The fund exchanges advertising 
airtime for minority stakeholdings in fast-
growing companies.

Rights
Our UK secondary rights business generates 
income through the distribution of programmes 
and other associated products.



Strategic ReportChannel Four Annual Report 2021146

Key performance indicators

The Board uses a range 
of quantitative financial 
and non-financial 
information to monitor 
the Group’s performance. 
The key performance 
measures presented 
here have been identified 
by the Board as the most 
effective indicators in 
assessing progress 
against Channel 4’s key 
objectives and strategy. 
The KPIs outlined on 
these pages are reviewed 
alongside the Statement 
of Media Content Policy 
(‘SMCP’) metrics set out 
on pages 84 to 128 of  
this report and a wider 
range of performance 
metrics set out on  
pages 237 to 239.

Digital advertising 
revenue

Definition
Digital advertising revenue reflects 
revenues generated from advertising 
on All 4 as well as other third-party 
platforms. This is monitored both in 
absolute terms and as a percentage 
of total Corporation revenues.

Importance
Diversifying our advertising revenues 
is a key pillar of our Future4 strategy, 
reflecting the changing viewing 
environment that Channel 4 operates 
in, and aimed at ensuring future 
sustainability. The strategy sets 
a clear commercial target: digital 
advertising revenue to be at least 
30% of total revenue by 2025. 

2021 performance
2021 was a particularly strong year 
for digital advertising revenue, which 
saw growth of nearly 40% year-
on-year to reach £224 million. This 
ensures we are on course towards 
our 2025 targets, with digital 
advertising now making up 19% of total 
Corporation revenues (17% in 2020). 

19%  
% of total revenue

£224m  
Digital advertising revenue

Digital advertising revenue
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225

100
75

200

150
175

125

50
25

0

20%
18%
16%
14%
12%
10%
8%
6%
4%
2%
0

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Non-advertising 
revenue

Definition
Non-advertising revenue includes 
all revenues not generated directly 
through either linear or digital 
advertising – including (but not 
limited to) rights income, distribution 
and theatrical revenues. This metric 
also reflects new revenue streams 
developed as part of our Future4 
strategy. Non-advertising revenue 
is monitored both in absolute 
terms and as a percentage of 
total Corporation revenues.

Importance
Diversifying our revenues, and 
developing new revenue streams 
outside of our advertising business, 
is a key pillar of our Future4 strategy, 
aimed at ensuring future sustainability. 
The strategy sets a clear commercial 
target: non-advertising revenues to be 
at least 10% of total revenue by 2025. 

2021 performance
Non-advertising revenue was up by 
26% in 2021 to £105 million, as we 
continue to develop strategic new 
revenue streams, including our 4Studio 
team. Non-advertising revenue remains 
at 9% of our total, in line with 2020, 
although this is against a base of 
much higher linear and digital revenue 
in 2021 as the advertising market 
continues its post-Covid recovery. 

9%  
% of total revenue

£105m 
Non-advertising revenue

Non-advertising revenue
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Programme 
streaming views

Definition
A streaming view occurs when a clip 
or full-length programme is accessed 
on our All 4 on-demand platform.

Importance
Doubling All 4 viewing by 2025 
(versus our baseline of 995 million 
views in 2019) is a central goal of 
our Future4 strategy, to ensure 
that Channel 4 remains relevant 
in an increasingly digital viewing 
landscape. Streaming views measure 
our success in attracting viewing to 
our on-demand platform in the face 
of competition, both from traditional 
broadcasters and global giants.

2021 performance
Streaming views were up 21% in 2021, 
finishing the year on 1,518 million 
views. 2021 performance continued 
to build on the record growth we saw 
in 2020 over periods of lockdown, 
and reflects the success of our 
increasingly digital-first approach.

1,518m 
Programme streaming views
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Share of commercial 
impacts

Definition
Share of commercial impacts 
(‘SOCI’) measures our share of the 
commercial linear viewing audience, 
and specifically of commercial 
impacts (one member of a target 
audience viewing one advert). 
Channel 4 focuses on its portfolio 
SOCI across the two target audiences 
which make up its key demographic 
– 16-34-year-olds and ABC1s. 

Importance
SOCI is a clear indicator of 
linear viewing performance, and 
additionally (unlike a broader 
general share of viewing metric) 
acts as an indicator of how viewing 
translates to revenue generation 
through the advertising we sell. 

2021 performance
In 2021, portfolio SOCI across 
16-34-year-olds decreased to 20.1% 
(2020: 21.3%) – a decline which had 
been anticipated given Channel 4’s 
strategic digital-first focus, and as 
our competitors started to return 
key titles and live events to the 
schedule this year. Portfolio SOCI 
for ABC1s however grew slightly 
year-on-year, even measuring 
against a strong 2020 performance, 
to 16.6% for 2021 (2020: 16.3%). 

20.1% 
SOCI portfolio 16-34-year-olds

16.6% 
SOCI portfolio ABC1s

Portfolio SOCI
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Ofcom 
requirements

Definition
As a public service broadcaster, the 
Channel 4 main service is set various 
licence obligations by Ofcom. Targets 
are set for a range of production 
and transmission measures.

Importance
Channel 4 must demonstrate 
compliance with its licence obligations. 
Our delivery against these targets 
is set out on pages 103 to 112.

2021 performance
In 2021 we met or exceeded all of 
our licence requirements, with key 
quotas achieved shown below. During 
2021, the main channel achieved 
64% of overall hours of originated 
programmes (target: 56%) and 81% in 
peak hours (target: 70%). As shown on 
pages 109 and 111, we also achieved 
55% of programme production 
spend outside London (target: 35%) 
and 9% of programme production 
spend in the Nations (target: 9%).

Exceeded 
Ofcom requirements

Key metrics for Ofcom quotas
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Key performance indicators
(continued)
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People and corporate social responsibility

People
In 2021, we reshaped the organisation to align with our Future4 
strategy, refining our Executive structure to bring key disciplines 
together and clarify accountabilities to reduce complexity in our 
structure, to support better communication, faster decision making 
and create more meaningful roles for everyone.

Our continued focus was the welfare of our employees, and to 
provide support to work in a hybrid way. As rules changed, we 
ensured our offices were made safe and provided options for our 
employees to start to return to work through trialling agile working, 
through our 50/50 manifesto.

During the year, we continued to hold regular all-staff sessions with 
the Chief Executive and also conducted employee surveys to listen 
to our employees and respond as appropriate. Our engagement 
score averaged 81%, slightly above the Creative & Media industry 
benchmark1. 

Diversity	profile
Channel 4’s focus on Inclusion and Diversity (‘I&D’) continues to 
ensure we have a diverse makeup of employees. 

Our employees choose whether to voluntarily share their diversity 
information with us and have an option to choose “prefer not to say” 
for each question. 

December 
2021

December 
2020

2023 target 
(staff)

Female
Total 58% 54% N/A

In top 100 paid 
employees

48% 45% 50%

Ethnically diverse
Total 18% 17% 20%

In top 100 paid 
employees

17% 12% 20%

Disabled 11% 10% 12%
LGBTQ+ 10% 8% 6%2

Employee breakdown and gender balance
The average number of employees for the year, on a full-time 
equivalent basis, was 1,044 in 2021 (2020: 912). The average 
number of people employed by the Group for each group 
of employees was as follows:

2021 Male no. Female no.

Executive team 8 5
Senior managers 24 18

Employees 424 556

Total employees 456 579

Non-Executive Members 6 3

Total including Non-Executive Members 462 582

Our employee resource groups (‘ERGs’), listed below, have 
played a huge role in supporting our employees and the business 
throughout 2021, and the Channel 4 Executive team offer their 
thanks for this hard work and dedication during the year. The ERGs 
have organised and held regular virtual meetings and support 
sessions throughout the year, continuing to raise awareness of 
difference and fostering an inclusive culture:
– The Collective (diverse ethnicities)
– 4Earth (environment)
– 4Mind (mental health)
– 4Parents & Carers (parents and carers)
– 4Pride (LGBTQ+)
– 4Purple (disability)
– 4Reps (employee representatives)
– 4Women (women) 
– The Shed (men) launched in 2021

Attracting diverse talent
We monitor recruitment activity each month by asking all 
candidates to share their diversity data with us if they wish to do so. 
As a ‘Disability Confident Leader’ we offer a guaranteed interview 
to all candidates with a disability who meet the essential criteria for 
a role. 

In 2021, Channel 4 received 18,168 applications for jobs. We 
employed 327 new people, with the following breakdown:

Applications Employed

Ethnically diverse 24% 23%
Disabled 13% 11%
Female 48% 68%
LGBTQ+ 17% 16%

We successfully ran two apprenticeship programmes in 2021. The 
first focused on roles for our Nations and Regions offices, where we 
placed 13 roles, and the second placed 15 roles in our London 
office.

Investing in people
Our approach to the training and development of our people has 
continued to be virtual (either virtual facilitator-led training or 
digital) as people have continued to mainly work from home. 

During the year, we continued to run wellbeing workshops for both 
employees and line managers, focusing on a preventative approach 
towards supporting mental health through providing insights and 
strategies to alleviate anxiety and stress. 

We have also continued to run additional Mental Health First Aider 
sessions, so that employees have had the opportunity to develop 
the skills to help support others within their teams. 

We successfully ran two programmes: The Link, our 4Inclusion 
mentoring programme, and our Career Development Programme, 
both of which will continue in 2022. The three-month Career 
Development Programme provides a series of masterclasses, 
self-learning and one-to-one coaching.

1 Source: Culture Amp. 
2 Target already met.
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We have also launched two further training programmes: one is 
focused on giving people managers the skills they need to lead 
teams effectively, while the other is focused on our senior 
leadership group, helping them to create and enable a culture of 
innovation and creativity.

Recognising that coaching is the most effective learning and 
development intervention, we have successfully offered individual 
coaching to more people managers through a partnership with Ezra, 
a virtual coaching platform. We also want to extend the opportunity 
of receiving business coaching to everyone, and so we are training 
an internal coaching team through a coaching apprentice 
partnership with Grant Thornton and BPP. These internal coaches 
will also act as coaches and mentors within The Link, our 4Inclusion 
mentoring programme as referenced above.

Finally, responding to the need amongst our employees for 
self-driven learning, we launched the LinkedIn Learning platform, 
enabling them to have instant access to instructor-led videos on 
pretty much any leadership, management or personal development 
topic.

Accountability for corporate conduct
Our Board and Executive team have committed to promoting 
the highest standards of responsible corporate behaviour and 
are ultimately accountable for this. Channel 4 has a Corporate Code 
of Conduct and procedures providing a framework for accountability, 
and a whistleblowing facility in place to ensure concerns can be 
raised by both Channel 4 employees and third parties within our 
supply chain. 

Corporate and social responsibility
We are committed to playing a responsible role in our communities. 
The aim of our corporate responsibility strategy is to fulfil our 
public service remit in a responsible manner through inspiring and 
challenging the behaviour of our people and audience to promote 
social, environmental and personal change. 

Environmental sustainability
We are bringing Channel 4’s creative vision to sustainability 

Our sustainability strategy 
Channel 4 remains committed to a transition to net zero, by setting 
and achieving both near-term and long-term science-based 
emission reduction targets to provide a pathway to net zero by 
2030.

We are integrating sustainability into all our processes and 
decisions, into four areas:
– How we behave – our operations and offices
– Who we work with – our suppliers
– What we showcase – our content
– How we do business – our partnerships and investments

How we behave – our operations and offices 
Channel 4 will continue to reduce emissions as much as possible 
through efficiency measures, reviewing progress and advocating 
support for carbon reduction initiatives among our wider staff. 
Remaining emissions will be offset through credible schemes on the 
path to net zero. 

In 2022 the priority will be to increase the quantity and quality of 
our operational carbon data, as well as looking at carbon 
calculators to measure the productions created internally. Further 
to this, we aim to have both near-term and long-term carbon 
reduction targets validated by the Science Based Targets initiative 
(‘SBTI’).

Sustainability governance and engagement 
The Channel 4 Board and Executive team are provided with updates 
on sustainability activities throughout the year to review progress 
to date and agree upcoming priorities. Channel 4’s Managing 
Director (Nations and Regions) has responsibility for overseeing 
Channel 4’s sustainability work, supported by a dedicated 
Sustainability Manager. A steering group has been established to 
oversee work on the sustainability strategy, with working groups 
across multiple departments to track progress across key projects. 

As outlined on page 161, the Channel 4 Board delegates monitoring 
of risk management, including risks relating to sustainability and 
climate change, to the Audit & Risk Committee. Our Business 
Assurance function reviews the effectiveness of risk management 
around the business and provides regular risk updates to the 
Committee, noting any emerging risks. Environmental sustainability 
was included as a key risk in 2020, but the major change in the 
national climate agenda and stakeholder expectations during 2021 
has increased the prominence of this risk to Channel 4, as it has 
with all businesses over the last 12 months. 

To support the business in achieving its ambitions, all departments 
need the knowledge and tools to integrate sustainability into 
working practices. Building on the success of training provided by 
‘albert’ (see more details on page 161), this was updated in 2021 
with an e-learning module specific to Channel 4’s objectives and 
asks. The ‘How to go net zero’ module is now a part of mandatory 
induction training for all new starters to establish the importance of 
action across all areas of the business, empowering individuals to 
consider sustainability across decision making. 

Staff engagement in sustainability is supported by our dedicated 
employee resource group 4Earth, who provide feedback on the 
direction of the sustainability strategy, support initiatives and 
promote positive climate action for individuals. 

4Earth
Established in 2019, 4Earth is an employee resource group of 
environmental champions who gather to inspire change and put in 
place positive action for the planet at Channel 4. In 2021, this 
network grew to 200+ members spanning the business. In the last 
year, engagements have included online Q&As, workshops and 
cross-ERG collaborative events, each one reaching a diverse 
demographic of 50-100 Channel 4 employees. On Earth Day, 
4Earth organised an online discussion for Channel 4 staff on the 
theme of Climate Justice featuring Krishnan Guru-Murthy and 
collaborated on a version of the same panel at the Climate 
Conference COP26 in Glasgow. 4Earth Chairs attended COP26 
and reported back to the business on key themes and speakers. In 
October, 4Earth Chairs completed social media training and set up 
4Earth social media accounts on Twitter and Instagram, attracting 
thousands of followers and significantly increasing the reach of the 
network. 
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Streamlined Energy and Carbon Report 
Channel Four Television Corporation is a ‘large unquoted company’ under the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (‘SECR’)
regulations, so must report annually on greenhouse gas emissions from Scope 1 and 2 Electricity, Gas and Transport. 

UK Carbon Footprint Data 2020–2021¹

Scope Description Specific fuels tCO2e

2021 2020

Scope 1 Combustion of fuel on site 
and transportation

On site: natural gas, diesel Location-based 325 150

Market-based 1 87

Scope 2 Purchased energy Electricity Location-based 849 766

Market-based – 16

Scope 3 Indirect emissions Employee business mileage, 
upstream leased assets

Location-based 143 N/A²

Market-based 78 N/A²

Total  Location-based 1,317 916
Market-based 79 103

Intensity ratio tCO2e / £1m turnover Location-based 1.131 1.318
Market-based 0.067 0.602

Energy usage Total kWh consumed Electricity, natural gas, gas oil, petrol, 
diesel, unknown vehicle fuel

6,466,120 4,079,370

Renewable % Electricity 94% 98%

Biogas 95% 43%

Outside of 
scopes

Biofuels Biogas 368 N/A

Emissions detail by fuel type 
location-based method

Electricity LPG

Petrol vehicles

Natural gas

F-Gas Diesel

Hybrid vehicles Unknown fuel vehicles

73%

27%

Statement of exclusions
Communal electricity and gas consumption at the GSN (Channel 4 subsidiary) office is excluded, as data was not obtainable from the 
landlord, and employee business mileage is excluded where these have been booked directly outside of corporate arrangements.

1 Methodology
The reporting period is the most recent financial year 01/01/2021 to 31/12/2021. This report has been compiled in line with the March 2019 BEIS ‘Environmental Reporting Guidelines: 
Including streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance’, and the EMA methodology for SECR Reporting. All measured emissions from activities over which the organisation has 
financial control are included, as required under The Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018, unless 
otherwise stated in the exclusions statement. The carbon figures have been calculated using the BEIS 2021 carbon conversion factors for all fuels, other than the market-based 
electricity and gas which has been taken from EDF, Total Energies, E.ON, OPUS and Unify as the UK suppliers.

2  Not reported in 2020
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Year-on-year emissions changes
The quantity and quality of our operational data available to Channel 4 in assessing its carbon footprint is evolving over time, and improved 
data is a focus in the organisation’s sustainability activities for 2022. As better data becomes available this is incorporated into our 
reporting, but in consequence year-on-year reporting may not be directly comparable – further exacerbated by the impact of Covid on 
factors such as building occupancy which have contributed to significant movements versus 2020. The further information below has been 
provided to give context to the year-on-year changes and clarify the drivers behind these.

Scope Description 2021 2020 Commentary

Scope 1, 2 & 3 Total  
location-based 
emissions1

1,317tCO2e 916tCO2e2,3 Total location-based emissions have increased 44% year-on-year 
when directly comparing these emissions with categories that were 
reported in 2020 (i.e. Scope 1 and 2 only). The increase in these 
emissions relates to higher building occupancy in the year as outlined 
under ‘Natural gas consumption’ and ‘Electricity consumption’ below.

Scope 1, 2 & 3 Total  
market-based 
emissions1 

79tCO2e 103tCO2e Market-based emissions have decreased 25% year-on-year when 
directly comparing Channel 4’s market-based emissions in 2021 with 
emissions categories that were reported in 2020. The reduction has 
primarily been caused by landlord sites switching to REGO backed 
renewable electricity tariffs for the full year. The landlords at the 
Manchester office also switched to a RGGO backed green gas 
contract.

Scope 3 Employee 
business  
mileage

3tCO2e 1tCO2e Channel 4’s emissions associated with employee business mileage 
have been reclassified as Scope 3 employee business mileage in 2021 
(having been classified as Scope 1 in 2020), as Channel 4 does not 
have financial control over the assets.

Energy  
usage

Natural gas 
consumption

1,942,467kWh 785,296kWh Natural gas consumption increased in 2021, resulting in an emissions 
increase of 212tCO2e associated with natural gas consumption when 
using the location-based method. 95% of Channel 4’s gas was 
procured through RGGO green gas contracts.

The increase in natural gas and electricity consumption has been due 
to increased building occupancy in 2021, in comparison with 2020 
when buildings were closed due to Covid-19 lockdowns, enabling 
Channel 4 to make significant savings in its market-based emissions.

Energy  
usage

Electricity 
consumption

4,511,815kWh 3,285,334kWh Channel 4’s electricity consumption increased by 37% year-on-year. 
The location-based emissions associated electricity consumption 
increased from 766tCO2e to 958tCO2e as a result. In 2021, 94% of 
Channel 4’s electricity consumption was procured through REGO 
backed renewable electricity contracts.

As for natural gas (above), the increase in electricity consumption has 
been due to increased building occupancy in 2021, in comparison with 
2020 when buildings were closed due to Covid-19 lockdowns, 
enabling Channel 4 to make significant savings in its market-based 
emissions.

Outside of 
scopes

Biofuels 368tCO2e N/A According to the GHG Protocol and Green Gas Certificate Scheme, 
the biogenic emissions associated with biofuels can be classified as 
carbon neutral when reporting Scopes 1 to 3. Biogenic emissions refer 
to the CO2 that has been sequestered during the production of a 
biofuel, then re-released into the atmosphere upon their combustion. 
For full disclosure, the GHG Protocol and Green Gas Certificate 
Scheme recommend that companies disclose biogenic emissions 
separately, as ‘outside of scopes’. 

1 The location-based method involves using an average emission factor that relates to the grid on which energy consumption occurs. The market-based method must be applied if the 
company has operations in any markets where energy certificates or supplier-specific information are available, and involves using an emission factor that is specific to the 
electricity purchased.

2 The Scope 1 natural gas number originally reported in the 2020 Annual Report (460tCO2e) has been restated in 2021 to 144tCO2e, due to an error in a conversion factor applied in 
the 2020 report. This has had repercussions on the Scope 1 location-based and total location-based figures for 2020. The number has been further restated in 2021 to split this into 
location-based and market-based emissions where this was previously presented in aggregate.

3 Channel 4’s emissions associated with electricity and gas consumption at landlord sites and in communal areas were presented as Scope 1 emissions in 2020, but have been 
reclassified as Scope 3 upstream leased assets in 2021 as Channel 4 does not have financial control over the assets.
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Scope 3 emissions
We have completed an initial assessment of our Scope 3 emissions, 
which makes up the largest part of our carbon footprint (98%). As a 
result, we have identified the priority areas within our supply chain 
on which to act. We will engage with key suppliers, gaining a clearer 
understanding of their carbon emissions through primary data 
collection, and will work collaboratively to reduce them. In 
subsequent years we aim to increase reporting across Scope 3 
categories in this Annual Report as data collection improves. 

Energy	efficiency	actions	taken
The continuation of Covid-19 restrictions in 2021 resulted in some 
of our office spaces being closed for part of the year, or only open 
for a reduced number of people for most of the year whilst the work 
from home government directive and social distancing within the 
workplace were in place. Where possible, building and office plant 
and equipment was adjusted to suit occupancy; however, to comply 
with HVAC industry guidelines for ventilation this resulted in running 
equipment for longer in order to achieve ambient temperatures on 
office floors, and to heat/cool fresh air coming in from outside, as 
opposed to recirculating already heated/cooled air for better 
operable efficiency. To assist with meeting Covid-19 guidelines on 
office ventilation, we installed an Indoor Air Quality system across 
all offices in October 2021. Although not specifically tied to energy 
efficiency, it will help to identify any areas where equipment may 
not be working as designed. 
 
Fit-out of our new National HQ in Leeds started in early 2021, with 
staff occupation from July 2021. With full responsibility for installing 
our own mechanical and electrical plant to serve our floors, 
Channel 4 were able to choose the most energy efficient options 
available, including a ventilation system with mechanical heat 
reclaim units, LED lighting and passive infrared sensor (‘PIR’) 
lighting control, with the fit-out achieving the highest available SKA 
rating of Gold. 

In November 2021, LED lighting was installed in the London office 
garden which will reduce energy consumption going forward.

To assist with future energy reduction initiatives, a smart building 
platform was installed in our London office in September 2021. This 
monitors and analyses the building’s systems and performance in 
real time, and identifies opportunities to reduce the building’s 
energy footprint. We will see the benefit of this system through 
2022 by implementing optimal use and maintenance strategies 
throughout the building.

Waste
Channel 4 works with waste management companies to ensure that 
all waste is diverted from landfill wherever possible. Dry 
recyclables such as paper, cardboard, plastic, metal and glass 
containers are sent to a material recovery facility; general waste 
(non-recyclable) such as crisp packets, plastic bags, some types of 
plastic, laminated foil packaging, cutlery and soiled food 
containers are converted into energy (refuse-derived fuel).  
Channel 4 has also committed to reducing paper usage across the 
business, including no longer buying paper newspapers or 
magazines for office use where possible.

Channel 4 produced a total of 35.98 tonnes of general office waste 
in 2021, which is a reduction to the 37 tonnes in 2020 and attributed 
to the minimal occupancy levels in all offices throughout the year 
due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Overall, 74.29% of the waste 
generated in 2021 was recycled (74.11% in 2020), 25.74% that could 
not be recycled was converted to produce energy (25.22% in 2020) 
with 0% going to landfill (0.67% in 2020). 

Split between our offices in 2021

 
Total  

(Tonnes)

Mixed 
recycling 
(Tonnes)

Waste to 
energy 

(Tonnes)

Waste to 
landfill 

(Tonnes)

Bristol¹ 0.477 0.477 0.000 0.000
Glasgow 2.118 1.005 1.113 0.000
Leeds¹ 0.213 0.213 0.000 0.000
London 32.401 24.246 8.155 0.000
Manchester¹ 0.789 0.789 0.000 0.000

 35.998 26.730 9.268 0.000

1 Figures for Bristol, Leeds and Manchester exclude general waste as this is managed by 
the respective landlords and Channel 4-specific figures were unavailable at time of 
report submission. 

In addition to the above, we also have a waste stream to manage 
the paper cups used for hot drinks. Paper cups contain an inner 
polyethylene layer to stop the rest of the material from getting 
soggy. Simply Waste ensures that these are sent to a reprocessing 
facility that can separate the plastic film from the paper, thereby 
allowing material recovery and recycling into new paper products. 
Channel 4 sent 408kg of paper cups to Simply Waste for processing 
in 2021. We offer an incentive to our staff to use mugs/reusable 
cups to avoid the use of paper cups; however, as a result of Covid 
safety measures implemented in our offices, usage of paper cups in 
2021 was increased due to removing multi-touch cleaning points 
that would otherwise exist with reusable mugs.

Electrical waste (under the Waste Electrical and Electronic 
Equipment Directive (‘WEEE Directive’)) is managed separately by 
specialist contractors and documentation is provided to certify 
that items have been disposed of in the correct manner. These 
figures are not included in the table above. 

In 2021, building project-related waste across all offices was 36.95 
tonnes, all of which was diverted from landfill.

Water
We have continued to monitor our water consumption in 2021. As 
Covid-19 restrictions eased during periods of 2021 and building 
occupancy increased, water consumption of our London office was 
up 48% on 2020 figures, however down 43% compared to 2019 and 
pre-Covid-19 levels. Although demand-led, Channel 4 is 
committed to ensuring water consumption is kept to a minimum and 
will continue to ensure it remains as efficient as possible.
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Business travel 
We use virtual meetings as much as possible and only travel if there 
is a business need. Whilst many of our staff worked from home for 
the majority of 2021, we did see travel, particularly domestic, 
increase when restrictions eased. In line with our policy per the 
2020 Sustainability Roadmap, 2021 business travel emissions will 
be offset with carbon credits verified in accordance with Verified 
Carbon Standards and Climate, Community and Biodiversity 
Standards. 

Looking forward, we’ll avoid taking flights within the UK where 
possible and offset journeys that are deemed business critical. 
Subject to Covid-19, safety measures or disability requirements, 
local business travel will be by public transport rather than taxi 
where possible. This approach has been communicated to all 
employees. 

Who we work with – our suppliers
As a publisher-broadcaster which commissions all its programming 
from the independent production industry, a large portion of our 
Scope 3 emissions come from the production of programmes aired 
on our channels. Channel 4 requires all productions to use the 
‘albert’ calculator (see further detail below) to measure their 
carbon footprint and, from 1 March 2022, will expect all production 
companies to obtain ‘albert’ sustainable production certification to 
additionally offset their emissions. 

‘albert’
‘albert’ is a BAFTA-owned and industry-backed organisation 
supporting the film and TV industry to understand the opportunity 
and create positive environmental change by: 
1. Enabling every part of the screen industry to eliminate waste and 
carbon emissions from production 
2. Empowering the industry to create content strategies that 
support a vision for a sustainable future 

albert provides tools and training to all screen industry 
professionals to help identify and act upon opportunities on and off 
screen which can lead to effective climate action. Channel 4 is an 
active member of the albert Directorate, Consortium and working 
groups. 

To gain a better understanding of emissions with upstream and 
downstream suppliers, we will be asking priority suppliers to 
disclose their carbon data. This primary data will help build a more 
accurate picture of key industries and partners to collaborate on 
reductions. 

Case	study	–	Fruitful	Office
Between October and December 2021, 456 trees were planted by 
our fruit supplier in conjunction with UK charity Ripple Africa (one 
tree for every fruit basket purchased). Ripple Africa carries out 
large-scale environmental projects as well as small-scale initiatives 
in the fields of education and health. They inspire and empower 
communities to achieve a sustainable future. With this tree-planting 
campaign, our fruit supplier is working together to help mitigate the 
effects of deforestation and offset CO2 emissions. This project is 
one of the largest and most successful tree-planting projects in 
Malawi and provides a long-term solution to combat deforestation 
in Africa.

What we showcase – our content
As a broadcaster we know we can inspire change through our 
content, raise awareness of the importance of climate change and 
promote behaviours that can have a positive impact on our planet. 
Our commissioning teams seek to incorporate sustainability 
matters into a wide range of content as well as dedicated ‘green’ 
programming. In 2021, Channel 4 broadcast its ‘Climate Matters’ 
season ahead of COP26; this collection of entertaining and 
irreverent programming included Arctic Drift: A Year in the Ice, 
Celebrity Trash Monsters, How We Forgot To Save the Planet and 
Joe Lycett vs The Oil Giant. These have added to the permanent 
collection on All 4 of sustainability-focused programming. 

In an industry first, Channel 4 and 11 other broadcasters and 
streamers signed up to The Climate Content Pledge. Collectively, 
we represent over 70% of time UK audiences spend watching TV 
and film and are committing to using our content to help audiences 
understand what tackling climate change might mean for them, as 
well as inspiring and informing sustainable choices.

As members of the screen industry, we have a crucial responsibility 
to help our audiences engage with these challenges. Therefore, we 
commit to the following principles:
– We will reach more of our audiences with content that helps 

everyone understand and navigate the path to net zero, and 
inspires them to make greener choices

– We will develop processes that help us to consider climate 
themes when we are commissioning, developing and producing 
content

– We will ensure that our efforts are informed by the science
– We will recognise the importance of fair and balanced 

representations of visions for a sustainable future
– We will work together: learning from and inspiring each other, 

sharing relevant industry and audience insights and developing 
relevant metrics, improving how we measure our impact

– We will communicate regularly with our colleagues, partners and 
audiences so that we can all play our part in meeting this shared 
challenge

These overarching principles are the foundation of our commitment 
– in addition, we will develop and publish our own ‘company-
specific commitment’. We’ll revisit this every year, to review 
progress against our plans and challenge ourselves and each other 
to do more.

During COP26, Channel 4 collaborated with BAFTA ‘albert’ and UK 
broadcasters on a series of live events, demonstrating the unique 
power of television in raising awareness of climate change across 
its genres – from News and Factual to Sport and the Soaps. A total 
of seven panel events took place as part of the official COP26 
Green Zone programme and on the fringe of the global climate 
conference. These showcased the collective work of UK 
broadcasters over the past decade in reducing our environmental 
impact and producing content addressing the climate challenges 
we face. 
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How we do business – our partnerships and investments
Our partnerships and investments provide an important opportunity to ensure our values and commitments to the environment are 
integrated into our wider business activities, including Channel 4 Ventures, the Indie Growth Fund and our own pension funds. Channel 4 
are active members of the Ad Net Zero Steering Group, committed to its aims to reduce the carbon impact of developing, producing and 
running advertising to real net zero by the end of 2030 and commit to make practical changes in the way advertising operations are run. 

We take environmental credentials into account when investing in Indie Growth Fund companies and require all of the Fund’s investees to 
have, or be working towards, ‘albert’ accreditation. We also consider the sustainability credentials of all proposed investee companies 
when making investment decisions. During 2021, Channel 4 Ventures made its first specifically climate-focused investment in Clim8 Invest 
– an investment platform for consumers to make a positive impact on climate change. From 1 January 2022, all new joiners will be in an ESG 
integrated pension fund; existing employees will be given the opportunity to switch their investments to an ESG fund during 2022.

Case study – TENZING
In 2021, the extended partnership between Channel 4 and soft drink brand TENZING set a new precedent for delivering on commercial and 
sustainability values. The pioneering initiative saw TENZING plant 4,000 trees in their forest with their partners Ecologi, Future Forest 
Company and Protect Earth, on behalf of Channel 4. Half the trees were planted in Scotland and half in the South West of England, 
reflecting our Nations and Regions focus. TENZING also made our 250-person 4Sales team carbon neutral by offsetting the average yearly 
carbon footprint of a person in the UK (8.4t of CO2e per person per year). This gold standard offsetting project, delivered through Ecologi, 
funded a wind energy project in the state of Karnataka in India, near to where TENZING farm their green coffee beans, installing ten wind 
turbines which will generate 47,829 MWh of clean, renewable energy each year.

Climate-related Financial Disclosures
Channel 4 recognises the scale of the climate emergency, the risk it poses to the business and the need to integrate mitigating actions into 
all areas of our operations. Reporting aligned with the requirements of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (‘TCFD’) is 
expected to become mandatory for Channel 4 for the year ended 31 December 2023. However, given the importance of this area, Channel 4 
aims to evolve its climate-related disclosures ahead of that deadline, with our progress to date and planned action outlined below.

Roadmap to TCFD
Progress to date

Governance 
disclose the organisation’s 
governance around climate-
related risks and opportunities

Strategy 
disclose the actual and 
potential impacts of climate-
related risks and opportunities 
on the organisation’s business, 
strategy and financial planning

Risk management 
disclose how the organisation 
identifies, assesses and manages 
climate-related risks

Metrics and targets
disclose the metrics and 
targets used to assess and 
manage relevant climate-related 
risks and opportunities

– Sustainability updates 
reported to Board and 
Executive team during 2021

– Sustainability Roadmap 
steering group established

– Responsibility delegated 
to an appointed member 
of the Executive team, with 
a dedicated Sustainability 
Manager in place

– Roadmap supported by 
departments across 
the channel

– Sustainability Roadmap 
launched in 2020 to 
formalise our strategy, 
which is reviewed annually 

– Signed up to industry 
Climate Content Pledge, 
embedding sustainability 
into commissioning activity

– Agreed new ESG-compliant 
revolving credit facility 
coming into effect in 2023

– Channel 4’s approach to 
sustainability is identified 
and monitored as one of our 
principal risks – with a 
particular focus at present 
on meeting stakeholder 
expectations, for which a 
range of mitigating activities 
are in place (see Risk 
Management on page 161)

– Enterprise-level climate risk 
incorporated into main 
Enterprise Risk 
Management process, with 
regular updates presented 
to Audit & Risk Committee

– Commitment made in 2020 
to becoming carbon net zero 
with a pathway to achieving 
this by 2030

– Emissions targets drafted for 
external approval under the 
Science-Based Targets 
initiative

– Scope 1 emissions monitored 
and disclosed on page 161

– ‘albert’ calculator in use 
on all productions

– Detailed assessment of our 
supply chain underway to 
facilitate Scope 3 reporting
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Planned for 2022 and 2023

Governance Strategy Risk management Metrics and targets

– Launch of dedicated 
TCFD steering group

– TCFD and other sustainability 
workstreams to be monitored 
as part of wider project 
governance framework

– Updates to Audit & Risk 
Committee on roadmap 
to full disclosure

– Embed climate risk 
and resilience into our 
regular financial planning 
processes and business 
decision making

– Expand our existing 
risk analysis to focus on 
quantitative, rather than 
just qualitative, risk

– Formalise targets through 
work with Science-Based 
Targets initiative

– Implement supplier 
sustainability assessments 
and monitoring 

– Additional Scope 3 emissions 
to be disclosed from 2022

As stated on page 173, the Group voluntarily reports in line with the Financial Conduct Authority’s Listing Rules where applicable as a 
Statutory Corporation, and discloses any departures from this approach. Alignment with TCFD for premium listed companies came into 
force under the Listing Rules for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2021. We have opted not to adopt the guidance applicable 
to premium listed businesses in full at this stage while Channel 4’s reporting around climate risk is still evolving, but have plans in place to 
provide expanded disclosure in our 2022 Annual Report ahead of mandatory alignment in 2023.
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Risk management

How we  
manage risk

The Board is accountable for 
identifying the principal risks facing the 
Corporation, including those with the 
potential to impact the execution of 
our strategy, performance of day-to-
day operations, the delivery of our 
remit and the maintenance of 
our brand and reputation. On behalf 
of the Board, the Audit 
& Risk Committee monitors 
the effectiveness of the 
risk management process, 
as illustrated overleaf.

The pursuit of new opportunities is essential to the delivery of our 
strategic objectives and to fulfilling our remit. Effective 
risk management is about striking the right balance between 
risk and opportunity; making risk-informed decisions is something 
we do every day. We have a high appetite for creative risk-taking, 
which could give rise to controversial content. However, this is 
balanced by a very low appetite for compliance risk, and low 
appetite for operational risk. This is reflected in our governance 
framework, which comprises policies, procedures, defined roles 
and responsibilities and monitoring.

The principal risks to our business are discussed regularly by our 
Executive management team and relevant topics are included on 
the agenda of Board and committee meetings throughout the year. 
Business Assurance provides updates to the Audit & Risk 
Committee at each meeting and annually to the Board. Through 
these discussions, consideration is given to whether the mitigating 
activities in place are sufficient to manage the risks within Channel 
4’s risk tolerance.

Covid-19 remained a significant area of focus throughout 2021. In 
our content supply chain, Covid-19 filming protocols remained 
materially unchanged despite the loosening of restrictions in 
everyday life as the year progressed. Elsewhere in our business, we 
saw a re-introduction of a number of control measures in the latter 
stages of the year following the emergence and rapid spread of the 
Omicron variant. We responded quickly and our business 
operations proved resilient as we continued to follow 
risk mitigations implemented earlier in the pandemic, prioritising 
the health and wellbeing of our people. 

The advertising sales market also proved to be resilient to the 
impacts of Covid-19, with advertisers recognising the value of 
brand advertising, including a number who were new to television. 

During 2021, and into 2022, we increased our focus on emerging 
risks, identified through monitoring external and internal news, 
events and developments. We also explored the interconnectivity 
between our risks (see page 163). While living and working with 
Covid-19 became the ‘new normal’, a number of other risks 
emerged or became more prominent during 2021. 

In July, the government launched a public consultation into the 
future ownership of Channel 4, increasing our focus on potential 
risks, opportunities and uncertainties in relation to government 
policy and the ongoing media regulation reviews. We engaged fully 
in this consultation. In April 2022, the Government published a 
White Paper in which it set out its intention to proceed with a 
change of ownership for Channel 4. This inevitably has implications 
for our business in terms of risks and opportunities. We continue to 
engage with government and to focus on the delivery of our remit.

We were dramatically impacted by a significant failure at one of our 
key technology suppliers, Red Bee Media, in September which 
caused major disruption to our linear channels, VoD platforms and 
access services. This event has redoubled our focus on the risks 
around our partners’ business resilience and our own disaster 
recovery and we have a significant programme around this in 2022, 
working alongside third-party experts. 

Whilst the importance of environmental sustainability was already 
recognised within our key risks, 2021 saw a shift change in the 
national climate agenda with the announcement of new regulatory 
requirements for climate-related financial disclosures, as well as 
media companies collectively committing to the Climate Content 
Pledge at COP26. As stakeholder expectations grow, our 
sustainability strategy has become even more important. 

We also continued to strengthen our cyber risk mitigations in 
response to the perpetual evolution of cyber threats and the 
current global political situation, and to further develop our 
programme management capabilities to help us manage risks 
associated with the successful delivery of our Future4 strategy. 

The risk environment in which we operate is continuously 
developing. Following a full refresh of our key risks in 2020, in 2021 
we continued to monitor our risk profile, challenging our 
understanding of key risks and engaging with stakeholders to 
ensure that the management of evolving risks, such as cyber and 
environmental sustainability, keeps pace. We broadened the scope 
of two risks to better reflect the threat facing our business both now 
and looking ahead. In recent years, our financial risk focus has been 
on the potential for economic uncertainty to negatively impact 
advertising revenues. With inflation having risen in recent months 
and a global political crisis with regard to Russia’s invasion of 
Ukraine, a wider set of economic considerations may now impact 
our financial outlook. We have also taken learnings from the 
disruption to our TV broadcast and VoD services in the latter part of 
2021, broadening our consideration of business disruption risk to 
incorporate a wider set of business-critical processes.

Changes to our key risks have been reviewed and approved by 
Executive management, the Audit & Risk Committee and the Board.



157

The Board

• Risk management leadership
• Sets strategic objectives and risk appetite
• Accountable for maintaining sound risk management 

and internal control systems
• Monitors performance

Delegates 
responsibility

Audit & Risk Committee
• Delegated responsibility from the Board to oversee risk management 

and internal controls
• Reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and 

risk management processes
• Monitors the role and effectiveness of Business Assurance and 

the external auditor, and their independence

Reports four 
times annually 
to the Audit & 

Risk Committee

Executive Members
• Delegated responsibility from 

the Board for the operation of 
systems of risk management 
and internal control

• Support and help assess risk
• Encourage open communication 

on risk matters
• Monitor performance
• Assess materiality of risks in 

context of the Group as a whole
• Monitor controls and 

mitigating activities
• Facilitate sharing of 

risk management information and 
best practices across the Group

Executive Team Committees
• Comprised of commercial, 

operational and creative 
Executive team committees

• Define risk management 
roles at operational and 
project levels

• Use risk as an explicit part 
of decision-making and 
management of external 
relationships

• Continuous risk identification, 
self-assessment and 
assurance

Communicate and disseminate risk management policies

Business Assurance
• Independently reviews 

the effectiveness of the 
Group’s risk management 
and internal control 
processes

• Monitors and validates 
actions taken by 
management

Reviews the output of these groups 
and reports back to the Audit & 
Risk Committee

Risk management  
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1 The purpose, vision and strategic pillars set out in our Future4 strategy 
are outlined on pages 20 and 21

Risks and uncertainties 

Risk and potential impact

Link to purpose, 
vision and  
strategic pillars Mitigating activities

Risk 
movement

Strategic risks

1. Content and audiences
There is a risk that we don’t deliver to audiences the 
relevant, engaging and diverse content they want to 
watch, in the places they want to watch it.

Competition for high-quality content and talent that is 
representative of the whole of the UK remains high, from 
both traditional broadcasters and new digital entrants. 
There is a risk that price inflation impacts our ability to 
secure the best content, or that the decision to proceed 
with a change of ownership for Channel 4 impacts our 
competitiveness. There is also a risk that we don’t 
understand our audiences sufficiently to ensure that our 
content remains relevant. (While Covid-19 continues to 
have some influence on our supply chain, including the 
cost of maintaining filming protocols, we expect that 
this will unwind over time.)

Against the backdrop of digital disruption, there is a 
risk that we don’t adapt our digital, social and distribution 
solutions with the pace and scale required to compensate 
for the decline in linear viewing, including investment in our 
VoD platform. If this were to occur, we may fail to achieve 
total ‘time spent’ (including streaming, linear SOCI and 
social engagement) of sufficient scale for Channel 4 to 
remain relevant in the face of competition.

As this competition continues to increase, failure to market 
our brand and content – in all the places it is available – to 
the right audiences, via the right platforms, in a way that 
makes a connection, or to maintain prominence (see 
also Risk 5), could result in the underperformance of 
our content. 

In film, the Covid-19 pandemic instigated what appears to 
be a permanent shift away from the traditional ‘theatrical 
first’ distribution model. There is a risk that we fail to 
maximise audience reach (and associated returns) under 
new distribution models (such as earlier release via 
streaming services), or to leverage new opportunities.

• Good progress made against our target to double All 4 
viewing by 2025, see p20

• Continue to evolve how we commission, schedule, 
plan and develop programmes, and how we sell and 
market them, to be more viewer-centric and digital 
first 

• Continue to invest more in youth-skewing content to 
drive digital viewing, using deeper audience insights 
to find shows that drive streaming

• Global Format Fund in place to invest in new content 
formats with global potential

• Covid filming protocols in place as required at 
independent production companies to allow filming to 
continue safely during the pandemic

• Development of marketing initiatives, such as 
Altogether Different, to highlight our unique public 
service remit and strengthen brand recognition 

• Audience segmentation approach in place and ‘4’ 
rebrand in progress

• Enhance data capabilities by developing and 
implementing an organisation-wide data strategy 
and roadmap

• Further develop personalisation features on All 4, 
including smarter recommendations

• Scale up 4Studio to produce more original shorts and 
grow branded digital entertainment

• Build on current partnership network and forge new 
arrangements to reach the right audiences

2. Maintaining editorial standards
While challenging with purpose, innovation and risk-taking 
are central to our vision, culture and values, we take very 
seriously the need to uphold our editorial standards. A 
breakdown in those standards, for example relating to 
impartiality in news, a failure of contributor care or a 
breach of viewer trust, could be severely damaging to 
Channel 4’s reputation and could result in significant 
penalties.

• Established legal and compliance framework in place, 
including policies, procedures, training and 
monitoring, with an online training module accessible 
to independent producers and freelancers

• ‘Referral up’ process in place to manage decisions in 
relation to editorial standards

• Proactive engagement with consultations by 
independent bodies relating to editorial standards 
and codes of practice 

• Production companies required to adhere to our 
robust contributor care standards on all 
relevant productions

Viewers

Content

Commercial

Partnerships

Strategic pillars Key1

Create change 
through 
entertainment

Purpose

Challenge with purpose

Represent unheard voices

Reinvent entertainment

Vision pillars

Risk management  
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Risk and potential impact

Link to purpose, 
vision and  
strategic pillars Mitigating activities

Risk 
movement

3. Our relationship with the independent 
production community
In line with our remit, we provide high-quality programming 
that is innovative, experimental and creative, that appeals 
to the tastes and interests of a culturally diverse society, 
and that exhibits a distinctive character. In supporting 
creative talent, we place particular focus on people at the 
beginning of their careers and those making innovative 
content and films. We also need to make commercially 
successful content to fund our activities. There is a risk that 
we don’t deliver enough of each and that, due to the limited 
financial resources available to us, we can’t fund everything 
we would want to or move fast enough in support of the 
creative community. There is also a risk that, over time, the 
decision to change Channel 4’s ownership impacts our 
ability to effectively support creative talent.

Achievement of our Nations and Regions commissioning 
targets may not be sustained if the work we do to help 
develop experienced independent production companies 
outside of London is insufficient or ineffective, or if we 
don’t continue to drive our Nations and Regions agenda 
in support of ‘levelling-up’.

There is a risk that the welfare of people working on 
productions for Channel 4 might not always be properly 
considered and supported.

• Initiatives in place to support new and diverse talent, 
such as the Diverse Indies Fund 

• Black to Front Project aired in September 2021, with 
further commitments in place to drive lasting change 

• Introductory guides published to support indies when 
hiring, including and progressing disabled employees 
and freelancers

• Annual Indie Survey undertaken, with latest survey 
showing an improvement in independent production 
companies’ experience of working with Channel 4 

• Indie Growth Fund focused on investing in companies 
in the Nations and Regions as well as digital and 
diverse businesses across the UK

• Tracking of Nations and Regions commissioning spend

• Greater commissioning decision-making authority 
based in our regional commissioning teams

• 4Skills training and development strategy 
supercharged to create over 15,000 opportunities 
nationwide, with a particular focus on young people 
from disadvantaged socio-economic backgrounds

• Production companies producing content for 
Channel 4 are required to comply with all applicable 
legislation. In addition, our Supplier Code of Conduct 
sets out minimum standards of behaviour for all those 
carrying out work for us, and companies are expected 
to have in place systems to enforce compliance with 
this. Contact details of our ‘Speak Up’ facility (or an 
equivalent) must be included by production companies 
on daily call sheets, providing an escalation route 
through which to report concerns of wrongdoing

4. Financial outlook, including revenue
With the majority of our income generated from advertising 
sales, future changes to the advertising market may impact 
our ability to sustain revenues.

Although the advertising sales market has shown resilience 
following Covid-19 lockdowns, it remains the case that 
economic uncertainty could drive a decline in consumer 
and business confidence, leading to a reduction in 
advertising spend. Such uncertainty may be caused by the 
global political situation, including Russia’s invasion of 
Ukraine. Our financial outlook is also influenced by high 
inflation in the UK economy, which is expected to drive 
increases in our cost base in areas such as salaries, content 
and operating expenses.

Looking beyond macroeconomic factors, structural change 
in the advertising market continues, driven by changing 
viewer habits from linear to digital, particularly amongst 
young audiences, with an increasingly competitive 
landscape developing for digital advertising products. 
There is a risk that we don’t innovate or evolve our 
advertising products with the pace and scale required to 
compete and to offset the anticipated linear revenue 
declines, or that we don’t leverage the opportunities 
available to us to generate new revenues.

There is also a risk that adverse regulatory change 
(e.g. planned introduction of HFSS food advertising 
restrictions and new restrictions on gambling advertising) 
could trigger acute falls in the total value of the linear TV 
and digital advertising market, impacting Channel 4’s 
revenue generation.

• On track for digital advertising to be at least 30% of 
total revenue and non-advertising to be at least 10% of 
total revenue by 2025, see page 20 

• Continue to innovate core advertising proposition 
through data-driven targeting, including promoting 
and leveraging our ‘bring your own data’ BrandMatch 
offer 

• Continue to provide innovative creative opportunities 
for clients including ad-break takeovers, such as the 
Google/Taskmaster campaign, and branded social 
content, such as our project with Parisian fashion 
house Balmain during London Fashion Week

• Scale our ad-free All 4+ proposition, Indie Growth 
Fund, Channel 4 Ventures and Global Format Fund 
further to deliver our target of 10% of total revenues 
from non-advertising by 2025

• Continue to engage in industry forums and relevant 
consultations on the evolution of advertising 
regulation 

• Routine monitoring and management of cash, 
investments and operating costs enabling us to 
respond to economic trends

• Five-year revolving credit facility in place, renewed in 
March 2022

• Forecasting and financial monitoring processes and 
controls in place to ensure optimal management of 
P&L and cash position throughout the year, 
ensuring viability

See also our Viability Statement on page 165.

Risk management  
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Risk and potential impact

Link to purpose, 
vision and  
strategic pillars Mitigating activities

Risk 
movement

5. Government policy, media regulation and 
business environment
Our public service remit is agreed by Parliament and 
enshrined in legislation. Changes to government policy 
and media regulation can present both risks and 
opportunities to Channel 4. 

The decision to proceed with a change of ownership for the 
channel will inevitably have an impact on our business; 
existing risks may be amplified or new risks may emerge, all 
of which must be managed as we continue to deliver on our 
remit.

The government has announced its proposal to make wider 
changes to media sector regulation, including the role of 
PSBs and their governance, incorporating prominence 
rules. 

Changes to prominence rules present an opportunity, but 
there is also a risk that they do not do enough to adapt to 
the trend in digital media consumption. The current 
framework addresses PSB prominence for linear TV within 
the Electronic Programme Guide (‘EPG’) but does not 
ensure prominent display of the EPG itself on digital 
devices, nor does it consider video-on-demand players or 
other evolving digital technologies. The discoverability of 
our channels is key to the delivery of our remit and the 
generation of revenues. 

PSB regulation may also be impacted by post-Brexit trade 
deals with other countries, should the Audio-Visual sector 
be included.

• Engaged closely with the government’s public 
consultation on the future ownership of Channel 4

• Continued engagement with government following the 
decision to proceed with a change of ownership for 
Channel 4 and other changes to media regulation

• Maintaining effective relations and communications 
with government

6. People, inclusion and organisational capability
The environment within which we operate is competitive 
and continually evolving. There is a risk that we don’t 
adapt the skills profile of our workforce to align with the 
priorities set out in our Future4 strategy (particularly 
digital capabilities) and that it doesn’t keep pace over time. 
If our employer brand loses appeal, for example as a result 
of the decision to proceed with a change of ownership for 
the channel, or we fail to invest in and develop the right 
people at the right time, we may struggle to attract and/or 
retain talent in an increasingly competitive marketplace 
that includes global digital players.

To successfully deliver on our remit to represent a culturally 
diverse society, we need diversity of thought within the 
organisation. If we do not truly embed inclusion within 
our working practices, including our commitment to 
anti-racism, we may fail to attract, motivate and retain 
a diverse workforce that will best support Channel 4 
in its creative ambitions.

• Ongoing consideration of organisational capability, 
with a focus on leadership effectiveness and 
digital skills

• New performance management process in place, 
with greater focus on targets and alignment with 
our Future4 strategy

• Talent acquisition and retention considered by the 
Remuneration Committee when overseeing our 
pay and bonus strategy

• Talent development programmes in place

• Development of detailed succession plans for key 
roles to be expanded during 2022

• Inclusion initiatives in place including the 4Inclusion 
Career Development Programme

• Regular monitoring of workforce diversity data 
against targets

7. Business transformation
To realise our Future4 strategy we continue to 
deliver against our multi-year business transformation 
programme, which is complex, interdependent and 
incorporates significant technology change. As with any 
large-scale transformation programme, there is execution 
risk. We may underestimate the complexity or cost of the 
work required, or we may lack the capability required to 
deliver the programme. As a result, the programme may 
fail to deliver the anticipated benefits within the planned 
timeframe, or the cost of doing so may exceed our 
expectations. This could impact our ability to compete 
in the digital space and to drive new revenues which, in 
turn, may impact the sustainability of our business.

• Programme governance framework in place, 
facilitated through our Enterprise Programme 
Management Office, including regular review of 
progress, costs, dependencies and risks

• Mechanism in place to identify and scope initiatives, 
enabling allocation of appropriate resource and 
support

• Strengthened programme management resource 
within the business, supported by tools and processes 
to facilitate business transformation delivery. Further 
improvements in progress, including enhancements to 
planning and benefits realisation monitoring

Risk management  
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Risk and potential impact

Link to purpose, 
vision and  
strategic pillars Mitigating activities

Risk 
movement

8. Environmental sustainability
The government has committed that the UK will be 
‘net zero’ on carbon emissions by 2050 and there is a 
responsibility on all businesses to reduce their carbon 
footprint in support of this. The government has also 
enhanced climate-related financial reporting regulations 
to improve the consistency and clarity of environmental 
sustainability disclosures across the UK economy. 

The great majority of our environmental impact is through 
content production, via the hundreds of independent 
producers we work with. 

There is a risk that our approach to environmental 
sustainability, both on and off screen, does not meet 
the increasing expectations of stakeholders, including 
government, regulators, audiences and suppliers, or 
that we lag behind other PSBs and UK broadcasters 
and filmmakers.

• Under the industry-wide Climate Content Pledge, 
we will use our content to help audiences better 
understand climate change and to highlight 
sustainable choices in a fair and balanced way, 
alongside developing processes to help put climate 
at the forefront of content decision making

• All our TV, film, 4Studio and 4Creative productions 
required to use the ‘albert’ sustainability calculator, 
with editorial guidance on how to make productions 
more sustainable provided to producers

• Mandatory ‘albert’ carbon literacy training for all 
employees

• Measures in place to reduce direct emissions, 
including purchasing renewable energy and controls 
over heating and lighting in our offices

• Sustainability credentials considered as part of 
investment decisions for our Indie Growth Fund and 
4 Ventures

• Working with the advertising industry to develop 
environmental sustainability opportunities, including 
participation in the Advertising Association’s Ad Net 
Zero initiative

• Environmental sustainability criteria under 
development to be used in our procurement 
processes for non-content suppliers and service 
providers

• Further development of our sustainability strategy 
and roadmap to support the business in defining 
and delivering against science-based targets and 
satisfying new financial reporting regulations such 
as TCFD

Operational risks

9. Significant disruption to critical business processes
Our critical business processes are supported by complex 
technology chains, involving multiple third parties and 
legacy systems. There is a risk that our key IT systems lack 
resilience and/or that IT disaster recovery plans do not 
meet our business needs or are not adequately tested to 
provide assurance that they would function as expected 
if invoked. There is also a risk that operational business 
continuity plans are not effective for critical business 
processes, or that they are untested. Without robust plans 
in place, our ability to maintain business operations may 
be compromised in the event of a significant incident, 
including our ability to distribute VoD content, broadcast 
linear TV, generate advertising revenue and pay suppliers. 
In turn, this may impact our reputation and our ability to 
deliver against our remit. It may also result in penalties 
and significant remediation costs.

 • Technology governance framework in place, 
including continuous monitoring and incident 
escalation protocols 

• Business continuity and IT disaster recovery plans 
in place, including a backup broadcast location and 
remote working procedures, with insurance cover 
reviewed annually 

• Crisis management structure and framework in place 
with proven effectiveness

• Project in progress to implement new broadcast and 
VoD-related systems and processes, providing 
improved resilience

• Third-party expert review of business resilience 
in progress

Risk management  
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Risk and potential impact

Link to purpose, 
vision and  
strategic pillars Mitigating activities

Risk 
movement

10. Cyber-attack or data breach
With the growth of the digital economy, as well as 
geo-political uncertainty, cyber-attacks are rising globally 
and are becoming ever more sophisticated. Since the 
beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic there has been an 
increase in cyber activity in the world at large, including 
phishing attacks, as cyber-criminals have sought to take 
advantage of the disruption. Ransomware attacks now 
represent the biggest threat to online security for most UK 
businesses, with global incidents soaring over the past two 
years.

At Channel 4 a significant cyber-attack could impact the 
availability and integrity of our systems and data, or the 
confidentiality of our data assets. This could include 
disruption to our customer-facing All 4 VoD platform or 
linear TV broadcast, as well as the operating systems used 
within the business. The delivery of our Future4 strategy 
(which will see our digital footprint grow) further increases 
the importance of cyber security at Channel 4.

There is a risk that we fail to manage personal data in 
accordance with GDPR and other data protection 
legislation.

In the event of a cyber-attack or other data breach, there 
is a risk of regulatory penalties including fines and other 
potentially costly enforcement actions, especially in the 
event of a personal data breach. Such an event may also 
result in reputational damage, including a breach of trust 
from stakeholders including DCMS, viewers and/or 
employees.

 • Established in-house Information Security function, 
supported by third-party specialists

• Cyber security governance framework in place 
including policies, data management and security 
standards, and monitoring procedures that are 
regularly reviewed and updated to prevent and 
detect threats

• Monitoring of cyber risk intelligence, including 
liaison with the National Cyber Security Centre

• Mandatory cyber security training for all staff and 
communications to raise awareness of phishing 
attacks and payment fraud (especially during the 
Covid-19 pandemic)

• Data Governance Forum in place, as well as 
principles governing the use of data across 
Channel 4 (with a focus on viewer data)

• Additional payment controls implemented 
during Covid-19

• Delivery of focused cyber awareness training 
sessions, including ransomware, facilitated by third-
party experts

11. Health, safety and security
A significant physical security or health and safety incident 
could occur, including the risk of a serious accident or an 
act of terrorism resulting in injury or loss of life of 
employees, suppliers and/or visitors to our offices. This 
could result in business interruption, significant 
remediation costs and reputational damage.

While Covid-19 has not gone away, the risk it presents to 
our people is, on the whole, receding. Nevertheless, the 
longer-term impact on mental health and wellbeing 
should not be underestimated.

 • Health and safety policies and procedures in place, 
including risk assessments for high-risk deployments 
and insurance cover reviewed annually

• Ongoing security reviews conducted and monitoring 
of security intelligence

• Crisis management framework and business 
continuity plans and procedures in place

• Ongoing monitoring of Covid-19 government guidance 
with ways of working adapted as and when required

• Wellbeing support in place for our workforce as we 
increase the level of office working following the 
relaxation of Covid-19 restrictions 

The risks listed do not comprise all those associated with Channel 4 and they are not presented in any order of priority. Additional risks 
and uncertainties not presently known to management, or currently assessed as less material, may also adversely affect the Corporation.

Risk management  
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Understanding the relationship between risks, causes 
and consequences
The environment in which our business operates is increasingly 
complex and interconnected through digitisation and globalisation, 
with change moving faster than ever before and competition and 
the decision to proceed with a change of ownership for Channel 4 
bringing uncertainty. Our principal risks are also interconnected. 
Effective management of risk requires this interconnectivity to be 
understood, along with potential underlying causes and 
consequences. It is important that we consider our risks in a holistic 
manner, as mitigating actions taken to manage one risk can have a 
ripple effect on others.

For a number of our key risks, external factors contribute 
significantly to the potential likelihood of them materialising, such 
as competition and the macroeconomic environment. In some 
instances we will be able to reduce this likelihood but, where this 
isn’t possible, our mitigating activities will focus on minimising the 
impact on Channel 4 should that risk occur. In determining what 
mitigating actions to take, understanding our tolerance for 
risk exposure is also key. Where our tolerance is low, we will again 
focus our attention on reducing the likelihood of the risk arising (for 
example, to reduce the likelihood that we experience a failure in 
editorial standards).

During 2021 we increased our emphasis on risk connectivity, and 
we plan to develop this further in 2022, along with more in-depth 
reviews of causes, consequences and tolerance. The graphic on 
page 164 provides an illustration of how some of our key risks are 
connected to one another, as well as how external factors play a 
role:

External factors:
– Competition within the media industry may create challenges for 

us in securing high-quality content that our audiences want to 
watch (Risk 1), or in recruiting and retaining the best talent 
(Risk 6), as we compete with both traditional broadcasters and 
global digital players. We may also face competition as we strive 
to increase our digital advertising presence, a key driver in 
mitigating the decline in linear revenues (Risk 4).

– The continual evolution of the macroeconomic environment will 
necessarily impact our financial outlook (Risk 4). With the UK 
currently facing the highest rate of inflation for a number of 
years, this creates new risks in relation to managing our cost 
base and maximising the return on our cash reserves.

Risk connectivity:
– If we’re to provide audiences with the high-quality content they 

want to watch (Risk 1), deliver on our Future4 strategy (Risk 7), 
and help develop new talent in the external production sector 
(Risk 3) we are dependent on our workforce having the skills 
(including digital), creativity and diversity of thought to do this 
successfully (Risk 6). 

– It is the successful transformation of our business (Risk 7) in a 
rapidly evolving digital world that will allow us to leverage 
opportunities in terms of content and how we reach our 
audiences (Risk 1), gain competitive advantage and ultimately 
allow our business to be sustainable both financially (Risk 4) and 
operationally.

– Being financially sustainable allows us to continue investing in 
creative talent within the independent production community 
(Risk 3) and in high-quality content that is innovative, 
experimental and creative (Risk 1). Successful programming 
creates a cyclical return on investment by driving advertising 
revenues (Risk 4).

Risk management  
(continued)



Strategic ReportChannel Four Annual Report 2021164

Risk 1
Content and  

audiences
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External Factor 2 
Macroeconomic 

environment

Risk 6
People, inclusion 

and organisational 
capability

External Factor 1 
Competition
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Strategic and financial outlook  
and Viability Statement

Strategic and financial outlook for 2022
Our financial strategy requires balance, allowing for continuing 
delivery of our unique public service remit as well as the strategic 
investment in innovation which underpins our Future4 strategy, 
which will allow Channel 4 to remain commercially sustainable into 
the foreseeable future. This must be achieved while maintaining the 
Group’s financial resilience to withstand economic shocks on the 
scale of those experienced during 2020, or a combination of 
significant risks materialising.

A second year running of record results has further reinforced the 
Group’s balance sheet position, supporting our ability to withstand 
future economic risks to the business, as well as giving us the 
capacity for future investment. Reinvestment is framed by the 
Future4 strategy and clear decision-making parameters to ensure 
we appropriately reinvest surpluses as they arise, strengthening our 
position in the coming years.

Our Future4 strategy, announced in late 2020, is centred on 
ensuring that Channel 4 innovates and adapts to remain relevant 
as a destination for the next generation. As a foundation for our 2022 
Budget and latest three-year plan, this strategy translates into 
accelerated investment in digital transformation (to support our 
target to double All 4 views by 2025), as well as scaling up revenue 
diversification. In the context of continuing viewer migration away 
from traditional platforms, a strategic emphasis on driving digital 
growth and diversifying non-advertising revenues ensures we are 
equipped to meet this challenge. Following the Government’s White 
Paper published in April 2022, setting out its intention to proceed 
with the privatisation of Channel 4, management’s focus remains on 
delivering the Future4 strategy and our public service remit.

As part of our 2022 Budget and three-year plan, we have 
considered the impact of several potential downside scenarios. 
These include a decline in the linear and digital advertising market 
beyond what we currently anticipate; a broader market shock in line 
with that experienced in 2020; or lower than expected benefits 
from implementing our Future4 strategy. Even in the most severe 
case considered (deemed plausible but beyond the worst-case 
scenario currently anticipated by management), analysis shows that 
our contingency plans, and our ability to dynamically manage 
spend and cash flows, would mitigate these impacts to ensure we 
retain sufficient liquidity and remain within our covenants.As noted 
in our principal risks on page 160, the Government’s decision to 
proceed with a change of ownership for the Channel may amplify 
existing risks to the business or cause new risks to emerge. We have 
therefore also given specific consideration in our analysis to 
potential financial impacts of this process that may affect the 
Group’s viability.

Our £75 million revolving credit facility increases our available 
liquidity if required, although even in the worst-case scenario 
considered in our analysis this additional funding would not be 
utilised. This facility was renewed in March 2022 and now runs until 
March 2027, ensuring access to this facility is available if required 
across the 12 months from the date of this report under 
consideration in assessing the Group’s position as a going concern.

Our scenario analysis and the resources available to Channel 4 
indicate that the Group will be able to continue to operate for at 
least 12 months from the date that this Annual Report is approved. 
Accordingly, the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing its financial statements – please see further detail on 
page 205. Further to this, the analysis indicates that the Group will 
be able to continue to operate over the horizon covered by the 
current three-year plan to the end of 2024.

Following a successful first year of embedding the Future4 strategy 
in our operations, the Members are confident that the key purpose 
this strategy outlines – of creating change through entertainment – 
allows Channel 4 both to continue delivering its remit and public 
service role, and to build a platform for future financial 
sustainability.

Viability Statement
In accordance with provision 31 of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (the ‘Code’), the Members have assessed 
the prospects of the Group over the three-year period to 
December 2024. This period was selected as this is the normal 
planning horizon in our strategic planning process. 

The Members review the three-year strategy and financial plan 
annually, taking account of the Board’s agreed risk appetite, the 
Corporation strategy, and the remit as mandated by legislation 
and the Ofcom broadcast licence awarded in January 2015. The 
plan makes certain assumptions, including TV advertising market 
growth and our share of that market, and is stress-tested 
annually for adverse market impacts and other principal risks to 
assess their impact on long-term revenues, profitability and cash 
flows. These principal risks include structural declines in the TV 
advertising market as well as broader economic declines, plus 
the risk that benefits anticipated from the implementation of the 
Group’s new strategy are not achieved.

In their overall assessment of the viability of the Group, 
the Members have: 
– reviewed the Group’s strategic objectives and other key 

performance metrics; considered revenue, cost and cash 
flow forecasts and liquidity and financing requirements for 
the next three years, as well as its current financial position 
and cash resources; 

– considered each of the principal risks and uncertainties set 
out on pages 156 to 164 and how they are managed;

– through the Audit & Risk Committee, assessed the Group’s 
risk management framework and considered reports 
summarising Business Assurance work during the year; 

– discussed the sensitivity of the Group’s three-year plan to 
a combination of severe but plausible risks materialising; 

– given specific consideration to potential risks to the 
business presented by the Government’s decision to 
proceed with a change of ownership for Channel 4; and

– reviewed performance updates in the normal course of 
business that underpin the long-term strategy. 

Although this assessment does not consider all of the risks the 
Group may face, the Members confirm that their assessment 
of the principal risks facing the Group was robust. Based on 
the results of their activities around principal risks and viability, 
the Members have a reasonable expectation that the Group will 
be able to continue to operate and meet its liabilities, as they fall 
due, over the three-year period of their assessment.

This report was approved by the Board on 4 May 2022 and 
signed on its behalf by 

Sir Ian Cheshire
Chair
4 May 2022
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The Channel 4 Board

Executive

Alex Mahon
Chief Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
Alex became the first female CEO 
of a major UK broadcaster when she 
joined Channel 4 in October 2017. 
Alex was CEO of global producers 
Shine Group, where she oversaw 
the build-and-buy strategy of 
building up 27 production labels 
over 12 international territories 
and was responsible for all content 
strategy, including the launch of 
global scripted divisions and the 
rollout of formats internationally, 
and then was CEO of Foundry, 
a global software provider. 
Appointment to the Board:
30 October 2017
Term completion:
N/A
Committee membership:
Attends Remuneration and 
Audit & Risk Committee 
meetings but is not a member
Current external appointments
Non-executive director, Chanel Inc.
Member, Creative 
Industries Council 
Previous roles:
Executive

CEO, Foundry
CEO, Shine Group
COO, Talkback Thames
Director of Commercial & 
Strategy, Fremantle Media
Non-executive

Deputy Chairman, Foundry 
Senior Independent 
Director, Ocado plc
Chair, RTS Programme Awards
Appeal Chair, Scar Free Foundation
Chair, Bandstand 
Non-Executive Director, Edinburgh 
International Television Festival

Jonathan Allan
Chief Operating Officer

Responsibilities and skills:
Prior to joining Channel 4, Jonathan 
worked at major London media 
agency OMD UK, joining in 1995 
and progressing to Managing 
Director in January 2007. In this 
role, he defined the agency’s 
future direction and broadened 
its offer, expanding digital 
capability as well as launching 
marketing services, data planning 
and creative functions.
At Channel 4, Jonathan has 
transformed Channel 4 Sales 
into an industry leader in 
delivering commercial innovation 
by working with brands and 
agencies to adapt and evolve 
in the face of unprecedented 
technological advances. 
Jonathan was Channel 4’s 
Chief Commercial Officer until 
January 2020, following which 
he became the Chief Operating 
Officer for Channel 4.
Appointment to the Board:
13 September 2011
Term completion:
N/A
Committee membership:
Attends Remuneration and 
Audit & Risk Committee 
meetings but is not a member
Current external appointments:
Board Member, Advertising 
Association
Panel Member, ASA 
Industry Advisory Panel
Previous roles:
Executive

Managing Director, OMD UK
Deputy Managing Director, OMD UK
TV Director, OMD UK
Non-executive

Board Member, Thinkbox

Ian Katz
Chief Content Officer

Responsibilities and skills:
Ian has overall responsibility 
for the creative output across 
Channel 4, its portfolio of 
channels and All 4. He leads the 
creative commissioning team to 
ensure Channel 4’s unique remit 
to represent the whole country, 
challenge with purpose and 
reinvent entertainment is reflected 
in its programmes and content.
Under his leadership, the channel 
has earned a slew of awards for 
shows including It’s A Sin, End of 
the Fucking World, Help, The Big 
Narstie Show, Stath Lets Flats, 
Jade, For Sama, Brexit: The Uncivil 
War, and Leaving Neverland. 
Ian has a background in both 
broadcast and newspaper 
journalism and digital 
innovation. He was editor of 
the BBC’s flagship daily news 
and current affairs programme 
Newsnight from 2013 to 2017. 
Previously he worked in a wide 
range of writing and editing 
roles at The Guardian, where as 
Deputy Editor and Head of News 
(2008–2013), he oversaw the 
groundbreaking WikiLeaks and 
phone-hacking investigations, 
as well as leading The Guardian’s 
strategy to become a global leader 
on environment coverage. Ian 
was responsible for developing 
The Guardian’s first website 
and played a central role in The 
Guardian’s digital development 
over the subsequent 15 years.
Appointment to the Board:
8 January 2018
Term completion:
N/A
Committee membership:
None
Current external appointments:
None
Previous roles:
Executive

Editor, BBC Newsnight
Deputy Editor and Head of News,  
The Guardian
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Non-Executive

Sir Ian Cheshire
Chair

Responsibilities and skills:
Sir Ian was Group Chief Executive 
of Kingfisher plc from January 2008 
to early 2015. Before that he was 
Chief Executive of B&Q from 2005.
He is currently Chair of Spire 
Healthcare plc, Chair of the 
environmental investment trust 
Menhaden plc, and a non-executive 
director of BT plc. He is also Chair 
of the Prince of Wales Charitable 
Fund, and of the Mental Health 
at Work Leadership Council. 
Sir Ian has also served as Chair 
of Barclays UK, the British Retail 
Consortium, Debenhams plc 
and Maisons Du Monde SA, 
and as Senior Independent 
Director at Whitbread plc.
In public service, he was lead 
non-executive director at the 
Cabinet Office, he has chaired 
the Ecosystem Markets Task 
Force, the Economy Honours 
Committee and currently chairs 
the independent Food Farming 
and Countryside Commission. 
He has won a number of awards, 
including lifetime contributions to 
retailing, green business and the 
Fortune WEF award for leadership 
in the circular economy. 
Sir Ian was knighted in the 2014 
New Year Honours for services 
to business, sustainability 
and the environment and 
is a Chevalier of the Ordre 
National du Merite of France.
Appointment to the Board:
11 April 2022
Term completion:
10 April 2025
Committee membership:
No formal membership, but attends 
Audit & Risk and Remuneration 
Committee meetings
Current external appointments:
Chair, Spire Healthcare plc
Chair, Menhaden plc
Non-Executive Director, BT plc
Chair, Prince of Wales 
Charitable Fund
Chair, Mental Health at Work 
Leadership Council
Previous roles:
Non-executive

Chair, Barclays UK
Chair, British Retail Consortium
Chair, Debenhams plc
Chair, Maisons Du Monde SA
Senior Independent 
Director, Whitbread plc

Charles Gurassa
Former Chair

Responsibilities and skills:
Charles has 40 years’ experience 
in management and senior Board 
roles in industries that have 
seen radical transformation, 
including travel, tourism, 
telecommunications and media. 
He has also been Chairman and 
Non-Executive Director of significant 
commercial and social enterprises 
in many different sectors, 
from heritage and housing to 
environment and culture.
Appointment to the Board:
28 January 2016
Term completion:
27 January 2022
Committee membership:
Ethics Committee
No formal membership, but 
attended Audit & Risk and 
Remuneration Committee meetings 
Current external appointments:
Chair, Great Railway Journeys
Chair, Oxfam
Chair, Migration Museum
Trustee, English Heritage 
Previous roles:
Executive

Executive Chair, TUI 
Northern Europe
Director, TUI AG 
Chief Executive, Thomson 
Travel Group plc
Director, Passenger & Cargo 
business, British Airways
Non-executive

Chair, Genesis Housing 
Association, Virgin Mobile, 
LOVEFiLM, Phones4U, 
MACH, Tragus, Parthenon 
Entertainments, NetNames, 
Alamo/National Rent a Car 
Deputy Chair, easyJet plc
Deputy Chair, The National Trust
Senior Independent Director, 
Merlin Entertainments plc
Non-Executive Director, 
Whitbread plc 
Trustee, Whizz-Kidz 
Member, Development Board 
of the University of York

Lord Chris Holmes MBE
Deputy Chair

Responsibilities and skills:
Lord Holmes is a passionate 
advocate for the potential of 
technology and the benefits of 
diversity and inclusion. He is a 
member of the influential House of 
Lords Select Committee on Science 
and Technology and has previously 
co-authored House of Lords Select 
Committee Reports on Democracy 
and Digital Technologies, 
Intergenerational Fairness, 
Artificial Intelligence, Financial 
Exclusion, Social Mobility and 
Digital Skills. He has published a 
report, “Distributed Ledger 
Technologies for Public Good: 
leadership, collaboration and 
innovation” calling on the 
Government to look at the 
challenges and opportunities of this 
technology for improving public 
services. A progress update was 
published in November 2018. An 
ex-Paralympic swimmer, Chris won 
nine gold, five silvers and one 
bronze medal across four Games, 
including a record haul of six golds 
at Barcelona 1992.
Appointment to the Board:
5 December 2016
Term completion:
10 June 2024
Committee membership:
Remuneration Committee (Chair)
Current external appointments:
Director and sole shareholder, 
CHconserve Ltd
Director and sole shareholder, 
CHedserve Ltd
Co-Chair, APPGs on Assistive 
Technology, FinTech, AI, 
Blockchain and 4IR
Chancellor, BPP University
Advisor, RTGS Global
Advisor, Boston Ltd
Advisory Board Member, Circulor
Previous roles:
Executive

Lawyer, Ashurst
Non-executive

Non-Executive Director, Equality 
and Human Rights Commission
Non-Executive Director, UK Sport 
Member, Select Committees 
on Digital Skills and Social 
Mobility, House of Lords
Director, Paralympic 
Integration at LOCOG

Dawn Airey
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
Dawn’s career includes roles 
as Chair and CEO of Channel 5, 
Managing Director of Channels 
and Services for BSkyB, Managing 
Director of Global Content at 
ITV and Senior Vice-President of 
Europe, Middle East and Africa 
at Yahoo. She is currently Chair 
of the National Youth Theatre, 
Barclays FA Women’s Super League 
and FA Women’s championship. 
Dawn acted as the Group’s Interim 
Chair from January to April 2022. 
Appointment to the Board:
6 December 2021
Term completion:
5 December 2024
Committee membership:
Remuneration Committee
Current external appointments:
Chair, National Youth Theatre
Chair, Barclays FA Women’s 
Super League
Chair, FA Women’s championship
Director, Digital Theatre 
Group Limited
Director, Blackbird plc, 
Director, Grosvenor Limited
Vice President, Royal 
Television Society 
Previous roles:
Executive

CEO, Channel 5
Non-executive

Chair, Channel 5
Non-executive Director, 
Thomas Cook plc
Non-executive Director, Easyjet plc
Board member, The British Library

The Channel 4 Board  
(continued)



168 GovernanceChannel Four Annual Report 2021

Non-Executive

Tess Alps
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
Tess began her career in 
advertising, becoming the Sales 
Director of Yorkshire and Tyne-Tees 
TV, before joining global media 
agency PHD, as its Broadcast 
Director. At PHD, she ran various 
group companies, including those 
specialising in internet advertising, 
sponsorship, and econometrics, 
eventually becoming its UK Chair. 
She left PHD to set up Thinkbox, 
the marketing body for commercial 
television in the UK, spending 14 
years there as its founding CEO 
and latterly as its Chair. Tess is 
currently a Council member of the 
Advertising Standards Authority. 
Appointment to the Board:
6 December 2021
Term completion:
5 December 2024
Committee membership:
Remuneration Committee
Current external appointments:
Council Member, Advertising 
Standards Authority
Fellow, Royal Television Society
Previous roles:
Executive

Sales Director, YTV & TTTV
Director, PHD
Exec Chair, PHD 
CEO, Thinkbox
Non-executive

Chair, Thinkbox

Paul Geddes
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
Paul is the CEO of QA, a digital 
education and skills provider, 
and was previously CEO of Direct 
Line Group, the insurance group 
and home of the Direct Line, 
Churchill, Privilege and Green 
Flag brands. Paul has built brands 
using the power of TV advertising 
throughout his 26-year career.
His marketing career began 
at Proctor & Gamble and then 
retailing, before joining NatWest 
and RBS retail banking and then 
entering general management. 
From 2009 he took over RBS’ 
insurance business and floated 
it as Direct Line Group in 2012.
Paul’s experience of running mass-
market, multi-site and increasingly 
digital consumer businesses in 
competitive and fast-changing 
markets, as well as helping 
organisations with their technical 
training and talent, is a valuable 
addition to the Channel 4 Board.
Appointment to the Board:
5 December 2016
Term completion:
5 December 2022
Committee membership:
Audit & Risk Committee
Current external appointments:
CEO, QA Limited
Director, QA Limited subsidiaries
Previous roles:
Executive

CEO of Direct Line 
Insurance Group plc 
Director, Churchill 
Insurance Company Ltd
Director, DL Insurance Services Ltd
Director, UK Insurance Ltd
CEO, RBS Group mainland 
UK retail banking
Other senior roles in multi-
channel retailing and marketing at 
companies including Kingfisher, 
GUS and Procter & Gamble
Non-executive

Deputy Chairman, Association 
of British Insurers 
Director, Direct Line Group Ltd
Director, Direct Line Insurance Ltd
Director, Indemnity Insurance Ltd
Director, The National Insurance 
& Guarantee Corporate Ltd 
Director, Protection 
Life Company Ltd

Roly Keating
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
Roly brings extensive experience 
of public service broadcasting 
from his work in programme-
making, editorial and senior 
executive roles at the BBC. 
His current role at the British 
Library provides additional 
perspective from another 
cultural organisation within 
the DCMS group.
Appointment to the Board:
5 December 2016
Term completion:
5 December 2022
Committee membership:
Ethics and Remuneration 
Committees
Current external appointments:
Chief Executive, The British Library 
Trustee, The British Library Trust
Trustee, American Trust 
for the British Library
Trustee, The Gilson Trust
Trustee, Friends of the 
National Libraries
Trustee, Clore Leadership 
Programme
Trustee, The Busby Trust
Director, Marine Cottages 
Residents Ltd
Previous roles:
Executive

Director of Archive Content, BBC
Controller, BBC Two and BBC Four
Controller, Arts 
Commissioning, BBC
Head of Programming, UKTV 
Non-executive

Trustee, Turner Contemporary
Board Member, Barbican Centre
Chair, Knowledge 
Quarter London Ltd
Chair, Conference of European 
National Librarians

David Kogan
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
David’s career began in newspapers 
and as a producer at the BBC. He 
was Global Managing Director of 
Reuters Television and went on to 
be founder and CEO of strategy 
and commercial rights negotiator 
Reel Enterprises specialising 
in commercial negotiations 
in media and sport. After he 
sold Reel to the Wasserman 
Media Group he became CEO 
of Magnum Photos and latterly 
the co-founder of the Women’s 
Sports Group. David has written 
two books of political history.
Appointment to the Board:
6 December 2021
Term completion:
5 December 2024
Committee membership:
Audit & Risk Committee
Current external appointments:
Director, Kogan Page Limited
Co-founder, Women’s 
Sports Group Ltd
Director, Labourlist Limited
Director, David Kogan Limited
Previous roles:
Executive

Director, Reuters Television
Director, Reel Enterprises
CEO, Magnum Photos
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Non-Executive

Michael Lynton
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
Michael is currently Chairman 
of Snap Inc, a position he has 
held since 2016 having joined 
Snap’s Board in 2013. He has 
also been Chairman of Warner 
Music Group since 2019.
Previously, Michael served as 
Chairman and CEO of Sony 
Pictures Entertainment Inc from 
2004 until 2017, and additionally 
as CEO of Sony Entertainment 
Inc and Sony Corporation of 
America from 2012 to 2017.
Prior to joining Sony, he has worked 
at The Walt Disney Company – 
where he started Disney Publishing 
and subsequently served as 
President of Disney’s Hollywood 
Pictures; Pearson plc – where he 
was Chairman and CEO of Penguin 
Group; and Time Warner – where he 
was CEO of AOL Europe, President 
of AOL International, and President 
of Time Warner International.
Michael is also currently a member 
of the Board of Regents of the 
Smithsonian, the Council on 
Foreign Relations, the RAND 
Corporation, and serves on the 
Board of Trustees of the Tate.
Appointment to the Board:
25 April 2022
Term completion:
24 April 2025
Committee membership:
None
Current external appointments:
Chairman, Snap Inc.
Chairman, Warner Music
Trustee, Tate
Regent, Smithsonian
Previous roles:
Chairman and CEO, Sony 
Entertainment
President, AOL TimeWarner 
International and CEO, AOL Europe
Chairman and CEO, Penguin 
Publishing Group

Andrew Miller
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
Andrew is Chief Executive of 
Motability Operations plc, a role 
he took up at the end of 2020. 
An accountant by training and a 
leader in digital transformation, 
Andrew has also held senior 
executive positions at a number of 
multinational consumer and media 
groups. These include Food Folk 
Group Holdings – owner of the 
McDonald’s licence for the Nordics 
Scandinavia – Guardian Media 
Group and Autotrader, taking the 
latter from a print magazine to 
a digital platform. Prior to this, 
Andrew held senior finance roles 
at Frito-Lay Europe, Procter & 
Gamble and Bass. He has also 
held Non-Executive Director roles 
and was Audit Chair at the AA plc 
and Ocean Outdoor Media plc.
Appointment to the Board:
1 June 2020
Term completion:
31 May 2023
Committee membership:
Audit Committee (Chair)
Current external appointments:
Chief Executive, Motability 
Operations plc
Previous roles:
Audit Chair, AA plc
Audit Chair, Ocean Outdoor Media
Director, Guardian Media Group plc
Director, Auto Trader 
Holding Limited
Director, Food Folk 
Group Holdings AS
Director, Top Right Group 
(Ascential plc)

Sarah Sands
Non-Executive

Responsibilities and skills:
Sarah’s career spans 35 years in 
news, current affairs and as an 
author. She has held some of the 
most senior editorial positions 
in the industry at the Daily 
Telegraph and Sunday Telegraph, 
Daily Mail, Readers’ Digest, 
London Evening Standard and 
the BBC’s Today programme.
Appointment to the Board:
6 December 2021
Term completion:
5 December 2024
Committee membership:
Ethics Committee
Current external appointments:
Non-executive director, 
Berkeley Group
Trustee, Index on Censorship
Non-executive director, 
London First
Board director, Hawthorn Advisors
Previous roles:
Executive

Editor, BBC Radio 4 Today 
Editor, London Evening Standard
Editor, Sunday Telegraph
Deputy Editor, Daily Telegraph

Althea Efunshile CBE
Non-Executive (former)

Responsibilities and skills:
Althea brings 35 years’ experience 
of senior strategic leadership and 
management within the public 
sector. She has been a local 
authority Director of Education; 
a senior civil servant within the 
Department for Education; and 
Deputy Chief Executive of Arts 
Council England. She has been 
Chair and Non-Executive Director 
of a range of public bodies spanning 
the arts, health, further and higher 
education, and housing. She has a 
passion for diversity and inclusion, 
and while on the Channel 4 Board 
contributed to the Channel’s 
efforts to strengthen the diversity 
of its audiences, programming 
and internal organisation. 
Appointment to the Board:
January 2018
Term completion:
December 2021
Committee membership:
Audit Committee
Current external appointments:
Chair, Metropolitan 
Thames Valley Housing
Chair, Ballet Black
Non-Executive Director, 
University College London 
NHS Foundation Trust
Previous roles:
Executive

Deputy Chief Executive, 
Arts Council
Director level Senior Civil Servant, 
Department for Education
Executive Director for 
Education and Culture, London 
Borough of Lewisham
Non-executive

Chair, National College 
Creative Industries
Non-Executive Director, 
Goldsmiths College 
(University of London)
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Non-Executive

Uzma Hasan
Non-Executive (former)

Responsibilities and skills:
Uzma is a multi-award-winning film 
producer and industry consultant 
with a global track record in the 
development, production and 
exploitation of feature films. She 
has pivoted from international 
executive to start-up owner and 
has worked across four continents 
with studios and independents.
While serving on the Channel 4 
Board her particular focus was 
on embracing the challenges and 
opportunities brought by FAANG 
disruptors, and the ways in which 
cultural output can positively 
shape our society. She credits 
Channel 4-backed My Beautiful 
Laundrette as instrumental in her 
decision to become a filmmaker.
Appointment to the Board:
January 2018
Term completion:
September 2021
Committee membership:
Audit Committee
Current external appointments:
Producer and Co-Founder, 
Little House Productions. Her 
latest feature film, Creature, is a 
collaboration between Academy 
Award winner Asif Kapadia (Amy) 
and Lawrence Olivier Award 
winning choreographer Akram 
Khasn (Desh). She is currently 
developing a musical film with 
BAFTA nominee Ritesh Batra 
as well as the adaptation of 
Gautam Malkani’s cult novel 
Londonstani for the BFI.
Selection Committee, British 
Independent Film Awards 
Juror, British Academy of 
Film and Television Arts
Non-Executive Director, 
Babber Films, Chisel 
Films, Ffilm Cymru
Trustee, Bush Theatre, 
Birds Eye View
Previous roles:
Executive

Executive Producer, Dharam 
Sankat Mein and Flying Paper
Producer, Creature, 
FirstBorn,	The	Infidel
Associate Producer, Tormented
Film Financing Consultant, 
Doha Film Institute
Head of Development, 
Slingshot Studios

Fru Hazlitt
Non-Executive (former)

Responsibilities and skills:
Fru has spent over 25 years 
in the media, entertainment 
and technology sectors with 
a commercial background 
and extensive general 
management experience. 
She has served as a Director of 
Boards – both as an Executive 
and as a Non-Executive Director 
– across a wide variety of high-
profile consumer businesses.
Appointment to the Board:
January 2018
Term completion:
September 2021
Committee membership:
Remuneration Committee
Current external appointments:
Founder CEO, La Piazza Group 
SRL, Colory*.it and GRLS.it
Chair of the Board of Governors, 
Downe House School
Trustee, Merlin’s Magic Wand
Previous roles:
Executive

Managing Director of Commercial, 
Online and Interactive, ITV
Managing Director, GCap Media
Chief Executive, Virgin Radio
Managing Director, Yahoo UK
Non-executive

Director, Betfair
Independent Director, 
Merlin Entertainments

Tom Hooper
Non-Executive (former)

Responsibilities and skills:
In his time on the Channel 4 Board, 
Tom brought three areas of relevant 
responsibilities and skills. Firstly, 
as an Oscar-winning film and 
television drama director he helped 
Channel 4 keep creativity and 
innovation central to its mission as 
a public service broadcaster. Tom 
won the best director Oscar for The 
King’s Speech – in all, his films have 
won a total of eight Oscars. His 
television work has won 22 Emmys 
and ten Golden Globes, including 
Elizabeth I (Best Director Emmy) 
and Longford, both of which he 
directed for Channel 4. Secondly, 
his wide experience of working in 
the Nations and Regions of the UK 
was relevant for Channel 4 moving 
substantial parts of its operation 
out of London. He directed Byker 
Grove in Newcastle, Cold Feet in 
Manchester, The Damned United in 
Leeds, and directed and executive 
produced Philip Pullman’s His 
Dark Materials in Cardiff. Thirdly, 
as a former Governor of the BFI 
and a member of the London 
Coordinating Committee of the 
Directors’ Guild of America, 
he has developed a strong and 
responsible understanding of 
the existential issues facing the 
future of the cinema and public 
service broadcasting today – in 
the age of internet streaming.
Appointment to the Board:
January 2018
Term completion:
December 2021
Committee membership:
None
Previous roles:
Executive

Director of The Damned United, 
The King’s Speech, Les Miserables, 
The Danish Girl and Cats
Non-Executive 

Governor, British Film 
Institute (since 2011)

Stewart Purvis CBE
Non-Executive (former)

Responsibilities and skills:
Stewart has specialisms in TV 
journalism (as former CEO of ITN), 
regulation of broadcast content 
(as a former Ofcom Partner), 
and government relations (as 
a former adviser to DCMS).
Appointment to the Board:
1 September 2013
Term completion:
31 May 2021
Committee membership:
Remuneration Committee
Current external appointments:
Vice President, Royal 
Television Society
Non-Executive Director, 
Brentford Football Club
Chairman, Brentford Community 
Football Society Ltd
Previous roles:
Executive

Chief Executive and 
Editor-in-Chief, ITN
President, EuroNews, Lyon
Editor of Channel 4 News, ITN
Partner, Content and 
Standards, Ofcom
Professor of Television Journalism,  
City University London
Non-executive

Chair, UK Government media  
literacy group 
Adviser to House of Lords Select 
Committee on Communications  
on the governance of the BBC
Independent Chair of multi-
party negotiations to progress 
digital radio in the UK (DCMS)
Member, DCMS Advisory 
Committee on BBC Charter
Visiting Professor of Broadcast 
Media, Oxford University
Trustee, SSVC (registered charity)
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Report of the Members

Introduction
In accordance with the Companies Act 2006, the Corporate 
Governance Report on pages 173 to 180 and the information 
contained in the Strategic Report on pages 140 to 155 form part 
of this Report of the Members and are incorporated by reference. 
The Members have decided to comply with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006 to the extent that these are relevant to 
Channel 4 and its status as a statutory corporation.

The Members present their report and the audited financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021. Details of the 
Executive and Non-Executive Members are disclosed on pages 
166 to 170.

The Chair and Chief Executive present their statements on 
pages 4 to 7 and 8 to 11 respectively. A review of the Group, 
outlining its business model, development and performance 
during the financial year, together with its position at 
31 December 2021 and financial outlook, is provided in the 
Strategic Report on page 165. The Strategic Report also 
outlines the principal risks and uncertainties facing Channel 4, 
and the Group’s sustainability policies including its carbon 
emissions reporting.

The Group’s financial statements are set out on pages 200 to 
230 and Channel 4’s financial statements are set out on pages 
231 to 236.

Legal status
Channel Four Television Corporation (‘Channel 4’) is a statutory 
corporation, without shareholders, established under the terms 
of the Broadcasting Act 1990.

Regulatory environment
Under the regulatory model, Channel 4 receives access to the 
digital spectrum and prominence on the digital terrestrial 
television platform. In return, Channel 4 must fulfil its public 
service remit obligations as set out in the 1990 and 1996 
Broadcasting Acts and as amended by the Communications Act 
2003, the Digital Economy Act 2010 and the ten-year licence 
issued by Ofcom, which came into effect in January 2015. We 
are prohibited by legislation from producing programmes to be 
broadcast on the main Channel 4 service and there is a 
statutory limit of £200 million on the amount of debt the 
Corporation can raise.

Disclosure of information to the auditor
Each of the persons who is a Member at the date of approval of 
this Annual Report confirms that:
– so far as the Member is aware, there is no relevant audit 

information of which the Group’s auditor is unaware; and
– the Member has taken all the steps that he/she ought to 

have taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself 
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the Group’s auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor
Deloitte LLP has been appointed as auditor to Channel 4 with 
the approval of the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media 
and Sport.

Going concern
The Group’s business activities, its future strategy and other  
factors likely to affect its future development and performance,  
the financial position of the Group, its cash flows and Viability 
Statement are set out in the Strategic Report. In addition, note 15 to 
the financial statements includes the Group’s approach to financial 
risk management, including its financial instruments and hedging 
activities and its exposures to liquidity and credit risks. 

As noted on page 165, Channel 4 has delivered a record financial 
result in 2021 for the second year running, further reinforcing its 
balance sheet position and ability to withstand future economic 
risks. Based on specific consideration of the Group’s financial 
position, the current risks facing the Group and scenario analysis 
performed (see page 165) in addition to normal business planning 
and control procedures, the Group has sufficient financial resources 
and the Members believe that the Group is well placed to manage 
its business risks. The Members have a reasonable expectation that 
the Group will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future, and therefore continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the annual financial statements.

Members’ interests
During 2021, Members, in addition to their salaries, benefits and/or 
fees as disclosed on page 187, were interested in the following 
transactions negotiated at arm’s length on normal commercial 
terms with the Group:

Jonathan Allan is a Director of the Advertising Association. During 
2021, Channel 4 paid £117,161 to the Advertising Association. 

Althea Efunshile is Chair of Ballet Black. During 2021, Channel 4 
paid £25,000 to Ballet Black.

Paul Geddes is a Director of QA Limited. During 2021, Channel 4 
paid £24,058 to QA Limited.

Uzma Hasan is a member of the Selection Committee of the British 
Independent Film Awards. During 2021, Channel 4 paid £18,500 to 
the British Independent Film Awards. Uzma Hasan is also a member 
of the jury for the British Academy of Film and Television Arts 
(‘BAFTA’). During 2021, Channel 4 paid £42,335 to BAFTA.

Dawn Airey and Stewart Purvis are Vice Presidents of, and Tess Alps 
a Fellow of, the Royal Television Society. During 2021, Channel 4 
paid £20,464 to the Royal Television Society.

Where the Members have an interest in an advertising or 
sponsorship client of the Group, the amounts paid or payable are 
not disclosed as they are negotiated and transacted via media 
buying agencies. All such transactions are negotiated and 
transacted on an arm’s length basis.

Insurance and indemnities
The Group has qualifying third-party indemnity provisions in place 
for the benefit of the Members which comply with the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2006. 

Employment policy for people with disabilities
Channel 4 is committed to recruiting, developing and retaining 
employees with disabilities. We continue to act as a ‘Disability 
Confident Leader’ as part of a government scheme, offering a 
guaranteed interview to all candidates with a disability who meet 
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the essential criteria for a role. Our initiatives in these areas are 
detailed further on page 148.

Providing information to employees
Employees are provided with information on matters of concern to 
them via presentations by the Executive team in regular all-staff 
meetings, regular e-news updates and through other email 
communication when appropriate. There is also an employee 
representative committee of individuals across the Corporation 
who represent all staff and consult with senior management on 
matters that affect staff.

Employee engagement
Details of the Group’s engagement with its employees are outlined 
on page 177.

Business relationships
Details of the Group’s key business relationships and engagement 
with these stakeholders is outlined on page 176.

Responsibility statement of the Members in respect of the 
annual financial statements
The Members are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 
and the Group’s and the Corporation’s financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations. The 
Corporation is required by its governing legislation (the 
Broadcasting Act 1990) to keep proper accounts and proper 
records in relation to the accounts, and to prepare financial 
statements in respect of each financial year. Under that law, 
the Members have elected to prepare the financial statements 
of the Group in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted by the EU and the 
requirements of Chapter 4 of Part 15 of the Companies Act 
2006, and elected to prepare the financial statements of the 
Corporation in accordance with the Financial Reporting 
Standard (‘FRS’) 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’. 

The Members accept responsibility for approving the financial 
statements only after they are satisfied that, when taken as 
a whole, they are fair, balanced and understandable, and 
provide the information necessary to assess the Corporation’s 
performance, business model and strategy. In preparing 
the parent company financial statements, the Members:
– select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 

consistently;
– make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and 

prudent;
– state whether Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced 

Disclosure Framework’ has been followed, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

– prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Corporation 
will continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial statements, International 
Accounting Standard (‘IAS’) 1 requires that Members:
– properly select and apply accounting policies;
– present information, including accounting policies, in a 

manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and 
understandable information;

– provide additional disclosures when compliance with the 
specific requirements in IFRS are insufficient to enable 
users to understand the impact of particular transactions, 
other events and conditions on the entity’s financial 
position and financial performance; and 

– make an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue  
as a going concern.

The Members have accepted responsibility for keeping proper 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
Group’s and the Corporation’s transactions and to disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position  
of the Group and the Corporation. They have general 
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to 
them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Members have voluntarily decided to prepare a 
Remuneration Report in accordance with Schedule 8 to The 
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008, made under the Companies 
Act 2006, as if those requirements were to apply to the Group 
and the Corporation. 

The Members are responsible for ensuring compliance with the 
requirements of Schedule 9 of the Communications Act 2003, 
as set out on page 179. Following the Digital Economy Act 
2010, revised arrangements, approved by Ofcom, were 
implemented from 15 September 2016. 

The Members are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information included on 
the Corporation’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:
– the financial statements, prepared in accordance with 

the applicable set of accounting standards, give a true  
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
surplus or deficit of the Group and the Corporation and the 
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as 
a whole;

– the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and 
the position of the Group, and the Corporation and the 
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a 
whole, together with a description of the principal risks  
and uncertainties that they face; and

– that the Annual Report, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced 
and understandable and provides the information necessary 
to assess the Corporation’s position, performance, business 
model and strategy in accordance with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code.

This report was approved by the Board on 4 May 2022 and signed 
on its behalf by 

Sir Ian Cheshire
Chair
4 May 2022

Report of the Members  
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Corporate governance

The Board is committed to high standards of corporate 
governance. The Members voluntarily prepare a Corporate 
Governance Statement to demonstrate that they apply the 
principles, where relevant, of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code issued by the Financial Reporting Council (‘FRC’) in 2018, 
and the Disclosure and Transparency Rules and Listing Rules of 
the Financial Conduct Authority. Channel 4’s status as a 
statutory corporation without shareholders means those 
provisions concerning shareholders’ interests are not directly 
applicable. Information required under LR9.8.4R of the Listing 
Rules, where relevant to Channel 4, is disclosed in the Report 
of the Members (page 191) and in the Members’ Remuneration 
Report (pages 185 to 192). The Board considers that it was 
compliant with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code throughout 2021, with the exception of the 
composition of the Remuneration Committee (in regard of which 
it was compliant up to September 2021 and from December 2021 
onwards following new appointments to the Board). The Code 
can be accessed at www.frc.org.uk. 

The Board
Channel Four Television Corporation is controlled through 
its Board of Members. The Board’s main role is to discharge 
Channel 4’s statutory functions and ensure the fulfilment of the 
public service remit in accordance with all applicable laws 
and regulations.

The Board meets at least eight times a year and has a schedule 
of matters reserved for its approval as noted in the table below. 
In addition, as part of its overall responsibility to ensure the 
fulfilment of Channel 4’s statutory duties and functions, the 
Board continues to focus on ensuring the successful delivery 
of Channel 4’s remit and other public service responsibilities. 
Content output and plans for future investment of the content 
budget are regularly discussed as part of the overall Board 
agenda, as are regular updates on audience reactions to 
Channel 4’s content. The Board also approves Channel 4’s 
proposed Statement of Media Content Policy (incorporating 
the Statement of Programme Policy and Review) prior 
to publication.

Board sub-committees
The Board has an established Audit & Risk Committee, 
Remuneration Committee and Ethics Committee to assist with the 
discharge of its functions and has delegated each certain 
responsibilities, as set out below. 

Board nominations
Given its constitution and specific statutory provisions regarding 
the appointment of Members, Channel 4 does not have a formal 
Nominations Committee. Instead, there are formal nominations 
procedures which are described below. 

The following formal nomination procedures are in place:
– Non-Executive Members are appointed for fixed terms by 

Ofcom following consultation with Channel 4’s Chair and the 
approval of the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media  
and Sport

– The Chair is appointed by Ofcom for a fixed term with the 
approval of the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media  
and Sport

– The Deputy Chair is appointed by Ofcom
– The Chief Executive is appointed by the Board
– Other Executive Members are appointed to the Board after 

nomination by the Chief Executive and the Chair acting jointly

We work with Ofcom to ensure that each Board appointment brings 
to the Board the skills and experience that are required to meet 
Channel 4’s needs and contribute to its long-term success.

The division of responsibilities between the Chair of the Board  
and the Chief Executive is clearly defined as described on the 
following page.

The Board

The following matters must be referred to the full Board:

– Channel 4’s annual budget and three-year financial plan and strategy
– The appointment of the Chief Executive
– Confirmation of the appointment of the other Executive Members 

nominated by the Chief Executive and the Chair acting jointly
– Banking arrangements and loan facilities
– Any significant proposal outside the ordinary course of Channel 4’s 

business
– The appointment and reappointment of the statutory auditor
– The audited Annual Report and financial statements

– The establishment, purchase or acquisition of any qualifying 
company and the approval or variation of terms of reference for any 
subsidiary

– Approval of any significant new business investment or programme 
investment

– Significant proposed changes to Channel 4’s headcount
– Such other matters as the Board may from time to time resolve to 

review or decide upon

The Board has delegated certain responsibilities to the sub-committees 
below. 

Audit & Risk Committee
The Audit & Risk Committee is responsible for 
monitoring the integrity of the Corporation’s 
financial statements, reviewing the 
Corporation’s internal control and risk 
management systems and making 
recommendations to the Board in respect of the 
external auditor. The Audit & Risk Committee 
Report is set out on pages 181 to 184.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee oversees all aspects 
of pay for Channel 4, reviewing proposals for the 
annual pay awards and variable pay schemes 
applicable to all staff. It recommends to the Board 
remuneration for the Chief Executive and sets 
remuneration for the rest of the Executive team. The 
Members’ Remuneration Report is set out on page 
185 to 192.

Ethics Committee
The Ethics Committee reviews any conflicts 
of interest that may arise for Channel 4’s 
Board and matters relating to the Code of 
Conduct as may be referred to it by the Chair 
or otherwise and offers advice to the Chair on 
conflicts of interest relating to Non-
Executive Members and/or Executive 
Members.
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The role of the Chair
The Chair is responsible for:
– Leading the Board in setting the values and standards of 

Channel 4
– Maintaining a relationship of trust with and between the 

Executive and Non-Executive Members
– Leadership of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness on all 

aspects of its role, including the setting of the agenda
– Ensuring that all Members receive accurate, timely and clear 

information
– Ensuring that all Members continually update their skills and the 

knowledge and familiarity with Channel 4 required to fulfil their 
role both on the Board and on committees

– Facilitating the effective contribution of Non-Executive 
Members and ensuring constructive relations between 
Executive and Non-Executive Members

– Undertaking an annual evaluation of Board and committee 
performance

Charles Gurassa was appointed Chair for an initial three-year term 
from 28 January 2016 and was subsequently reappointed for a 
further three-year term. He completed his term on the Channel 4 
Board on 27 January 2022, with Dawn Airey acting as Interim Chair 
from that date until 11 April 2022, when Sir Ian Cheshire was 
appointed as Chair for a three-year term. 
 
The role of the Chief Executive 
The role of the Chief Executive is to run the business of Channel 4 
under the delegated authority from the Board, to implement the 
policies and strategy agreed by the Board, and to communicate 
with Ofcom and other key stakeholders. 

During 2021, Alex Mahon continued as Chief Executive. 

Members and Members’ independence
The 2021 Board Members and their skills, experience and 
responsibilities are set out on pages 166 to 170.

The Non-Executive Members constructively challenge and help 
develop proposals on strategy, and bring strong, independent 
judgement, knowledge and experience to the Board’s 
deliberations. The Non-Executive Members are of sufficient  
calibre and number that their views carry significant weight in  
the Board’s decision making. Lord Chris Holmes acts as Senior 
Independent Director, providing a sounding board for the chair and 
serving as an intermediary for the other Members. The Members are 
given access to independent professional advice at the Group’s 
expense when the Members deem it is necessary in order for them 
to carry out their responsibilities. 

Details of professional commitments for Charles Gurassa (as Chair 
throughout 2021), Dawn Airey (as Interim Chair from January to April 
2022), and Sir Ian Cheshire (as Chair from April 2022) are included 
in their biographies. These do not adversely affect their roles with 
Channel 4.

The Board considers all its Non-Executive Members to be 
independent in character and judgement. At the time of this report, 
no Non-Executive Member:
– Has been an employee of the Group within the past five years
– Has, or has had within the past three years, a material business 

relationship with the Group (although attention is drawn to the 
related party transactions on page 171)

– Receives remuneration from Channel 4 other than their 
Member’s fee

– Has close family ties with any of the Group’s advisers, Members 
or senior employees

– Holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other 
Members through involvement in other companies or bodies

– Has served on the Board for more than nine years from the date 
of their first election

Professional development
On appointment, the Members take part in an induction programme 
when they receive information about the Group, the role of the 
Board and the matters reserved for its decision, the terms of 
reference and membership of the principal Board and Executive 
Committees and the powers delegated to those committees, the 
Group’s corporate governance practices and procedures including 
the powers reserved to the Group’s most senior executives, and the 
latest financial information about the Group. This is supplemented 
by meetings with members of the senior management team. On 
appointment, all Members are advised that they have access to 
advice and the services of the Head of Corporate Governance. 
Throughout their period in office the Members are continually 
updated on the Group’s business and environment and other 
changes affecting the Group and the industry it operates in as a 
whole, by written briefings and meetings with senior executives. 

A formal Board Effectiveness Review that uses a detailed 
questionnaire to allow Board Members to express both qualitative 
and quantitative views on Board performance is undertaken 
annually. In 2021, the Head of Corporate Governance oversaw a 
review of the Board and of the Audit & Risk and Remuneration 
Committees, which was conducted by an external Board evaluator. 
Findings and analysis were presented to the Board by the Head of 
Corporate Governance and discussed at the January 2022 Board 
meeting. Committees also held their own discussions on the 
findings. Despite the challenges faced during 2021, the Board and 
committees were found to be performing well, with strong 
alignment with the Future4 strategy and its collegiate approach 
both noted as strengths. The importance of ensuring Board 
composition provides appropriate representation of diverse voices 
and the UK as a whole was noted. Proposals for actions focused on 
identifying effective structures to draw on Members’ support and 
expertise at an early stage in key strategic projects.

Board information
Regular reports and papers are circulated to the Members before 
Board and committee meetings. These papers are supplemented 
by information specifically requested by the Members from time  
to time. A monthly performance pack is prepared by the Chief 
Operating Officer providing a month-by-month report on progress 
against the main performance indicators set by the Board.

The Head of Corporate Governance’s responsibilities include 
ensuring an effective flow of information within the Board and its 
committees, induction of new Members, assisting with professional 
development as required, and advising the Board through the  
Chair on all governance matters. 

Corporate governance  
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Board meetings
The number of full Board meetings and committee meetings 
attended by each Member during the year is shown in the table 
below:

Name

Board 
meetings 
attended 

(invited)

Audit & Risk 
Committee 

meetings 
attended 

(invited)

Remuneration 
Committee 

meetings 
attended 

(invited)

Ethics 
Committee 

meetings 
attended 

(invited)

Charles Gurassa 12 (12) 4 (4)¹ 4 (4)¹ –
Lord Chris Holmes 12 (12) – 4 (4) –
Althea Efunshile 12 (12) 4 (4) – –
Paul Geddes 12 (12) 4 (4) – –
Uzma Hasan 8 (10) 3 (4) – –
Fru Hazlitt 10 (10) – 3 (3) –
Tom Hooper 11 (12) – – –
Roly Keating 12 (12) – 4 (4) –
Andrew Miller 11 (12) 4 (4) – –
Stewart Purvis 5 (5) – 2 (2) –
Dawn Airey 1 (1) – – –
Tess Alps 1 (1) – – –
David Kogan 1 (1) – – –
Sarah Sands 1 (1) – – –
Alex Mahon 12 (12) 4 (4)¹ 4 (4)¹ –
Jonathan Allan 12 (12) 4 (4)¹ 4 (4)¹ –
Ian Katz 12 (12) – – –

1 The Chair, Chief Executive and Chief Operating Officer attended Audit & Risk 
Committee and Remuneration Committee meetings but were not members of those 
committees.

The Board meets at least eight times a year; extraordinary sessions 
of the Board and committees were also held in 2021. The Non-
Executives meet without management twice a year, and meet with 
just the Chief Executive present once a year. 

The Ethics Committee did not meet in 2021 as no matters arose 
requiring its consideration.

Board diversity
As shown on pages 27 to 32, diversity is at the heart of Channel 4 
and this is equally important at the most senior levels of the 
organisation as at entry-level positions. At May 2022, the Channel 4 
Board comprised three Executive Members and ten Non-Executive 
Members. As stated on page 173, Non-Executive Members are 
appointed by Ofcom, and Executive Members by the Chief 
Executive and the Chair. 

At 31 December 2021, one of the three Executive Members was a 
woman (December 2020: one of three). At 31 December 2021, the 
Board comprised four women and eight men, with the four women 
making up 33% of the Board membership (December 2020: 31%). 
At 31 December 2021, none of the Members of the Board were from 
an ethnically diverse background (December 2020: two).

Section 172 statement
In July 2018 a revised version of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code was published, containing an updated set of principles that 
emphasise the value of good corporate governance to long-term 
sustainable success. As stated above, as a statutory corporation 
without shareholders, Channel 4 voluntarily applies the principles 
of the Code, where relevant.

The Code requires the Board to assess the basis on which 
Channel 4 generates and preserves value over the long term. The 
Board believes that the annual review of Channel 4’s performance 
in relation to its Statement of Media Content Policy (presented on 
pages 84 to 128 of this Annual Report) represents a strong 
statement of the value generated by the Group. Our corporate 
Future4 strategy (set out on page 144) is aimed at ensuring we can 
continue to generate and develop this value over the long term as 
the broadcasting environment evolves. As a not-for-profit public 
service broadcaster, our aim is to remain commercially self-
sustainable with a strong supporting balance sheet over the long 
term. A key element of our financial strategy is the way we cross-
fund commercially challenging genres with profitable programming. 
We believe surpluses built up over time should be prudently 
reinvested back into original content and digital innovation through 
our Future4 strategy, to enhance our commercial business model 
and to ensure the continuing relevance and reach of our remit.

Some of the ways in which Channel 4’s value is measured externally 
currently remain rooted in a traditional, linear PSB paradigm and do 
not reflect structural and strategic changes. The number of 
measures reviewed in relation to our Statement of Media Content 
Policy also makes our focus and decision making complex. As a 
result, the Board continues to review how we articulate and 
measure Channel 4’s long-term impact in a changing landscape. 
New measures have been incorporated into the review of our 
Statement of Media Content Policy during 2021 to reflect our 
strategic shift away from a focus on linear viewing.

The Code also requires boards of directors to understand the views 
of their companies’ key stakeholders and describe in the Annual 
Report how their interests, and the matters set out in section 172  
of the Companies Act 2006, have been considered in Board 
discussions and decision making. Section 172 deals with the 
directors’ duty to promote the success of the company for the 
benefit of its shareholders as a whole, having regard to a number  
of broader matters including the likely consequence of decisions 
for the long term and the entity’s wider relationships. 

Although provisions around shareholders’ interests are not  
directly applicable to Channel 4, our Board seeks to make 
decisions remaining mindful of our remit, values and strategy,  
and taking into account their impact on our key stakeholders. 
Engagement with these stakeholders is key to maintaining the 
Corporation’s reputation. The following table identifies these 
stakeholders, outlines how we engage with them, and provides 
examples of how these relationships have shaped Board decision 
making during the year.

Corporate governance  
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Our stakeholders
Stakeholder Engagement Impact on Board agenda and decision making

Viewers (mainstream, 
young people, ethnically 
diverse and under-
represented, Nations 
and Regions)

We monitor audience engagement  
via both proprietary trackers and 
third-party trackers, bespoke audience 
studies (pilot testing, focus groups, 
genre and trend studies, behavioural 
studies) and an annual digital  
landscape study.

The Board receives regular updates on viewing performance 
to inform its decision making. In 2021, there was a greater 
focus than ever on All 4 viewing performance as Channel 4 
started to deliver its digital-first Future4 strategy. As part of 
the business’s alignment with this strategy, the Board also 
reviewed updates to the framework of viewing metrics used 
to support our Statement of Media Content Policy – aimed at 
tracking the pivot to digital, and how Channel 4 delivers its 
vision of representing unheard voices. 

The Board discussed how this vision was reflected in  
Channel 4’s creative output and the significant public value 
this could go on to have, looking at particular examples 
including It’s A Sin, the Black to Front Project and the 
Paralympic Games.

The Board was kept updated on developments during the 
broadcast outages suffered during autumn 2021, and 
scrutinised the impact this had on provision of access 
services to viewers who rely on them. The Board encouraged 
management to take the opportunity to expand delivery in 
this area in future. It endorsed action plans put forward by 
management, and will review more detailed findings on 
lessons learned during 2022.

Reviews of viewing performance inform Board approvals for 
commissioning of new and returning content when required 
under Channel 4’s delegation of authority.

Creative partners 
(production companies, 
talent)

We engage with creative partners via 
direct meetings, industry events, talent 
outreach programmes, partnerships, 
qualitative and quantitative research 
(including direct feedback) and 
third-party industry data.

Channel 4’s Creative Contract sets out 
our commitments to the independent 
production community to foster 
creative partnerships, and maintain  
our reputation as the best partner  
for producers. 

Regular updates on creative performance helped to inform 
Board decision making, with a focus in 2021 on how 
commissioning strategy is driving the pivot to digital. 

The Board considered the position of Channel 4 within the 
wider production sector, and in particular monitored 
progress against the Nations and Regions strategy, noting 
research into Channel 4’s contribution to the UK economy 
and jobs supported across the country. It also emphasised 
the importance of engagement with Channel 4’s creative 
stakeholders in response to the government consultation 
launched during 2021.

The Board reviewed the results of stakeholder surveys during 
the year, particularly in light of cuts made to the Group’s 
commissioning budget during the previous year to protect 
Channel 4’s financial position. It oversaw actions to ensure 
positive relationships with our creative partners were 
reinforced during 2021, including new investment in the 
sector through our Indie Growth Fund, and revisited the topic 
later in the year to assess progress made.

The Audit & Risk Committee oversaw work during the year to 
promote Channel 4’s Speak Up whistleblowing facility to third 
parties within the Group’s supply chain and engage with any 
concerns raised. 
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Stakeholder Engagement Impact on Board agenda and decision making

Commercial partners 
(media agencies, 
advertisers, trade 
organisations)

Engagement with commercial partners 
comes in the form of regular meetings, 
events and industry research, plus 
collaboration and innovation through 
ad-break takeovers, our 4Talks insight 
series and sponsorship of industry 
platforms and projects. We also carry 
out an annual reputation survey with 
commercial stakeholders.

During 2021, the Board has received frequent updates on key 
drivers in the TV advertising market as it recovered post-
Covid. 

The Board supported work by Channel 4’s sales teams to 
collaborate with commercial partners during key moments 
like the Black to Front Project and Paralympics ad-break 
takeovers.

Scrutiny was given to proposals during 2021 for new 
commercial partnerships outside of traditional platforms. 
The Board also reviews the success of previous commercial 
ventures and the stakeholder relationships built to ensure 
that lessons learned are applied in future. Key stakeholder 
relationships are carefully considered by the Board when 
approving major commercial agreements, and they are 
regularly briefed on the development of existing partnerships 
as well as new ventures in the pipeline.

Employees Engagement with Channel 4 employees 
comes in many forms, including all-staff 
sessions, staff forums, regular internal 
communications and staff surveys 
(considered in more detail on page 
148).

The Board reviewed regular updates on staff wellbeing 
throughout the year, taking into account the impact of 
continued lockdowns and measures to try and manage 
work-life balance. This was assisted by results from detailed 
quarterly staff surveys. The Board also considered the safety 
of employees during a return to Channel 4’s offices and a new 
hybrid working approach in the later part of the year.

The Board discussed progress in the number of roles now 
created in Channel 4’s Nations and Regions offices, as the 
National HQ in Leeds formally opened in September. 

Following Channel 4’s six-point commitment as an anti-racist 
organisation in 2020, where it committed to strive for 
equality as an employer, the Board monitored progress via 
the results of an internal Inclusion Survey and discussed 
actions identified. They also endorsed plans to develop and 
leverage the 4Skills programme to help increase social 
mobility and bring new people into the industry. 

The Remuneration Committee oversaw work to update the 
organisation’s departmental design and pay framework 
during 2021, and considered the impact on employees and 
the importance of clear communication.

Political and regulatory 
(decision makers, 
influencers and opinion 
formers)

We ensure engagement with our 
political and regulatory stakeholders 
via one-to-one meetings as well as 
events, briefings and quarterly 
stakeholder meetings. 

We are in regular contact with our key 
regulator Ofcom through meetings and 
reporting. We engage proactively with 
consultations by our political and 
regulatory stakeholders as and when 
these are launched. 

We also report to regulatory 
stakeholders via our pay gap and 
diversity reporting, and carry out an 
annual reputational survey.

Early in the year, the Board discussed Channel 4’s submission 
to Ofcom’s review on public service broadcasting and 
reviewed how the channel had engaged in this process. 

Subsequently, the Board has been prominently involved in 
responding to the government consultation into Channel 4’s 
future ownership, emphasising the organisation’s role in 
supporting the independent production sector and in the 
Nations and Regions agenda. The Board has also engaged in 
the Group’s response to DCMS’s announcement in April 2022 
that it plans to proceed with proposals to privatise Channel 
4. 

The Board performs an annual review of the effectiveness of 
the Corporation’s compliance activities and agrees action 
points where necessary.

Corporate governance  
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Stakeholder Engagement Impact on Board agenda and decision making

Financial (governmental 
stakeholders, banks)

In 2018, Channel 4 entered into a 
Memorandum of Understanding (‘MoU’) 
with the Department for Digital, 
Culture, Media and Sport (‘DCMS’). This 
clarified the requirements for 
Channel 4’s financial engagement with 
DCMS – to provide information to 
DCMS and to secure DCMS approval for 
certain limited transactions outside the 
normal course of Channel 4’s business. 
The Channel 4 Annual Report is laid 
before Parliament, and Members of the 
Channel 4 Board attend an annual 
Select Committee session to discuss 
the report and the channel’s current 
activities. Channel 4 also provides 
regular reporting to its financial 
stakeholders on its performance and 
covenants.

The Board reviews and approves the Group’s Annual Report 
ahead of it being laid before Parliament. It also scrutinises 
and approves the Group’s annual long-term plan and Budget 
ahead of these being reported to financial stakeholders.

Repayment of the Group’s £75 million revolving credit facility 
(drawn down at the start of the pandemic) was discussed by 
the Board and Audit & Risk Committee before this took place 
in June 2021, and the Audit & Risk Committee has 
subsequently overseen negotiations with banking partners to 
renew the current facility ahead of its expiry in 2023.

Internal control
In accordance with good corporate governance practice,  
the Board:
– Is responsible for maintaining sound risk management and 

internal control systems, ensuring they are effective in 
identifying key risks and reporting on the adequacy of actions  
to respond to and manage those risks

– Seeks regular assurance and receives regular reports that 
enable it to satisfy itself that the system is functioning effectively

– Is responsible for the Group’s process for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements

As outlined on page 178, the Board delegates oversight of risk 
management and internal control to the Audit & Risk Committee. 
Further information on activity in these areas during 2021 in 
provided in the Audit & Risk Committee Report on pages 181 to 184. 
The Board is not responsible for the internal control environment 
or corporate governance for any of the Group’s joint ventures 
or associates; however, none of the Group’s joint ventures or 
associates are material to the consolidated financial statements.

Control environment
Clear management responsibilities are established for the 
Executive Members. The Corporation has a Code of Conduct  
and a suite of policies and procedures which encompass ethical 
behaviour, conduct and internal controls.

The Audit & Risk Committee satisfies itself that internal controls are 
operating throughout the year based on a programme of reviews by 
the Group’s Business Assurance and Finance functions, which are 
reported to the Committee at its quarterly meetings – further detail 
is provided in the Audit & Risk Committee report on pages 181 to 184. 

All expenditure is authorised in line with a delegated authorities 
framework. An electronic invoice authorisation system is used 
to further enhance the control environment. Authorisation and 
payment duties are strictly segregated, and bank signatory limits 
are clearly defined by bank mandate. 

Risk management
In addition to its requirements under Schedule 9 of the 
Communications Act 2003 set out below, the Board and 
management have a clear responsibility for the identification 
of risks facing the Group and for putting in place procedures 
to monitor and mitigate such risks. Channel 4 has a high 
appetite for creative risk-taking, which could potentially give 
rise to controversial content. The Group has a low appetite for 
operational risks. The Board and Executive team operate a risk 
management framework for identifying, evaluating and managing 
(rather than eliminating) significant risks faced by Channel 4. 
Material controls, including financial, operational and compliance 
controls, are monitored and reviewed by senior management, 
Business Assurance and the Audit & Risk Committee. Remedial 
plans are put in place where internal reviews identify control 
weaknesses or opportunities for improvement. Serious control 
weaknesses (if any) are reported to the Board and appropriate 
actions taken. This framework has been developed in accordance 
with relevant good practice guidance on internal controls and 
risk management, and was rearticulated in 2020 on the launch 
of our Future4 strategy. A summary of the key risks that the 
Group faces, together with how those risks are mitigated, is 
presented in the Strategic Report on pages 156 to 165.

Corporate governance  
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Editorial and compliance
Channel 4 has a long-established compliance culture, which is 
fully integrated into its commissioning process and provides clear 
editorial ‘reference-up’ to senior executives and appropriate Board 
oversight. Its importance is widely recognised and understood by 
independent production companies we work with and they share 
equal responsibility for ensuring that programmes and online 
content conform to the compliance culture we work within. The 
Commissioning team works in close collaboration with the Legal 
and Compliance department on all significant commissions. 
There are strong editorial, legal and compliance systems and 
controls in place over the content commissioned by Channel 4.

These include specific guidance and protocols contained within the 
Channel 4 Producers’ Handbook, which encompasses the Ofcom 
Broadcasting Code, other relevant regulations, media law and best 
practice guidelines. This is supported by extensive training for both 
staff and independent producers. The Members are satisfied that 
Channel 4 has in place suitable procedures to fulfil the 
requirements of paragraph 3b of the Ofcom licence, which exists to 
ensure that difficult or fine-cut decisions on editorial and 
compliance issues are properly considered by the most 
appropriately experienced and senior editorial executives 
and programme lawyers within Channel 4.

Reporting to the Board
Information is provided to the Members in advance of each 
Board or Committee meeting. The information provided over 
the course of the year includes strategic plans, detailed annual 
budgets, quarterly reforecasts and key projects and initiatives as 
well as monthly performance packs. Amongst other things, the 
monthly performance packs monitor progress against the agreed 
objectives for the year, and compare actual performance metrics, 
income and expenditure to date with budget and prior year. 
Explanations are provided for significant variances to facilitate 
discussion and review at the Board meetings. 

The Members also receive information in between Board meetings 
as appropriate, including weekly risk and viewing updates. The 
Board Secretary is responsible for the provision of information to 
the Members.

Pension plan
There were six Trustees of the Channel Four Television Staff Pension 
Plan at 31 December 2021. The Trustees, who meet several times 
each year, also meet the Plan’s investment managers from time to 
time: Legal & General Assurance (Pensions Management) Limited, 
Veritas Asset Management LLP, BMO Global Asset Management, 
JP Morgan Asset Management, Ruffer LLP, IFM Investors and Just 
Retirement Limited during the year.

During the year, the Trustees were as follows:

Channel 4 Executives
Martin Baker Director of Commercial Affairs
Vince Russell Finance Director

Channel 4 Non-Executive 
Trustees

Lord Chris Holmes MBE Non-Executive Member

Member-nominated Trustees
Sarah Honeyball Client Sales Lead
Gill Monk

Corporation-appointed Trustee

Pensioner Member Nominated 
Trustee

Dinesh Visavadia, Independent 
Trustee Services Limited

Independent Corporate Trustee

Further details of the Channel Four Television Staff Pension Plan are 
provided in note 19 to the financial statements.

Requirements of Schedule 9 of the Communications Act 2003  
(the ‘Act’) 
The Act requires Channel 4 to submit proposals to Ofcom detailing 
the arrangements under which it proposes to secure, so far as 
reasonably practicable, that all significant risks to the primary 
function are identified, evaluated and properly managed. These 
proposals are referred to as ‘the Arrangements’.

In addition, the Arrangements must include proposals which 
Channel 4 considers appropriate for securing the transparency 
objectives as set out in the Act, namely:
– an appropriate financial and organisational separation between 

the activities of Channel 4 that relate to the carrying out of their 
primary functions and their other activities; and

– an appropriate degree of transparency in financial and other 
reporting where resources are shared between separated 
activities or where there is some other financial or practical 
connection between otherwise separated activities.

The Act sets out the matters to which the submitted Arrangements 
may relate. These include the procedures and other practices to be 
followed by Channel 4 in the case of the initiation and management 
of new ventures, the exercise of particular powers, the assessment 
of risks, the imposition of charges and the keeping of records.

The Act requires Channel 4 to put in place regular checks to  
confirm that Channel 4 is complying with the Arrangements. The 
Arrangements proposed by Channel 4 must contain provision for 
compliance, with the Arrangements to be checked regularly by a 
person (other than Channel 4’s auditor) appointed in accordance 
with that provision. Revised Arrangements came into force on 
15 September 2016.

Channel 4 appointed BDO LLP to review compliance with the 
Arrangements. Copies of the Arrangements are available from the 
Head of Corporate Governance.

Corporate governance  
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Independent Reporting Accountant’s report to Channel Four 
Television Corporation (‘the Corporation’) and the Office of 
Communications (‘Ofcom’)
We have performed a review of the Corporation’s compliance 
during the year ended 31 December 2021 with the 
arrangements agreed by the Corporation and the Office of 
Communications (‘Ofcom’) in 2016 under Section 2 of 
Schedule 9 of the Communications Act 2003.

This report is made solely to Channel Four Television 
Corporation and Ofcom in accordance with our letter of 
engagement dated 18 February 2022 and in order to (a) allow 
the Corporation to meet its obligations under the Licence and 
Schedule 9 of the Communications Act 2003 to procure such 
reports and (b) to facilitate the carrying out by Ofcom of its 
regulatory functions. Our work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Corporation and Ofcom those matters we 
are required to state to them in a reporting accountant’s report 
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Corporation and Ofcom (in accordance with our 
Regulator’s Contract with Ofcom dated 18 February 2022), for 
our work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Channel Four Television 
Corporation and reporting accountants
The Corporation has agreed arrangements with Ofcom to 
secure the following objectives (the ‘Objectives’) as set out in 
Schedule 9 of the Communications Act 2003:
– So far as reasonably practicable, secure that all significant 

risks that their other activities will have an adverse effect on 
the carrying out, during the relevant licence period, of their 
primary functions are:
a) identified;
b) evaluated; and
c) properly managed.

– The transparency objectives of securing:
a) An appropriate financial and organisational separation 

between the activities of the Corporation that relate to 
the carrying out of their primary functions and their other 
activities; and

b) An appropriate degree of transparency in financial and 
other reporting where resources are shared between 
separate activities or where there is some other financial 
or practical connection between otherwise separated 
activities.

The arrangements between the Corporation and Ofcom are 
available from https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/
pdf_file/0031/88519/Channel-4-Schedule-9-Arrangements.
pdf. The responsibility of the Corporation in terms of Schedule 
9 of the Communications Act 2003 is to act in accordance with 
these arrangements throughout the review period.

Our responsibility is to check whether the Corporation has 
complied with these arrangements during the year ended 
31 December 2021 and report to you our independent 
conclusion as to whether they have done so.

The firm applies International Standard on Quality Control 1 
and, accordingly, maintains a comprehensive system of quality 
control. We have complied with the independence and other 
ethical requirements of the Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants.

Basis of opinion
We carried out our work in accordance with International 
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 ‘Assurance 
Engagements’. Our work consisted of:
– Confirming our understanding of the Corporation and the 

internal procedures and controls in place made to comply 
with the arrangements made under Schedule 9 of the 
Communications Act 2003 through enquiry of senior 
management and other appropriate personnel; and

– Testing the operation of the relevant internal procedures 
and controls and examining of the financial records relating 
to the above.

Our work was carried out based on the internal procedures and 
controls in place to comply with the arrangements during the 
year ended 31 December 2021. We are not responsible for 
concluding whether the arrangements are sufficient and 
appropriate to achieve the objectives set out above. Any 
system of internal control can only give reasonable, not 
absolute, assurance that the objectives will be met.

Opinion
In our opinion, the Corporation has complied with the 
arrangements under Schedule 9 of the Communications 
Act 2003, in all material respects for the year ended 
31 December 2021.

Restriction of use of our report
Our report should not be regarded as suitable to be used or 
relied on by any party wishing to acquire rights against us other 
than Channel Four Television Corporation and Ofcom, for any 
purpose or in any context. Any party other than Channel Four 
Television Corporation and Ofcom who obtains access to our 
report or a copy thereof and chooses to rely on our report (or 
any part thereof) will do so at its own risk. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we accept or assume no responsibility and 
deny any liability to any party other than Channel Four 
Television Corporation and Ofcom for our work, for this report, 
or for the conclusions we have reached.

BDO LLP
Chartered Accountants 
London 
4 May 2022

BDO LLP is a Limited Liability Partnership registered in England 
and Wales (with registered number OC305127)
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Audit & Risk Committee Report

Chair’s introduction
During 2021, the Committee’s focus has returned post-
pandemic to ongoing work to identify and monitor wider 
business risks arising in the Corporation’s activities. 
Particular emphasis has been given to ensuring that these 
risks are managed appropriately, and strengthening the 
Group’s controls framework to provide sufficiently robust 
mitigation. A detailed analysis of the risks facing the 
Corporation, including new or increased risks arising as a 
result of the pandemic, is disclosed in the Strategic Report 
on pages 142 to 152.

Composition
During 2021 the Audit & Risk Committee comprised Andrew 
Miller (Chair), Paul Geddes, Uzma Hasan (until her departure 
from the Board in September 2021), Althea Efunshile (until her 
departure from the Board in December 2021) and David Kogan 
(following his appointment to the Board in December 2021). All 
the members of the Committee are Independent Non-
Executive Members. As disclosed on page 169, Andrew Miller 
is a qualified accountant and brings previous experience as 
Audit Chair of both AA plc and Ocean Outdoor Media to his 
role as Chair. Further details of the Members of the Audit & 
Risk Committee can be found on pages 181 to 184. 

The Committee met four times during 2021. Details of 
attendance at Audit & Risk Committee meetings by the 
Members of the Committee are disclosed in the Corporate 
Governance Report on page 175. 

At the Committee Chair’s invitation, the Chair of the Board, 
the Chief Executive, the Chief Operating Officer, the Finance 
Director, the Head of Business Assurance, the Head of 
Corporate Governance and the external audit partner (among 
others) attended Committee meetings. The external audit 
partner and Head of Business Assurance have direct access to 
the Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee. 

Role of the Audit & Risk Committee
The Committee monitors the effectiveness of the Group’s 
financial reporting, systems of internal control and risk 
management and the integrity of the Group’s external audit 
and internal Business Assurance processes.

Responsibilities
As noted in the Corporate Governance Report on page 173,  
the Board has discharged certain responsibilities to the  
Audit & Risk Committee:
– To monitor the integrity of the financial statements of 

Channel 4 and any formal announcements relating to 
Channel 4’s financial performance and reviewing significant 
financial reporting judgements contained in them 

– To review the Corporation’s internal financial controls and 
internal control and risk management systems 

– To monitor the Corporation’s whistleblowing procedures, 
ensuring that appropriate arrangements are in place for 
employees to be able to raise matters of possible impropriety 
in confidence, and with suitable follow-up action 

– To review the findings of Business Assurance reviews and to 
monitor and review the effectiveness of Channel 4’s 
Business Assurance function 

– To make recommendations to the Board in relation to the 
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external 
auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditor 

– To review and monitor the external auditor’s independence 
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, 
taking into consideration relevant UK professional and 
regulatory requirements 

– To develop and implement policy on the engagement of 
the external auditor to supply non-audit services including 
the pre-approval of such services, taking into account 
ethical guidance regarding the provision of non-audit 
services by the external audit firm; and to report to the 
Board, identifying any matters where it considers that 
action or improvement is needed and making 
recommendations on steps to be taken 

– To update the Board about the Audit & Risk Committee’s 
activities and ensure the Board is aware of matters that may 
have a significant financial impact on Channel 4 
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Activities
The Committee discharged its key responsibilities in 2021 and 2022 
to date as set out below.

January 2021 meeting
– Confirmed with the external auditor the key audit risks to be 

disclosed in the 2020 Annual Report and discussed the external 
auditor’s progress to date on the 2020 audit

– Received updates on the Group’s tax status and reviewed 
updates to the Treasury policy

– Reassessed the principal risks and uncertainties facing the 
Corporation and the mitigating actions in place, following a 
detailed exercise to fully refresh the risks identified by the Group 
and ensure this reflects both the current external environment 
and the Group’s new strategy

– Reviewed and approved the Business Assurance plan for 2021
– Discussed the findings of the 2020 Board Effectiveness Review 

with regard to the Audit & Risk Committee and suggested 
actions

March 2021 meeting
– Reviewed the 2020 financial statements and other sections of 

the Annual Report including the Statement of Media Content 
Policy and discussed whether these were fair, balanced and 
understandable to stakeholders 

– Reviewed the Corporation’s accounting policies in respect of 
the key audit risks, significant accounting and reporting issues 
and a detailed financial report in respect of 2020 and discussed 
these with the external auditor

– Considered the report of the external auditor on their key 
findings for the 2020 audit

– Reviewed the findings of the independent reporting accountants 
concerning compliance with the arrangements under Schedule 9 
of the Communications Act 2003 in relation to 2020

– Reviewed the Viability Statement and the going concern 
assumption for the 2020 financial statements, with specific 
consideration in light of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic

– Reviewed the rearticulated view of the Group’s risk framework 
presented in the 2020 Annual Report

– Reviewed ongoing Business Assurance activity including 
observations and actions from the Group’s Fraud Risk 
Assessment

June 2021 meeting
– Discussed a review of the Audit & Risk Committee’s terms of 

reference, internal processes and proposed upcoming topics for 
the Committee’s consideration

– Received updates on operational transformation projects 
around the business

– Received updates on the Group’s tax status and reviewed 
updates to the Treasury policy

– Received updates on Business Assurance activity and the 
Group’s key risks

– Received updates on whistleblowing activity through the ‘Speak 
Up’ facility

– Reviewed an assessment of the Group’s current cyber maturity
– Considered the annual Health and Safety update

September 2021 meeting
– Reviewed the Corporation’s accounting policies in respect of 

its significant accounting judgements, and a detailed financial 
report in respect of the half year to 30 June 2021

– Reviewed the preliminary audit plan for the 2021 audit presented 
by the external auditor, which included consideration of the 
scope of the audit, the key audit risks to be disclosed in the 2021 
Annual Report and other key areas of focus

– Discussed a review of the Group’s internal control framework, 
and action plan reflecting the increasing focus from 
management during 2021, and with consideration given to 
potential regulatory developments on the horizon

– Received the findings of Business Assurance activity during H1 
2021 and updates on the Group’s key risks

– Received status updates on whistleblowing activity under 
consideration by the Business Assurance team

– Received updates on Information Security, including a detailed 
review of cyber security and the risk posed by ransomware

January 2022 meeting
– Received an oral update from the external auditor on the audit 

plan presented in September, and discussed the external 
auditor’s progress to date on the 2021 audit

– Received progress updates on management’s controls 
framework action plan 

– Considered the Group’s approach to alignment over time with 
new climate-related financial disclosures

– Received updates on the Group’s Treasury policy and on 
renewal of the existing revolving credit facility

– Received status updates on whistleblowing activity under 
consideration by the Business Assurance team

– Reviewed the impact of the broadcast outage experienced by 
Channel 4 during autumn 2021 and plans in place to strengthen 
business resilience to prevent similar incidents in future

– Discussed the findings of the 2021 Board Effectiveness Review 
with regard to the Audit & Risk Committee and suggested 
actions

March 2022 meeting 
– Reviewed the 2021 financial statements and other sections of 

the Annual Report including the Statement of Media Content 
Policy and discussed whether these were fair, balanced and 
understandable to stakeholders 

– Reviewed the Corporation’s accounting policies in respect of 
the key audit risks, significant accounting and reporting issues 
and a detailed financial report in respect of 2021 and discussed 
these with the external auditor

– Considered the report of the external auditor on their key 
findings for the 2021 audit

– Reviewed the findings of the independent reporting accountants 
concerning compliance with the arrangements under Schedule 9 
of the Communications Act 2003 in relation to 2021

– Reviewed the Viability Statement and the going concern 
assumption for the 2021 financial statements

– Reviewed the Group’s risk framework as presented in the 2021 
Annual Report

– Approved the Business Assurance plan for 2022
– Received status updates on whistleblowing activity under 

consideration by the Business Assurance team
– Received updates on the Group’s key Technology projects 

including key risks identified
– Approved updates to the Group’s Treasury Investment policy

Audit & Risk Committee Report  
(continued)



183

Significant matters in the financial statements
After discussions with both management and the external auditor, 
the Audit & Risk Committee determined that the key audit matter in 
relation to misstatement of the Corporation’s 2021 financial 
statements related to revenue recognition around certain complex 
revenue agreements.

This key matter was discussed while the audit strategy was being 
reviewed and at the conclusion of the audit of these financial 
statements. 

Revenue recognition
Advertising revenue is recognised on transmission of the 
advertisement while sponsorship revenue is recognised on a 
straight-line basis in accordance with the transmission schedule 
for each sponsorship campaign. Although revenue is processed 
through automated transactional processes and the general 
accounting policy is not complex, there are occasions where 
judgement is required around the timing and value of revenue. 

Certain advertising revenues are recognised from barter and other 
similar contractual arrangements and revenues are measured with 
reference to the fair value of the goods or services received. 
Judgement is required in assessing the fair value of the goods or 
services received. The terms of these contracts can be complex, 
increasing the associated risk.

Total revenue for 2021 was £1,164 million, as detailed in note 1  
to the financial statements. The revenue recognition accounting 
policies of the Corporation are disclosed on page 206. The 
accounting treatment for any new or unusual revenue contracts is 
reviewed and presented by management to the Audit & Risk 
Committee. 

The Committee reviews the accounting treatment for any  
material revenue streams where significant judgement is applied 
(including around the fair value of certain advertising revenues as 
outlined above). Management also provided papers explaining the 
accounting treatment to the auditor during the 2021 financial audit. 
The Committee has reviewed the results of management’s 
judgements in respect of revenue recognition at the balance sheet 
date, and is satisfied that the procedures performed and the 
assumptions made were robust and consistently applied, resulting 
in appropriate accounting treatment.

Other risks
The use of the going concern assumption had been previously been 
reviewed by the Committee as a significant matter in the financial 
statements in 2019 and 2020 in light of the impact of Covid-19 on 
the TV advertising market. The Committee has reviewed regular 
updates during the year regarding the Group’s latest financial 
outlook, and noted the lower risk in relation to going concern in 
2021 taking into account the record surplus delivered, reinforcing 
an already strong balance sheet position. The use of the going 
concern assumption was considered to be appropriate for the 2021 
financial statements.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty
The Audit & Risk Committee received updates from both 
management and the external auditor with regard to the Group’s 
critical accounting judgements and any key sources of estimation 
uncertainty during 2021. Particular focus was given to the Group’s 
treatment of programme and film rights, with detailed consideration 
given to identifying the most appropriate amortisation profiles as 
viewing behaviours shift over time (accelerated by the Future4 
strategy). The Committee reviewed the findings of detailed viewing 
analysis and were satisfied that the estimates applied by 
management currently remained appropriate, although these will 
remain subject to close monitoring over time. 

The Committee has also reviewed the approach that management 
takes to other critical accounting judgements relating to its 
deferred tax assets, as well as in the application of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ 
to the Group’s satellite transponder contracts, receiving 
confirmation that this treatment remains in line with previous years, 
and agreed that they were satisfied this treatment remained 
appropriate.

Misstatements
Management confirmed to the Committee that it was not  
aware of any material misstatements or immaterial misstatements 
made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation. The auditor 
reported to the Committee all misstatements that it found in the 
course of its work over the reporting threshold previously agreed 
with the Committee. No material misstatements remain unadjusted. 

After reviewing the presentations and reports from management 
and consulting where necessary with the auditor, the Committee is 
satisfied that the financial statements appropriately address the 
critical judgements and key estimates, both in respect to the 
amounts reported and the disclosures. The Committee is also 
satisfied that the significant assumptions used for determining the 
value of assets and liabilities have been appropriately scrutinised 
and challenged and are sufficiently robust.

Fair, balanced and understandable
The Audit & Risk Committee has satisfied itself that the Annual 
Report and financial statements, when considered as a whole, are 
fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information 
necessary for stakeholders to assess the Corporation’s position, 
performance, business model and strategy. This follows a detailed 
process of review as outlined below:
– comprehensive reviews of the draft Annual Report and Accounts 

are undertaken by management, the Executive Committee and 
the Audit & Risk Committee Chairman

– discussion is held by the Committee along with management on 
key factors including consistency, clarity and presentation of the 
Annual Report

– a final draft is reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee prior to 
consideration and approval by the Board

Audit & Risk Committee Report  
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External audit
Audit tender
Deloitte LLP was appointed as external auditor for the audit of  
the financial statements in 2017. Kate Houldsworth began her 
tenure as audit partner at that point; 2021 is expected to be her final 
year as audit partner, with the engagement rotating to a new 
Deloitte partner during 2022. The Audit & Risk Committee does  
not expect to carry out an audit tender process in the short term, 
and anticipates that Deloitte LLP will continue as auditor for the 
foreseeable future.

The Committee confirms that it is satisfied that the auditor has 
fulfilled its responsibilities with diligence and professional 
scepticism. 

Auditor independence
Channel 4 will not use its external auditor to provide other services 
unless it is efficient and effective to do so and authorised by the 
Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee. The Committee has also taken 
action to ensure the objectivity and independence of the external 
auditor is maintained. To discharge this responsibility, the 
Committee has:
– approved the proposed audit fee and scope of the audit;
– reviewed all non-audit fees payable to the Group’s external 

auditor; and 
– reviewed Deloitte LLP’s annual statement to the Audit & Risk 

Committee to confirm its independence within the meaning 
of regulatory and professional requirements.

A summary of the fees earned by Deloitte LLP in respect of all 
services provided in 2021 to the Corporation is shown in note 3 to 
the financial statements. 

Audit effectiveness
The Committee has reviewed the external audit process and has 
satisfied itself that it is effective by reviewing:
– the external auditor’s plan for the audit of the Group’s financial 

statements, including the key audit risks identified above;
– the external auditor’s reports on the Group’s draft financial 

statements for the year ended 31 December 2021;
– the conduct of the audit through enquiries with management;
– the robustness and perceptiveness of the external auditor in 

their handling of key accounting and audit judgements identified 
and in responding to questions in one-on-one meetings; and

– the effectiveness of management in preparing and carrying out the 
audit and providing the external auditor with timely information.

Risk management and internal control
Business Assurance
The Corporation has a Business Assurance function and the Head 
of Business Assurance reports jointly to the Finance Director and 
the Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee. 

The Head of Business Assurance is responsible for coordinating the 
risk management framework for the Group and for taking a risk-based 
approach when setting out the Business Assurance plan for the year. 
The Business Assurance function continued work to provide 
assurance that control processes were appropriate and working 
effectively, and where necessary recommend improvements. 

The Business Assurance team function also plays a key role in 
Channel 4’s crisis management and business continuity 
procedures, and was closely involved in both the response to 
broadcast outages during the year and in developing plans to 
strengthen business resilience during 2022. 

Whistleblowing procedures (through the Group’s Speak Up facility) 
are also led by the Head of Business Assurance and reported to the 
Audit & Risk Committee. Activity in this area in 2021 focused on 
engagement with third-party concerns brought to Channel 4’s 
attention from within its supply chain.

Control environment
In addition to the assurance provided over the Group’s control 
environment by the Business Assurance function, the Audit & Risk 
Committee receives regular updates from the Finance Director on 
management’s activities to ensure a robust control environment 
remains in place. Management present an action plan to address 
the findings of work performed by Business Assurance and any 
other deficiencies or areas of concern noted, and provide status 
updates on this work. During 2021, this activity has focused in 
particular on strengthening the automated control environment 
around advertising sales. The Committee have also reviewed the 
manual controls framework in place to provide additional 
assurance while this work is ongoing. 
 
Based on the findings of these reviews, the Committee confirmed 
they were satisfied that the Group’s control environment was 
operating effectively during the year.

This report was approved by the Board on 4 May 2022 and signed 
on its behalf by 

Andrew Miller
Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee
4 May 2022
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Members’ Remuneration Report

Annual statement by the Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee
This report sets out the activities of the Remuneration 
Committee for the year ended 31 December 2021. It discloses 
the remuneration policy and remuneration details for the 
Executive and Non-Executive Members of the Corporation.  
It has been prepared in accordance with Schedule 8 of the 
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008 as amended in August 2013. 
Channel 4’s status as a statutory corporation without 
shareholders means these provisions are not all directly 
applicable, but the Members have decided to comply 
voluntarily with the provisions to the extent that they are 
relevant to Channel 4, in line with the Board’s commitment  
to high standards of corporate governance.

The report is set out in three sections: the statement by the 
Chair of the Remuneration Committee, the annual report on 
remuneration, and the policy report. The annual report on 
remuneration provides details on remuneration relating to 
2021 and other information required by the Regulations.

The Companies Act 2006 requires the auditor to report on 
certain parts of the Members’ Remuneration Report and to 
state whether, in its opinion, those parts of the report have 
been properly prepared in accordance with the Regulations. 
The parts of the annual report on remuneration that are subject 
to audit are indicated in the Auditor’s Report. The statement  
by the Chair of the Remuneration Committee and the policy 
report are not subject to audit.

The Remuneration Committee oversees all aspects of pay  
for the Executive Members and staff of Channel 4, reviewing 
proposals for the overall annual pay awards and variable pay 
schemes applicable to all staff, and the details of remuneration 
packages for the Executive team. The Committee’s 
recommendations and decisions in 2021 reflect its 
remuneration policy, which is designed to enable Channel 4  
to attract, motivate and retain high-calibre staff by offering 
both fixed and variable pay to reward commercial and creative 
success, while being sensitive to Channel 4’s position as a 
public service broadcaster.

Where Executive Members or senior management are involved 
in advising or supporting the Remuneration Committee, care is 
taken to recognise and avoid conflicts of interest. No Executive 
Members attend meetings of the Remuneration Committee at 
times when any aspect of his or her individual remuneration, 
benefits or terms of employment are being discussed.

Composition of the Remuneration Committee
During 2021, the Remuneration Committee comprised Lord 
Chris Holmes (Chair), Roly Keating, Stewart Purvis (until his 
departure from the Board in May 2021) and Fru Hazlitt (until her 
departure from the Board in September 2021). Dawn Airey and 
Tess Alps were appointed to the Committee in December 
2021. All the members of the Committee are Independent 
Non-Executive Members. The Chair of the Board, the Chief 
Executive, the Director of People, the Chief Operating Officer 
and the Corporation Secretary attended meetings by invitation 
as appropriate.

Chair’s introduction
During 2021, the Committee has concentrated on  
ensuring remuneration decisions were aligned with 
delivering the Future4 strategy, and formed part of an 
appropriate reward framework in line with individual 
responsibility, performance and progression.

The Committee also focused on staff wellbeing in light of 
challenges faced during 2021, including continuing 
lockdowns followed by a move to hybrid working later in 
the year. 

The Committee continued its focus on pay gap reporting 
with the publication of the 2021 Pay Report in January  
2022.
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Responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
The Committee’s principal responsibilities are:
– to recommend to the Board the level of any average annual 

salary increases and variable pay awards and the structure  
of remuneration;

– to recommend to the Board the structure of the annual 
Corporate Variable Pay and Advertising Sales Schemes and  
to review progress against the targets set for the schemes; 

– to review any other aspect of HR strategy or performance as 
appropriate; and

– to review any other significant change in Channel 4’s 
remuneration arrangements and policies.

The Chair of the Remuneration Committee reports to the Board on 
the Remuneration Committee’s discussions and recommendations, 
and brings to the Board’s attention any matters of an unusual or 
sensitive nature.

Activities of the Remuneration Committee
The Committee’s work in 2021 and 2022 to date included making  
an award recommendation to the Board for the Corporate Variable 
Pay Scheme in respect of 2021, and reviewing the structure and 
appropriateness of the Corporate Variable Pay and Advertising 
Sales Schemes for 2022:
– The variable pay award for 2021 and the details of the Corporate 

Variable Pay Scheme are detailed on pages 187 to 190
– In January 2021, the Committee considered the corporate 

objectives already agreed for the year, focused on the execution 
of the Future4 strategy and aimed at tracking delivery against 
the channel’s remit and levels of staff engagement, in addition to 
key financial and viewing measures. Targets were agreed for 
2021 against these objectives to provide focus for the 
organisation throughout the year and for evaluation in 
determining 2021 variable pay. 

– In January 2021, after consideration of the performance of the 
business and in light of the challenges faced during the previous 
year, the Committee recommended setting the award for 2020 
at the maximum opportunity under the Corporate Variable Pay 
Scheme

– In January 2021, the Committee approved an average pay award 
of 1.5% to be made across Channel 4 effective from 1 March 2021

– In February 2021, after careful consideration, the Committee 
approved 2020 variable pay for the Executive Members as well 
as a 2021 pay award in line with the rest of the business 

– In June 2021, the Committee discussed a detailed review of the 
Corporate Variable Pay and Advertising Sales Schemes, with the 
aim of ensuring these remain appropriate in future years and are 
suitably aligned with the Future4 strategy

– In November 2021, the Committee reviewed the proposed 
corporate objectives for 2022, which remain focused on 
delivering Future4 and underpinned by existing metrics around 
remit delivery and financial performance

– In November 2021, the Committee approved updates to the 
design of the Advertising Sales Scheme to align this more closely 
with the Future4 strategy

– In January 2022, after careful evaluation of the economic climate 
and challenges around cost of living, the Committee agreed that 
a pay award of 4% would be made effective 1 March 2022, with 
an additional award made to those at Manager level and below 
bringing this to 5%. They also made recommendations on the 
appropriate opportunity for 2021 under the Corporate Variable 
Pay Scheme, outlined on pages 188 to 189.

During 2021, the Committee made recommendations on an 
increase to the maximum opportunity available to Alex Mahon as 
Chief Executive Officer under the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme 
to 80%, to ensure appropriate reward for her leadership during a 
period of significant uncertainty. This recommendation was 
approved by the Board in July 2021. 

The Committee also received regular updates throughout 2021 on 
the continued impact of widespread home working on employee 
wellbeing, plans for returning to hybrid working and work in 
progress to refresh the organisation’s reward framework. 

Pay Report 2021
The ‘Channel 4 Pay Report 2021’ was published in January 2022, 
and included ethnically diverse, LGBTQ+ and disability pay data 
within its scope as a reflection of Channel 4’s commitment to 
inclusion and diversity. This reporting was in addition to the gender 
pay reporting required by the Equality Act. 

The report showed a reduction in the mean gender pay gap of 1.9% 
year-on-year, to 19.6% in March 2021 (2020: 21.5%). The median 
gender pay gap also reduced by 2.5% to 20.5%. These decreases 
are positive and Channel 4 has made steady progress in this area 
since it first started reporting on the gender pay gap in 2017, but 
more work remains to be done. The key drivers of the gender pay 
gap remain the same: we have nearly twice as many women as men 
in the lower-earning quartile (67.7%), bringing down average female 
earnings overall, with the pay gap further broadened by a higher 
proportion of men in senior positions. Channel 4 continues to 
target a 50:50 gender balance in the top 100 earners by 2023, and 
the proportion of senior women in the business has grown to 48 in 
March 2021 (March 2020: 44), up from 34 when we first started 
reporting this metric in 2017.

The report shows that the mean ethnically diverse pay gap has 
remained at 15.3% year-on-year, although we are pleased to have 
reduced the median pay gap by 2.1% in 2021 to 10.3%, which 
signifies an improved distribution of pay across the quartiles. Just as 
with our gender pay gap, there are two factors that drive the 
ethnically diverse pay gap: a lower representation at senior levels 
and a higher representation at junior levels. By 2023, Channel 4’s 
target is to have 20% ethnically diverse employees across Channel 4 
and in the top 100 paid. As at March 2021, the number of ethnically 
diverse employees in the top 100 earners had increased to 17 (March 
2020: 14), with 18% of total employees being ethnically diverse. 

Channel 4 reported a mean LGBTQ+ pay gap of 14.9% at March 
2021, an increase from 10.6% in 2020. As LGBTQ+ staff make up a 
relatively small population in Channel 4’s overall staff composition, 
changes in headcount can have a significant impact on the pay gap. 
We were pleased that high recruitment activity in 2021 attracted 
many diverse candidates; however, as these were primarily 
entry-level roles, that has had the effect of increasing our mean 
LGBTQ+ pay gap. 

The report also showed a similar impact on the mean disability pay 
gap, which increased from 12.6% in 2020 to 17.4% in 2021. As above, 
given the relatively small number of employees with disabilities 
compared to the total, the disability pay gap can be significantly 
affected by changes in headcount (such as opening new entry-level 
roles). The median disability pay gap has remained more consistent 
at 5.4% (2020: 5.2%). As at March 2021, 11% of Channel 4 
employees have a disability, with a target of 12% of disabled staff 
across the organisation by 2023. 
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Pay Report 2021 (continued) 
The 2021 Pay Report also outlines the key actions that we are taking to further decrease our pay gaps across all demographic groups, 
which form just a part of what we are doing to become a fully inclusive organisation. The focus in 2022 includes the organisation’s new 
career and reward framework, which will help ensure greater diversity in our talent pipeline, especially for senior management. 

Remuneration Report
The following provisions on this page are subject to audit
The remuneration of the Executive Members for the years ending 31 December 2021 and 2020 is made up as follows:

£000 Salary 
Taxable 

benefits Pension
Total 
fixed

Variable 
pay

Total for 
2021 Salary 

Taxable 
benefits Pension

Total 
fixed

Variable 
pay

Total for 
2020

Alex Mahon 593 3 124 720 476 1,196 555 2 141 698 293 991
Jonathan Allan 492 1 38 531 197 728 459 1 36 496 194 690
Ian Katz 407 1 46 454 166 620 347 1 42 390 146 536

Total 1,492 5 208 1,705 839 2,544 1,361 4 219 1,584 633 2,217

The figures in the table above represent the gross amounts received by Executive Members in 2021 and 2020, after taking account of salary 
increases during the year where applicable and salary reductions between April and June 2020 in financial response to the initial outbreak 
of Covid-19. 

In 2021 and 2020, all of the Executive Members received pension benefits in the form of cash payments. 

Taxable benefits includes private medical insurance for all Executive Members.

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Members for the years ending 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

£000
2021 salary 

and fees
2020 salary 

and fees

Charles Gurassa 95 90
Lord Chris Holmes 33 17
Stewart Purvis (term completed May 2021) 9 22
Andrew Miller (term commenced June 2020) 25 14
Paul Geddes 24 24
Althea Efunshile (term completed December 2021) 22 21
Uzma Hasan (term completed September 2021) 17 21
Fru Hazlitt (term completed September 2021) 17 21
Tom Hooper (term completed December 2021) 22 21
Roly Keating 22 21
Dawn Airey (term commenced December 2021) 2 –
Tess Alps (term commenced December 2021) 2 –
David Kogan (term commenced December 2021) 2 –
Sarah Sands (term commenced December 2021) 2 –

Total 294 272

No detailed disclosure has been provided for the Non-Executive Members other than that relating to their fees, as it is the only form of 
remuneration they receive.

Variable pay
During the year, the Committee regularly monitored performance as part of its oversight of variable pay across the business. The 
Committee met in January 2022 to agree on a recommendation to the Board on variable pay once results for the year were available.

Corporate Variable Pay Scheme outline
The Corporation’s business model and strategy are set out in the Strategic Report on page 144. The Corporate Variable Pay Scheme has 
been designed specifically to link variable pay with the business model, with specific corporate objectives set in January 2021 (focused on 
programme streaming views, share of commercial impacts (‘SOCI’), remit delivery and revenue diversification) which were used as key 
performance measures for the scheme for the year. 

Achievement of at least the budgeted surplus or deficit before tax for the year and Ofcom licence requirements is a condition for any 
element of the scheme to pay out to staff. There may be circumstances where additional strategic or content investments are made or 
accounting adjustments arising from one-off events occur in the year which means the budgeted surplus or deficit before tax is adjusted for 
the purpose of the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme award, as agreed by the Board. Where this is the case, the surplus or deficit before tax 
is measured against the adjusted budget so that the financial impact of such items can be considered.
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Most staff and the Executive team participate in the Corporate 
Variable Pay Scheme, where the amounts provided can be up to 
10% of total gross salary for staff, 20% for Heads of Department and 
between 30% and 80% for the Executive team. These percentages 
represent the maximum average amount that can be provided 
across each employee category. Actual awards for each staff 
member may vary from the average in certain years to reflect their 
individual achievement against personal performance objectives.

Process for determining variable pay
To decide how much variable pay should be provided each year, the 
Remuneration Committee reviews business performance using a 
monthly performance dashboard and report which tracks 
performance across a range of qualitative and quantitative metrics. 
Where relevant, performance versus competitors against the same 
metrics is also a key part of the Committee’s deliberations. The 
Committee also monitors progress against the corporate objectives 
set for the year and considers a report written by the Chief Executive 
in conjunction with others in the Executive team, describing how the 
Corporation has performed. 

The scheme is based on a mix of both qualitative and quantitative 
information, and a degree of judgement is required around certain 
creative performance measures. The weighting allocated to each 
corporate objective in a given year is at the discretion of the 
Committee. 

After due consideration of performance during the year, the 
Remuneration Committee makes a judgement on the overall 
performance for the year and proposes an amount, based on what 
it considers the average payout across the Corporation should be 
for the year. The Committee produces a narrative assessment of its 
evaluation which is then presented to the Board, which has the final 
approval of any payout. The Committee will review the Corporate 
Variable Pay Scheme each year to ensure it remains appropriate. 

Variable pay decision for 2021
It was reported that the first gateway to the scheme – meeting the 
Ofcom licence requirements – had been met. The Group’s record 
financial results ensured that the second gateway, of achieving the 
budgeted result for the year, was clearly exceeded. 

The Committee’s assessment was based on a detailed review of all 
the information available to it, including the CEO and Executive 
team’s 2021 end-of-year report, and the Corporation’s 
performance across a wide range of performance metrics, including 
progress and achievement against the key corporate objectives. 
The Committee also reflected on the evolution of the scheme 
criteria in recent years, including a greater emphasis on individual 
performance in determining reward. An extract of the performance 
metrics considered by the Remuneration Committee is set out on 
pages 237 to 239 and includes programme quality, creative 
achievements, linear and digital viewing performance, commercial 
impact performance in key demographics and financial and 
commercial performance. The creative achievements and financial 
results are also outlined in detail throughout this Annual Report. 

The Committee reflected that the organisational focus for 2021 had 
been aligning the business to deliver year one of the Future4 
strategy – a fact reflected in digital-first corporate objectives for 
the year, with a significant growth target for All 4 views that made 
this the primary KPI, ranking above linear viewing metrics for the 
first time. 

All 4 viewing grew by 21% in 2021, building on 26% growth in 2020, 
to achieve an impressive 1.5 billion views. Digital viewing now 
makes up 13.1% of total, versus 9.2% in 2020. Digital advertising 
revenue for the year reflects this performance, reaching 19% of the 
Group’s total revenues for the year (up from 17% in 2020). 

From It’s A Sin to the ground-breaking Black to Front Project, the 
Paralympics and Emma Raducanu’s triumph at the US Open, 
Channel 4’s creative output in 2021 had ensured it had never been 
more bold and relevant than in the last 12 months – with an array of 
unique programming garnering both critical acclaim and strong 
performance across both linear and digital. Despite the focus on 
driving digital views, performance also exceeded expectations on 
linear in terms of SOCI (see page 147).

The Committee considered the Corporation’s 2021 position across 
the range of its Statement of Media Content Policy (‘SMCP’) metrics 
(pages 84 to 128) and agreed that this strong creative performance 
was reflected in another successful year of remit delivery. 
Distinctive commissioning has ensured the channel maintains its 
reputation for representing different cultures and opinions around 
the UK, pushing boundaries and being willing to try something new. 

Financially, the Corporation finished 2021 by presenting a record 
surplus for the second year running (£101 million for the year). The 
Group passed £1 billion revenues for the first time ever – with 
full-year corporate revenues of £1,164 million by far exceeding the 
previous historic high of £995 million in 2010. These financial 
results also reflect the initial success of Future4, with a strategic 
focus on diversifying revenues paying off in significant growth in key 
revenue metrics (non-advertising revenue now up to 9% of total, as 
well as the growth in digital advertising already mentioned). These 
strong results also helped to deliver cash balances in excess of 
£270 million and further strengthen the Group’s balance sheet.

The Committee acknowledged that none of this could have taken 
place without a huge amount of work from the team at Channel 4 
and expressed gratitude for their dedication. Channel 4’s staff had 
done an incredible job during 2021, against ever tougher odds – be 
it a third lockdown at the beginning of the year at a time when 
resilience was already low, the uncertainty surrounding the ongoing 
government consultation process, or the immense workload taken 
on by some teams to keep the channel on air during the playout 
outage we experienced in the autumn. Despite all this, teams 
across the business had achieved real momentum towards the 
Future4 transformation, even after several years of major change 
across the organisation. 

As part of this transformation, the Committee noted the success of 
the channel’s ‘Altogether Different’ brand campaign, launched in 
the autumn as the result of a year of research and insight, and 
intended to provide a clear, distinctive position in the market for the 
next few years – setting the channel apart from both traditional 
broadcasters and the newer SVODs and best exemplified by its 
mantra, “Different – it’s the one thing we’ve all got in common”. 

It was reported that 4Studio had entered its first full year in 
operation, growing to over 80 employees, almost all based in 
Leeds, and delivering an impressive set of results. 4Studio brought 
in 11.3 billion global views in 2021, a 7.3% increase on the previous 
year. 
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The impressive array of awards picked up in 2021 was considered, 
providing confirmation of another very strong creative year, with the 
channel winning three BAFTAs, seven RTS Programme Awards, two 
Broadcast Awards, two Griersons Awards, two Rose D’or awards, 
as well as an International Emmy for Adult Material. Standout shows 
included It’s A Sin, which has collected 22 awards from both UK and 
global events to date, and We Are Lady Parts collecting five awards 
in total to date.

The Committee reflected that Channel 4 had created several 
moments of shared national joy by bringing major sporting events 
to a free-to-air audience, including Test Cricket for the first time in 
16 years, and the momentous US Open Tennis final, building on its 
widely admired coverage of Formula 1, Rugby Union and the 
Paralympic Games. Broadcasting Emma Raducanu’s win, secured 
through an innovative deal with Amazon, peaked at 9.6 million (the 
biggest broadcast of the year) and delivered Channel 4’s best daily 
share since 2012. 

The positive impact of new bases in the Nations and Regions on the 
channel’s creative output was reviewed, with 67% of main channel 
first-run origination hours in 2021 coming from the Nations and 
Regions. It was also taken into consideration that operational 
progress in the Nations and Regions had also continued apace, 
despite the constraints of the pandemic. Nearly 400 roles were 
now based outside London (versus the original target of 300 by 
2023), with this number forecast to grow significantly in 2022, 
mainly through 4Studio. 

The Committee considered how this commitment to the Nations 
and Regions had also been reflected in Channel 4’s work with the 
production sector. The flagship Production Training Scheme had 
been relaunched, with a new cohort focused on Nations and 
Regions indies for the first time and exceptionally strong in terms of 
diversity and inclusion. The 4Skills programme had also made 
considerable progress over the last 12 months with over 30 
apprentices working in the business and 50% of these in the 
Nations and Regions. Plans are in place for a further increase in this 
activity for 2022, creating over 15,000 training, development and 
learning opportunities for young people. 

The Committee discussed the opportunity presented by the Tokyo 
2020 Paralympics to advance diversity in front of and behind the 
camera, with disabled presenters making up 70% of the  
on-screen team. Coverage of the Games was delivered in the face 
of profound uncertainty and unprecedented restrictions on 
movement both in Japan and the UK, and in total Channel 4’s 
coverage reached 19.7 million people, 32% of the TV population.

The Black to Front Project was also a world first: an entire day of 
programming in which every show featured only Black talent and 
contributors – from The Big Breakfast to Unapologetic, via a 
number of Channel 4 favourites. The Committee noted the legacy of 
both the Paralympics and the Black to Front Project as a 
springboard for new commitments both in 2022 and beyond, to 
make lasting change in the representation of ethnically diverse and 
disabled talent in the industry. 

The Committee considered the significant impact of the broadcast 
issues the channel experienced during the autumn, both within the 
organisation and on its viewers. This underlined the need for reform 
in technical capability, investment and culture to ensure greater 
resilience in the future. It was noted that certain key teams in the 
business had worked under enormous pressure for a very 
prolonged period of time and under very difficult conditions, simply 
to keep the channel broadcasting. However, the Committee also 
acknowledged the frustration and disappointment the outage 
caused for those who rely on Channel 4’s access services, noting 
that while the channel took the issue of access services very 
seriously, it had fallen short in this instance. 

Despite remote working making inclusion and diversity even more 
challenging than normal, the good progress made in 2021 was 
acknowledged by the Committee, with the position at the end of 
2021 currently tracking ahead on the path to 2023 targets, with the 
now right to add a pillar on socio-economic diversity to the existing 
framework, and to shift employee focus to inclusion and the 4Skills 
programme. 

A return to offices post-Covid had been proactively managed with a 
clearly communicated 50/50 approach, supporting employees 
through the innate complexities of the current working situation, 
and keeping their safety at the heart of all decisions. 

After careful and detailed consideration, the Committee 
recommended that it was appropriate to set the award for 2021 at 
the maximum opportunity under the Corporate Variable Pay 
Scheme, as a reflection of Channel 4 staff’s commitment and 
dedication in achieving another impressive year of creative, 
commercial and financial performance, in the face of the significant 
challenges 2021 presented.
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Advertising Sales Scheme
Staff working within advertising sales have a separate Advertising 
Sales Scheme, linked to advertising revenue and paid biannually 
based on performance. They are not eligible for the Corporate 
Variable Pay Scheme.

The following provisions on this page marked with * are subject 
to audit

Variable pay awards to Executive Members*
The Committee made the following awards to Executive Members 
in respect of 2021 performance:
– Alex Mahon was awarded an amount of 80% of year-end salary 

under the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme 
– Jonathan Allan was awarded an amount of 40% of year-end 

salary under the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme 
– Ian Katz was awarded an amount of 40% of year-end salary 

under the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme

Taxable benefits*
Executive Members are eligible for a range of taxable benefits, 
which can include a pension allowance and membership of a private 
medical insurance scheme (which is provided to all staff). No 
expenses claimed by Executive Members were chargeable to UK 
income tax as they were incurred wholly for the purposes of the 
business of the Corporation.

Pension*
The Corporation has two pension schemes: a defined contribution 
scheme open to all staff, and a defined benefit scheme which is 
closed to new entrants and closed to future accrual from 
31 December 2015. Further details relating to the defined benefit 
plan are provided in note 19 to the financial statements.

All of the Executive Members received cash payments in lieu of 
pension benefits in 2021. 

Non-Executive Members are not eligible for membership of either 
pension scheme.

CEO remuneration table
The table below shows the percentage change in remuneration of 
the Members and the Corporation’s employees as a whole between 
the years 2020 and 2021:

Salary and 
fees Variable pay Total

Chief Executive Officer 7% 62% 21%
Chief Operating Officer 7% 2% 6%
Chief Content Officer 17% 14% 16%
Non-Executive Directors¹ – N/A –

All staff² -5% 2% -4% 

1 Based on fees set by Ofcom on page 210. 
2 All staff is based on average remuneration per FTE. This includes the CEO but excludes 

the costs of a small number of on-screen talent who are remunerated via Channel 4’s 
payroll. This is consistent with the information in note 4 to the financial statements.

The Executive Members’ percentage change in remuneration 
between 2020 and 2021 includes the impact of temporary 
voluntary pay cuts taken in 2020 as part of the Group’s financial 
response to the outbreak of Covid-19.

The Group is not presenting a table on CEO pay in comparison to 
Total Shareholder Return as it is a statutory corporation without 
shareholders and the requirements are therefore not applicable. 

The ratio of remuneration for the highest paid Executive Member 
(the CEO) in comparison with employees in the 25th, 50th and 75th 
percentiles is shown in note 4 to the financial statements on page 
212.

Payment for loss of office*
No payments were made for loss of office in 2021 to Executive 
Members, and at the balance sheet date there were no provisions 
made for compensation payable for early termination of contracts 
or loss of office to Executive Members.

Payment to past Members*
No payments to past Members were made in 2021. 

Members’ service contracts
Members’ service contracts are kept available for inspection at 
the Corporation’s Head Office, 124 Horseferry Road, London 
SW1P 2TX.

Relative importance of spend on pay
The graph below shows the actual expenditure of the Group and the 
change between the current and previous years.

£96m

£90m

£1,024m

£825m

Total
employee
pay (+7%)

Total cost of 
transmission 

and sales (+24%) 

2021 2020

The Members have chosen the change in total cost of transmission 
and sales as disclosed on the face of the income statement as the 
comparative measure for relative spend on pay as it is considered 
to be the most significant indicator in understanding total 
Corporation expenditure year-on-year in light of its new Future4 
strategy announced in late 2020. Employee pay was approximately 
9% (2020: 11%) of total cost of transmission and sales, with the 
decrease in this metric driven by non-staff cost levels returning to 
pre-pandemic levels following our response to Covid-19 in 2020.

Total employee pay is detailed in note 4 to the financial statements. 

This report was approved by the Board on 4 May 2022 and signed 
on its behalf by

Lord Chris Holmes
Chair of the Remuneration Committee 
4 May 2022
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Remuneration policy for 2022
The remuneration of Executive Members is determined by the Remuneration Committee, the membership and terms of reference of which 
are detailed on pages 185 to 186. In framing its remuneration policy, the Committee has given full consideration to the best practice 
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code. There have been no significant changes to the remuneration policy for 2022 except as 
noted below.

Future policy table
The following table sets out the key components of the remuneration package for Executive Members:

Component
How this supports the  
strategic aims of the Group How this operates Maximum amount payable

Performance 
measures

Salary

Offering competitive 
remuneration packages 
helps the Corporation 
attract, motivate and 
retain a high-calibre 
Executive team.

Salaries are paid monthly.

The Remuneration Committee discusses 
the performance of each Member with 
the Chair of the Board and with the Chief 
Executive for other Executive Members.

Annual salaries for the year to 31 December 
2022 are approved as follows, with 
increases in line with those awarded 
to all staff as outlined on page 186:

 – Alex Mahon – increase from £594,927 to 
£618,724 with effect from 1 March 2022

 – Ian Katz – increase from £415,550 to 
£432,172 with effect from 1 March 2022

 – Jonathan Allan – increase from £493,290 
to £513,022 with effect from 1 March 2022

Salaries are usually reviewed annually 
in the first quarter of the year. 

None.

Taxable 
benefits

The Corporation offers a range of benefits to 
all staff, including private medical insurance. 
Other benefits, such as life assurance, are 
available through a flexible benefits scheme.

The value of private medical insurance in 
2022 is expected to range from £1,000 
to £3,000 for Executive Members.

None.

Pensions The Corporation currently offers a defined 
contribution pension scheme for new staff.

Certain Executive Members also receive 
cash payments in lieu of pension benefits.

All of the Executive Members receive cash 
payments in lieu of pension benefits and are 
not members of the defined contribution 
or previous defined benefit schemes.

None.

Variable 
pay

All of the Executive team participate in the 
Corporate Variable Pay Scheme. Payout is 
determined annually by the Remuneration 
Committee shortly after the financial 
year end based on performance and 
paid in March following the year end.

The Corporate Variable Pay Scheme will 
pay between 40% and 80% of total gross 
salary for the Executive Members.

Performance 
measures of 
the schemes 
are set out 
on pages 
187 to 190.

None of the components of remuneration contain any provisions for recovery of sums paid.

There are no other differences between the Corporation’s policy on the remuneration of Executive Members and the policy on the 
remuneration of other employees.

The following table sets out the key components of the remuneration package for Non-Executive Members:

Component Purpose Operation

Fees The Non-Executive Members constructively challenge 
and help develop proposals on strategy, and bring strong, 
independent judgement, knowledge and experience to the 
Board’s deliberations.

Fees are set by Ofcom, paid monthly and 
reviewed periodically.

Annual fees for the year to 31 December 2022 
are expected to be:
Chair – £95,000
Deputy Chair – £29,940¹
Committee Chairs – £25,177
Other Non-Executive Members – £22,177

1 Reflects the standard Deputy Chair fees set by Ofcom – Deputy Chair also receives an additional fee to reflect his capacity as Committee Chair.

Non-Executive Members are appointed by Ofcom and service contracts are subject to fixed terms of a maximum of three years. Fees for 
Non-Executive Members do not contain any provisions for recovery of sums paid. No other components of remuneration are available  
for Non-Executive Members. Non-Executive Members are entitled to reimbursement of travel and accommodation expenses incurred in 
connection with attending Board and other meetings in relation to fulfilling their duties. 
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Remuneration policy framework
The Corporation looks to attract, retain and motivate the best people in the market. To be able to do this, it looks to offer a fair and 
competitive rewards package. The Committee will seek to align the remuneration package offered to new Executive Members with the 
policy, which will involve determining remuneration appropriate and necessary to recruit and retain the individual. A summary of the policy 
is set out below:

Fixed remuneration Base salary is benchmarked against the external market and broadly aligned to market median.

Variable remuneration Awards under the Corporate Variable Pay Scheme are limited to 80% of base salary for the Chief Executive and 
40% of base salary for the other Executive Members.

Benefits Executive Members are provided with private medical insurance, life assurance, Group income protection and 
health screening. All other benefits are provided on a voluntary basis.

The Corporation has a standard pension contribution scale but will consider paying a cash alternative 
depending on individual circumstances.

The Corporation will pay legal fees incurred by any new Executive Member in respect of their appointment.

Internal promotions In the event that an internal candidate was promoted to the Board, legacy terms and conditions would normally 
be honoured, including pension entitlements.

The Committee monitors the effectiveness of Executive Member remuneration and has regard to the impact and compatibility with 
remuneration policies in the wider workforce. During the year the Committee is provided with information regarding pay in the wider 
workforce which gives additional context for the Committee to make informed decisions. The Committee determines the overall approach 
for salary and variable pay for the overall workforce and similar principles are applied when considering Executive Member arrangements.

Policy on payment for loss of office
The service contracts of all the Executive Members are subject to notice periods of one year or less. The Committee’s policy is to make 
payments in line with contractual obligations covering payment in lieu of notice including base salary and other benefits.

The Remuneration Committee will consider what compensation commitments (including pension contributions and all other elements)  
the Executive Members’ terms of appointment would entail in the event of early termination. The aim of this is to avoid rewarding  
poor performance.

Illustration of application of remuneration policy 
The graphs below represent the variations in the remuneration at different levels of performance for the 2022 remuneration policy for the 
Executive Members. 
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The variable element of total remuneration in relation to ‘in line with expectations’ reflects the average award under the Corporate Variable 
Pay Scheme over the last five years.

Audited information
The Members’ Remuneration Report (pages 185 to 192), where indicated, has been audited by the Corporation’s auditor in accordance 
with Schedule 8 of the Companies Act 2006 as if those requirements were to apply to the Corporation.
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport on Channel Four 
Television Corporation 

Report on the audit of the financial statements
1. Opinion

In our opinion:
– the financial statements of Channel Four Television Corporation (the ‘Corporation’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) give a true and 

fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Corporation’s affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of the Group’s surplus for the year 
then ended;

– the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting 
standards;

– the Corporation financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

– the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (as if it were to apply 
to the Corporation).

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:
– the consolidated income statement;
– the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;
– the consolidated and Corporation statements of changes in equity;
– the consolidated and Corporation balance sheets;
– the consolidated cash flow statement;
– the Group and Corporation accounting policies;
– the related notes 1 to 21 to the consolidated financial statements; and
– the related notes 1 to 7 to the Corporation financial statements. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements is applicable law and United 
Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Corporation financial statements is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework” (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

2. Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Corporation in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied to public interest 
entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services provided to 
the Group for the year are disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements. We confirm that we have not provided any non-audit services 
prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard to the Group or the Corporation.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters The key audit matter that we identified in the current year was:
– Accounting for complex revenue contracts

Within this report, key audit matter is identified as follows:

Newly identified

Increased level of risk

Similar level of risk

Decreased level of risk

Materiality The materiality that we used for the Group financial statements was £11.0 million which was determined by 
considering two key metrics: revenue and total assets.

Scoping We audited the Group as a single component, covering 100% of net assets, revenue and profit before tax.

Significant changes 
in our approach

Owing to the increased level of audit effort involved due to Covid-19, we identified a key audit matter in relation to 
the appropriateness of the going concern basis of accounting in prior year. However, in the current year we no 
longer consider the going concern basis of accounting as a key audit matter. Other than this there have been no 
significant changes to our approach.
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4. Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the members’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation 
of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Our evaluation of the members’ assessment of the Group’s and Corporation’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting included: 
– Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s forecasting process and the preparation of management’s going concern models.
– Obtaining management’s financial models used to support its going concern assumptions and tested their numerical accuracy. 
– Assessing and challenging the evidence used to support the assumptions used by management in their base case scenario.
– Considered whether management’s range of reasonably possible downside scenarios including their severe scenario were considered 

and whether any potential mitigations were reasonable, realistic and within management’s control.
– Reading industry analyst reports, industry data and other external information, comparing these with management’s estimates to 

determine if they provided corroborative or contradictory evidence in relation to management’s assumptions. 
– Reviewing the revolving credit facility documents (including the new revolving credit facility issued post year-end) to understand the 

nature of any financial covenants to determine the impact on the going concern assessment. 
– Assessing the amount of liquidity and covenant headroom available in management’s forecasts.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually 
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least 
twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In relation to the reporting on how the Group has applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have nothing material to add or draw 
attention to in relation to the member’ statement in the financial statements about whether the members considered it appropriate to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the members with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this 
report.

5. Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements 
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we 
identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the 
audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
 

5.1. Accounting for complex revenue contracts 

Key audit matter 
description

The Corporation earns a significant portion of its revenues from TV advertising, for which most contracts are 
straightforward. There is a small sub set of contracts which have complex terms, and which aren’t settled with a 
traditional cash payment, or have other commitments required to be made by the Corporation in exchange for 
advertising airtime. 

There is significant judgement, that these agreements, as a result of their complex and unusual nature and the 
material amounts involved, are accounted for or disclosed incorrectly. We therefore identified a key audit matter 
relating to the accounting for complex revenue contracts.

The amount of revenue to which our key audit matter relates is £47.7 million (2020: £27 million). The Corporation’s 
policy in relation to this is included in the group accounting policies on page 206. Refer to page 183 where this is 
included as a significant matter in the Audit Committee report.

Independent auditor’s report  
(continued)



195

How the scope 
of our audit 
responded to the 
key audit matter

We analysed a statistical sample of contracts to identify complex contracts with non-standard contractual terms. 

We obtained an understanding and tested relevant controls around the recognition of revenue relating to these 
complex contracts. 

For those contracts that were identified as complex, we assessed whether the accounting treatment for these 
contracts was in line with their terms, the Corporation’s accounting policy and relevant accounting standards 
including IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

We tested a sample of revenue transactions by tracing to signed agreements and internal management approvals 
and tracing the revenue through to revenue transmission data to determine whether these had been aired.

We assessed the fair value of the consideration received by agreeing to programming contracts.

We assessed management’s financial statement disclosures against the requirements of IFRS 15.

Key observations We consider the accounting applied and the disclosure to be in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers and the Corporation’s accounting policy. We are satisfied the valuation of consideration related 
to the complex revenue arrangements was appropriate and in line with the fair value requirements of IFRS 13 Fair 
Value Measurement.

6. Our application of materiality
6.1. Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a 
reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in 
evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group and Corporation-only financial statements

Materiality £11.0 million (2020: £9.0 million) Since there are no components within the Group there is no 
requirement for Corporation only materiality to be set at lower than the materiality level of the Group.

Basis for determining materiality We determined materiality by considering two key metrics: revenue and total assets. The determined 
materiality equates to 0.95% of revenue (2020: 0.96%) and 1.10% of total assets (2020: 0.95%). 
This approach is in line with the prior year.

Rationale for the 
benchmark applied

We considered the use of a number of different measures including revenue and total assets, as these 
benchmarks take into account both balance sheet and income statement metrics. Total assets 
provides a representation of the size of the business, and reflects the investment in programme 
content and film rights. Therefore, we consider it to be a key metric of interest to the users of the 
financial statements. Since the Corporation’s aim is to reinvest surpluses into original content and 
digital innovation, we also consider revenue to be a key metric of interest to the users of the financial 
statements. 

6.2. Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole. 

Group and Corporation-only financial statements

Performance Materiality Group and Corporation performance materiality was set at 70% of Group (and Corporation) 
materiality (2020: 70%). 

Basis for determining materiality In determining performance materiality, we considered the following factors:
–  Our risk assessment, including the quality of the control environment; and
–  Our experience of the audit, which has indicated a low number of corrected and uncorrected 

misstatements in prior periods.

6.3. Error reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £550,000 (2020: 
£450,000), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We also report to the 
Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Independent auditor’s report  
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7. An overview of the scope of our audit
7.1. Identification and scoping of components
Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment, including internal control, and assessing the risks 
of material misstatement. Audit work to respond to risks of material misstatements was performed directly by the audit engagement team.

The Group maintains a single aggregated set of accounting records for all of its operations and we therefore audited the entire Group as a 
single component, covering 100% of net assets, revenue and profit before tax. For the audit of the Corporation, management 
deconsolidated the Group financial information to identify the relevant Corporation-only balances and transactions such as intercompany 
balances.

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment 
In assessing the control environment of the Group, we obtained an understanding of the relevant IT controls associated with the Group’s 
key accounting and reporting system. We gained an understanding of the relevant controls associated with certain business processes, 
being transactional advertising revenue, revenue in relation to complex contracts, programme inventory, payroll, trade payables and trade 
receivables. 

On IT systems related to the processing of transactional advertising revenue and programme inventory, we identified control deficiencies 
which resulted in us not being able to rely on controls in our audit. During 2021, management implemented new compensating controls in 
the transactional advertising revenue cycle. We have performed procedures to understand these controls and plan to take a controls 
reliance approach for the 2022 audit when the controls will be in place for the full period. 

7.3. Our consideration of climate-related risks 
Climate change has the potential to impact the Group as set out on pages 149 to 155 and page 161 of the Annual Report. The Group remains 
committed to a transition to net zero, by setting and achieving both near-term and long-term science-based emission reduction targets to 
provide a pathway to net zero by 2030. 

In the planning of our audit, we have considered the potential impact of climate change on the Group’s business and its financial 
statements. 

We have sought to understand the Group’s identification and assessment of the potential impacts of climate change, how these risks 
influence the Group’s strategy and their implications on the financial statements.

We have not been engaged to provide assurance over the accuracy of climate change disclosures set out on pages 149 to 155 in the Annual 
Report. As part of our audit procedures, we are required to read these disclosures to consider whether they are materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or knowledge obtained in the audit. We did not identify any material inconsistencies as a result of these 
procedures.

8. Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The members are responsible for the other information 
contained within the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to 
report in this regard.
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9. Responsibilities of members
As explained more fully in the members’ responsibilities statement, the members are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the members determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the members are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Corporation’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
members either intend to liquidate the Group or the Corporation or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10.	Auditor’s	responsibilities	for	the	audit	of	the	financial	statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our 
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. 

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-compliance with laws and 
regulations, we considered the following:
– the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the design of the Group’s remuneration 

policies, key drivers for members’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;
– results of our enquiries of management, business assurance and the Audit Committee about their own identification and assessment of 

the risks of irregularities; 
– any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group’s documentation of their policies and procedures relating to:

– identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance;
– detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;
– the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations;

– the matters discussed among the audit engagement team regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements and 
any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and 
identified the greatest potential for fraud in the accounting for and disclosure of complex revenue transactions. In common with all audits 
under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the Group operates in, focusing on provisions of those laws 
and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws 
and regulations we considered in this context included the Broadcasting Act 1990, the Communications Act 2003, the UK Companies Act 
and Listing rules (as if they were to apply to the Group), pensions legislation and tax legislation.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but 
compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. The key laws and regulations we 
considered in this context included compliance with the Ofcom Broadcasting Code, Ofcom on-demand rules, and Advertising Standards 
Agency guidelines.

Independent auditor’s report  
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11.2. Audit response to risks identified
As a result of performing the above, we identified accounting for complex revenue contracts as a key audit matter related to the potential 
risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of our report explains the matter in more detail and also describes the specific procedures we 
performed in response to that key audit matter. 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:
– reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with provisions of relevant 

laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;
– enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims;
– performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of material misstatement 

due to fraud;
– reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing Business Assurance reports and reviewing correspondence 

with HMRC and summaries of correspondence with Ofcom; and
– in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of journal entries and other 

adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating 
the business rationale of any significant transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team members including 
internal specialists, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the part of the members’ remuneration report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006, as if that Act were to apply to the Corporation.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
– the information given in the strategic report and the members’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 

prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
– the strategic report and the members’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Corporation and their environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the members’ report.

13. Corporate Governance Statement

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have concluded that each of the following elements of the Corporate 
Governance Statement is materially consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge obtained during the audit: 
– the report of the members with regards to the appropriateness of adopting the going concern basis of accounting and any material 

uncertainties identified set out on page 171; 
– the members’ explanation as to its assessment of the group’s prospects, the period this assessment covers and why the period is 

appropriate set out on page 165;
– the members’ statement on fair, balanced and understandable set out on page 172;
– the board’s confirmation that it has carried out a robust assessment of the emerging and principal risks set out on page 165;
– the section of the annual report that describes the review of effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems set out 

on pages 157 to 164; and the section describing the work of the Audit & Risk Committee set out on pages 181 to 184.

14. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
14.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the terms of our engagement we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
– we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
– adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Corporation, or returns adequate for our audit 

have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
– the Corporation financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

 

We have nothing to report in 
respect of these matters.

14.2. Members’ remuneration
Under the terms of are engagement we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of 
members’ remuneration have not been made or the part of the members’ remuneration report to be 
audited is not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in 
respect of these matters.
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15. Other matters which we are required to address 
15.1. Auditor tenure
We were appointed with the approval of the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport on 10 August 2017 to audit the financial 
statements for the year ending 31 December 2017 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement 
including previous renewals and reappointments of the firm is five years, covering the years ending 31 December 2017 to 31 December 
2021.

15.2. Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit Committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee we are required to provide in accordance with ISAs (UK).

16. Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport, in accordance with the Broadcasting Act 1990 and the 
terms of our engagement. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and 
Sport those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, 
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Corporation and the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport, 
for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Kate J Houldsworth FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
London, UK
4 May 2022
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December

Note
2021

£m
2020

£m

Revenue 1 1,164 934
Cost of transmission and sales 2 (1,024) (825)

Gross surplus 140 109

Other operating expenditure 3 (38) (38)

Operating surplus 102 71

Net finance expense 5 (1) (2)
Gain on sale of investments 7, 8 1 5
Impairment losses on investments 7 (1) –

Surplus before tax 101 74

Income tax expense 6 (12) (5)

Surplus for the year 89 69

Consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income
for the year ended 31 December

Note
2021

£m
2020

£m

Surplus for the year 89 69

Net remeasurement surplus on pension scheme 19 30 4
Revaluation of freehold land and buildings 9 2 (4)
Deferred tax on pension scheme 12 (4) –
Loss on revaluation of investments 7, 8 (3) (2)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 25 (2)

Total comprehensive income for the year 114 67

None of the items in other comprehensive income/expense will be reclassified to the income statement.
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Consolidated statement of changes 
in equity
for the year ended 31 December

Retained 
earnings

£m

Revaluation 
reserve

£m

Total  
equity

£m

At 1 January 2020 329 56 385

Surplus for the year 69 – 69
Other comprehensive income/(expense) 2 (4) (2)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 71 (4) 67

At 31 December 2020 400 52 452

At 1 January 2021 400 52 452

Surplus for the year 89 – 89
Other comprehensive income 23 2 25

Total comprehensive income for the year 112 2 114

At 31 December 2021 512 54 566
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Consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December

Note
2021

£m
2020

£m

Assets
Investments accounted for using the equity method 7 8 6
Other investments 8 34 20
Property, plant and equipment 9 111 106
Right-of-use assets 11 10 12
Intangible assets 10 28 28
Deferred tax assets 12 17 26

Total non-current assets 208 198

Programme and film rights 13 299 240
Trade and other receivables 14 224 229
Other financial assets 15 115 110
Cash and cash equivalents 15 157 166

Total current assets 795 745

Total assets 1,003 943

Liabilities
Employee benefits – pensions 19 (29) (68)
Lease liabilities 11 (10) (12)
Deferred tax liabilities 12 (6) (5)

Total non-current liabilities (45) (85)

Trade and other payables 16 (389) (326)
Current tax payable – (3)
Provisions 17 (3) (2)
Borrowings 15 – (75)

Total current liabilities (392) (406)

Total liabilities (437) (491)

Net assets 566 452

Revaluation reserve 54 52
Retained earnings 512 400

Total equity 566 452

The financial statements on pages 204 to 230 were approved by the Members of the Board on 4 May 2022 and were signed on its  
behalf by:

Sir Ian Cheshire     Alex Mahon
Chair      Chief Executive
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Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December

Note
2021

£m
2020

£m

Cash flow from operating activities
Surplus for the year 89 69

Adjustments for:
Income tax expense 6 12 5
Depreciation 9, 11 7 8
Amortisation of intangibles 10 2 2
Net finance expense 5 1 2
Gain on sale of investments 7, 8 (1) (5)
Impairment losses on investments 7, 8 1 –

111 81

(Increase)/decrease in programme and film rights 13 (59) 51
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 14 5 (50)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 16 63 (6)
Increase in provisions, excluding unwinding of discounts 17 1 –

121 76

Defined benefit pension contributions 19 (10) (9)
Tax paid 6 (8) (5)

Net cash flow from operating activities 103 62

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of investments 7, 8, 21 (22) (9)
Proceeds on sale of investments 7, 8 3 15
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9 (9) (3)
Internally developed software 10 (3) –
Interest received and foreign exchange gain 5 – –
Decrease in other financial assets1 15 (5) (103)

Net cash flow from investing activities (36) (100)

Cash flow from financing activities
(Repayment of)/Proceeds from borrowings 15 (75) 75
IFRS 16 payments on lease principal 11 (1) (1)

Net cash flow from financing activities (76) 74

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (9) 36
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 166 130

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 157 166

1 Amounts invested in term deposits of three months or longer and other funds with time-restricted access.
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Group accounting policies

Introduction 
Channel Four Television Corporation (‘Channel 4’) is a statutory 
corporation domiciled in the United Kingdom. The consolidated 
financial statements of Channel 4 for the year ended 31 December 
2021 comprise Channel 4 and its subsidiaries (together referred to 
as the ‘Group’) and the Group’s investments accounted for using 
the equity method. Channel 4’s Corporation financial statements 
present information relating to Channel 4 as a separate entity and 
not about its Group. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Members 
on 4 May 2022. The registered office of Channel 4 is 124 Horseferry 
Road, London SW1P 2TX.

Basis of preparation
The financial statements of the Group have been prepared and 
approved by the Members in accordance with international 
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006. The Corporation’s individual financial 
statements have been prepared under the Financial Reporting 
Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’.

The financial statements as a whole have been prepared in a 
form directed by the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media 
and Sport with the approval of HM Treasury, and are principally 
prepared under the historical cost convention (except that freehold 
properties, derivatives and certain financial instruments are stated 
at fair value). In line with IFRS 13, fair value is defined as the price 
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

The financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, rounded 
to the nearest million.

Critical accounting judgements and sources of estimation 
uncertainty
In applying the Group’s accounting policies (as described in this 
section), the Members are required to make judgements (other than 
those involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the 
amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical accounting judgements
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving 
estimations (which are presented separately below), that the 
Members have made in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in financial statements:
– The following aspects of our programme and film rights policy 

require judgement (see further detail on page 208):
– The transmission profile over which to amortise programme 

and film rights
– Assessment of programme value with reference to the quality 

of programme that has ultimately been delivered and its 
expected viewing performance

– Assessment of the future revenues from distribution when 
evaluating the carrying value of film rights held for exploitation

– Management’s application of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ requires 
judgement regarding the classification of transponder contracts 
under the standard. Management has concluded that these 
contracts do not constitute leases under the definition given by 
IFRS 16, as the Group does not control these assets due to the 
nature of the operation of these assets and due to certain rights 
which the supplier retains based on the detailed terms provided 
in the contracts. Further details of these contracts (including 
remaining term and estimated payments) are disclosed in 
note 18.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
No key sources of estimation uncertainty were noted during the 
reporting period. 

Alternative performance measures
In reporting financial information the Group presents alternative 
performance measures (‘APMs’) which are not defined or specified 
under the requirements of IFRS. The Group believes that the 
presentation of APMs provides stakeholders with additional and 
helpful information on the performance of the business, but does 
not consider them to be a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS 
measures. APMs are also used to enhance the comparability of 
information between reporting periods, by adjusting for 
uncontrollable factors which affect IFRS measures, to aid users 
in understanding the Group’s performance. 
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As a reflection of the draw down of our revolving credit facility in 
March 2020, the Group introduced net cash reserves as an APM 
during 2020 which reflects the sum of the Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents and other financial assets, net of cash borrowings at 
the balance sheet date. While all borrowings were repaid during 
2021, this measure has been retained for the purposes of prior year 
comparison. This measure does not reflect the impact of other debt 
held on the balance sheet such as lease liabilities under IFRS 16. 
This provides stakeholders with additional relevant information 
relating to the overall cash resources available to the Group, not 
only those categorised as cash and cash equivalents. This APM is 
calculated in 2021 and 2020 as follows:

2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents 157 166

Other financial assets 115 110

Borrowings – (75)

Net cash reserves 272 201

Going concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis as the Members have a reasonable expectation that 
the Group will continue in operational existence, as set out in the 
Report of the Members. As noted on page 165, Channel 4 has 
delivered a record financial result for the second year running, 
further reinforcing its balance sheet position and ability to 
withstand future economic risks. 

As part of our 2022 Budget and three-year plan, we have 
considered the impact of several potential downside scenarios. 
These include a decline in the linear and digital advertising market 
beyond what we currently anticipate; a broader market shock in line 
with that experienced in 2020; or lower than expected benefits 
from implementing our Future4 strategy. Even in the most severe 
case considered (deemed plausible but beyond the worst-case 
scenario currently anticipated by management), analysis shows that 
our contingency plans would mitigate these impacts to ensure we 
retain sufficient liquidity and remain within our covenants.
 
Our £75 million revolving credit facility increases our available 
liquidity if required, although even in the worst-case scenario 
considered in our analysis this additional funding would not be 
utilised. This facility was renewed in March 2022 and now runs until 
March 2027. This ensures access to this facility is available, if 
required, across the full 12-month period under consideration in 
assessing the Group’s status as a going concern. 

Our scenario analysis and the resources available to Channel 4 
indicate that the Group will be able to continue to operate for at 
least 12 months from the date that this Annual Report is approved. 
Accordingly, the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing its financial statements. 

Basis of consolidation 
A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. Control 
exists when the Group has exposure, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the investee by 
directing the relevant activities of the investee (i.e. the activities 
that significantly affect the investee’s returns). The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences to 
the date that control ceases. 

The Corporation financial statements note where the Members 
have taken the exemption under Companies Act s479A from having 
an audit of the financial statements for certain subsidiaries 
controlled and consolidated by the Group.

Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for 
using the equity method. Associates are those entities over which 
the Group has significant influence. Where the Group holds 20% 
or more of the voting power (directly or through subsidiaries) of an 
investee, it will be presumed the Group has significant influence 
unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is not the case. If the 
holding is less than 20%, it will be presumed the Group does not 
have significant influence unless such influence can be clearly 
demonstrated. Significant influence exists when the Group has 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee but does not have control or joint 
control of those policies.

Joint arrangements are those entities over whose activities 
the Group has joint control. Joint control is established by a 
contractual agreement whereby the decisions about the relevant 
activities (i.e. the activities that significantly affect the investee’s 
returns) of the entity require the unanimous consent of the two 
or more parties sharing joint control of the arrangement. A joint 
venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have 
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of 
the arrangement.

Under equity accounting, the consolidated financial statements 
include the Group’s share of the total recognised gains and losses 
of associates and joint ventures on an equity accounted basis, 
from the date that significant influence or joint control commences 
until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases or 
until the associate or joint venture is classified as held for sale.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an 
associate or joint venture, the Group’s carrying amount is 
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued, 
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of 
an associate or joint venture.

Intra-Group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or 
income and expense arising from intra-Group transactions are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates and 
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest 
in the equity. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as 
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence 
of impairment.

Group accounting policies  
(continued)
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Accounting policies
A summary of the Group and Channel 4 significant accounting 
policies that are material in the context of the financial statements 
is set out on the next page. All accounting policies have been 
applied consistently in all material respects to all periods 
presented in these financial statements.

There are no new standards that became effective during 2021 that 
have had a significant effect on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group. 

There are no new standards that will become effective during 2022 
that are expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group.

Revenue recognition 
Revenues are stated net of value added tax and are recognised 
when a contract with a customer has been identified and as each of 
the Group’s performance obligations are fulfilled. Contract assets 
and liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet as accrued and 
deferred income, respectively. Each of the Group’s significant 
revenues are recognised as described below:

Linear and digital advertising revenues
Revenues are stated net of advertising agency commissions 
and rebates.

Linear and digital advertising revenue are recognised on 
transmission of the advertisement. Revenue from sponsorship of 
the Group’s programmes and films is recognised on a straight-line 
basis in accordance with the transmission schedule for each 
sponsorship campaign, reflecting the satisfaction of the Group’s 
performance obligations.

Commission revenue earned from advertising representation 
for third parties is recognised on transmission of the related 
advertisements in line with contractual arrangements. Following 
the adoption of IFRS 15 ‘Revenues from Contracts with Customers’ 
the Group reviewed its treatment of this revenue stream, concluding 
that it does not control the specified goods or services in these 
transactions before they are transferred to the customer, and 
therefore acts as an agent for these parties. The gross advertising 
sales of these arrangements are not recognised in revenue, but the 
commission earned by the Group in its capacity as agent is.

Revenues are recognised from barter and other similar contractual 
arrangements involving advertising when the services exchanged are 
dissimilar. Revenues are measured with reference to the fair value of 
the goods or services received. Judgement is required in assessing 
the fair value of the goods or services received. The total recognised 
for such revenues in 2021 is £63 million (2020: £44 million). 

Non-advertising revenues
Revenues earned from syndicating content to third-party online 
platforms are typically generated from some or all of the following 
contractual arrangements:
– Licence fee income – revenue is recognised on a straight-line 

basis over the contract term as performance obligations are met
– Pence-per-view or revenue share – revenues are calculated 

based on the number of content views and are recognised 
when the amounts can be reliably measured

Revenues generated from the exploitation of programme rights are 
recognised when the rights are transferred to the customer, reflecting 
the fact that the Group’s performance obligations have been fulfilled.

Revenues generated from the exploitation of developed film rights 
(for example, from theatrical box office releases) are recognised 
when revenues can be reliably measured.

The Group’s contracts with customers do not contain significant 
financing components or material aspects of variable 
consideration.

Segment reporting
IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ requires the segment information 
presented in the financial statements to be that which is used 
internally by the chief operating decision maker to evaluate 
performance and allocate resources. 

The Group has determined that the Board of Members is its chief 
operating decision maker, and the financial statements are 
presented in aggregate as a single operating segment consistent with 
how the Board evaluates performance and allocates resources.

Taxation 
Tax on the surplus or deficit for the year comprises current and 
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income, in which case it is also recognised directly 
in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for 
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 
of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

The following temporary differences are not provided for: the 
initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets and 
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other 
than in a business combination, and differences relating to 
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent 
that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected 
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets 
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the asset can be utilised.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
Investments in associates and joint ventures are recognised using 
the equity method, where the investment is recorded at cost 
and adjusted thereafter to include the Group’s share of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income and dividends received. 

Group accounting policies  
(continued)
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Other investments
Other investments includes equity holdings without significant 
influence. Equity investments are normally carried at fair 
value in accordance with IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’. 
Level 1 and Level 2 inputs under IFRS 13 can be obtained for 
certain investments and used where available assessing their 
fair value. Where only Level 3 inputs are available (that is, 
where an active market value or other observable indicators 
of fair value cannot be obtained), the investment is recorded 
at cost less provision for impairment. The Members believe 
that this valuation reflects a reasonable approximation of fair 
value. On adopting IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ during 2018 
the Group elected to recognise any changes in the fair value 
of the Commercial Growth Fund investments through other 
comprehensive income, reflecting the fact that the management 
of these investments is not part of the Group’s core activities.

Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land and buildings are stated at open market valuation 
(fair value, using Level 2 inputs per IFRS 13) and are revalued at 
31 December each year. Directions from the Secretary of State for 
Digital, Culture, Media and Sport require freehold land and 
buildings to be valued at current value. The Members believe that 
the fair open market value approximates the current value.

Any gain arising from a change in fair value is recognised directly 
in other comprehensive income, unless the gain reverses an 
impairment of the same asset previously recognised in the income 
statement, in which case it is also recognised in the income 
statement. Any loss arising from a change in fair value is charged 
directly to other comprehensive income to the extent of any 
credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus of that asset. 
Otherwise, the loss is recognised in the income statement.

Fixtures, fittings and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost 
or valuation of the asset evenly, on a straight-line basis, over its 
estimated useful life. Useful lives are estimated taking into account 
the rate of technological change and the intensity of use of each 
asset. The annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold buildings 2%
Computer hardware 25%–50%
Office equipment and fixtures and fittings 25%
Technical equipment 14%–25%

Freehold land is not depreciated.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed 
for impairment when events or other changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. Where 
an indicator of impairment exists, an estimate is made of the 
recoverable amount. Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to the recoverable amount.

Intangible assets
Expenditure on internally developed computer software applications 
is capitalised to the extent that the project is technically and 
commercially feasible, sufficient resources exist to complete the 
development and it is probable that the asset will generate future 
economic benefits. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost 
of software licences, direct staff costs and consultancy costs.

Amortisation of capitalised software development costs is charged 
to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets from the date that they are available for 
use. For capitalised computer software, the estimated useful life is 
between two and five years.

Other intangible assets acquired by the Group, including 
network distribution rights, are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and any provision for impairment. Network 
distribution rights are amortised over an estimated useful life of 
16 years. Broadcast licences are amortised over a useful life of 
seven years. Where assets are considered to have finite lives, 
amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful life. Brand intangibles are deemed 
to have an indefinite useful life and are tested annually 
for impairment.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of an entity represents the 
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the  
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the entity recognised at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and subsequently 
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is not subject to amortisation but is tested annually 
for impairment.

A gain realised on bargain purchase arising on the acquisition of an 
entity represents the excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
of the entity recognised at the date of acquisition over the cost 
of acquisition.

Any gain realised on bargain purchase is recognised in the income 
statement in the year that it arises.

Impairment
An impairment charge is recognised if the carrying value of 
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment charges are recognised in the 
income statement (with the exception of impairments which 
the Group has elected to recognise in other comprehensive 
income under IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’).

The carrying values of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each 
balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication  
of impairment. If such an indication exists, the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of an asset is the 
greater of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Value 
in use is determined by discounting the future net cash flows for 
the specific asset, or if the asset does not generate independent 
cash flows, the discounted future net cash flows for the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs.

Estimates are used in deriving these cash flows and the discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the risks specific  
to the asset and the time value of money. The complexity of the 
estimation process, including projected performance, the discount 
rate and long-term growth rate applied, affects the value in use 
calculation and amounts reported in the financial statements.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets 
that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

Group accounting policies  
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Reversal of impairments
An impairment charge in respect of freehold land and buildings is 
reversed in the event of a subsequent increase in fair value. Such a 
gain is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the gain 
reverses an impairment of the same asset previously recognised 
in the income statement, in which case it is also recognised in the 
income statement. An impairment charge in respect of goodwill is 
not reversed. In respect of other assets, an impairment charge is 
reversed when there is an indication that the impairment may no 
longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount.

Programme and film rights
All programme and film rights are valued at the lower of the direct 
cost incurred up to the balance sheet date and value to the Group. 
Development expenditure is included in programme and film rights 
after charging any expenditure that is not expected to lead to a 
commissioned programme, or a ‘greenlit’ film, directly to the 
income statement.

Programme	and	acquired	film	rights
Direct cost
Direct cost is defined as payments made or due to programme 
suppliers.

Payments for programme and film rights made in advance of taking 
delivery and/or of the legal right to broadcast the programmes 
are recorded in programme and film rights, but are separately 
identified as in the course of production. Before being included 
in programme rights, the rights are disclosed as contractual 
commitments (see note 18).

Value to the Group
Consistent with Channel 4’s business model, in which programmes 
that generate more revenue cross-subsidise programmes with a 
higher public but sometimes lower commercial value, the value to 
the Group of the programme and acquired film rights portfolio is 
assessed on an aggregate basis.

This assessment is overlaid by an evaluation of individual 
programmes when there is an indicator that the value of these 
specific programmes may be less than originally envisaged. 
Value to the Group of individual programmes is assessed both 
qualitatively and quantitatively, with reference to the quality of 
programme that has ultimately been delivered and its expected 
viewing performance.

In certain instances Channel 4 is committed to funding the acquisition 
or production of specific programmes where the value to the Group 
no longer warrants the level of expenditure to which the Group is 
committed. In these instances provision is first made against the 
costs incurred to date and then a liability recognised to reflect the 
unavoidable costs in relation to the remaining commitment.

Amortisation
Programme and acquired film rights are exploited by transmission 
on the Channel 4 suite of channels and availability on the Group’s 
All 4 platform. The cost of broadcast programmes and acquired 
films are wholly written off on first transmission, except for certain 
feature films, sports rights and certain acquired series, the costs 
of which are written off over more than one transmission in line 
with the expected value to the Group. Content exclusive to All 4 
is written off in line with the anticipated viewing profile.

Developed	film	rights
Direct cost
Direct cost is defined as payments made or due to the film producer.

Rights are recorded on the balance sheet when the Group commits 
to financing a film. 

Value to the Group
Developed film rights are exploited both through broadcast on 
Channel 4’s suite of channels and through distribution.

Broadcast film rights are assessed in the same way as programme 
and acquired film rights.

To the extent that developed film rights are expected to generate 
revenue, where Channel 4’s share of distribution revenues the 
film is anticipated to earn does not support the associated cost 
held within inventory, provision is made. The main assumptions 
employed to estimate future distribution revenues are minimum 
guaranteed contracted revenues and sales forecasts by territory.

Amortisation
Developed film rights expected to generate future revenues from 
distribution are held on the balance sheet and expensed to the 
income statement in the proportion that the revenue in the year 
bears to the estimated ultimate revenue, after provision for any 
anticipated shortfall. Management has rebutted the presumption 
under IAS 38 ‘Intangible Assets’ and concluded that a revenue-
based amortisation profile is appropriate for developed film rights 
as the revenue and consumption of economic benefits embodied 
in the film rights are highly correlated and management does not 
consider there to be any methodology that is more appropriate.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are reflected net of any expected 
credit loss. For trade and other receivables with a remaining life 
of less than one year, the Group applies the practical expedient 
under IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ to assume that there is 
no significant financing component, and the receivables are 
therefore measured at the transaction price. All other receivables 
are recognised at fair value, estimated as the present value of 
future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at 
the reporting date. The adoption of IFRS 9 in 2018 did not have 
a material impact on the value of the Group’s trade and other 
receivables as it has no significant record of historical credit losses. 

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are due for payment in less than one year. 
Trade and other payables are recognised based on contractual 
cash flows, and no differences have been identified between 
the book value of trade and other payables and their fair value. 

Other financial assets
Other financial assets comprise deposits of three or more months’ 
duration and other funds with time-restricted access, and are 
stated at fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits 
of less than three months’ duration from the date of placement, 
including money market funds repayable on demand.

Group accounting policies  
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Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance 
sheet date are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at 
that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation 
are recognised in the income statement.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group transacts primarily in Sterling but also in Euros and US 
Dollars. Certain exposures to fluctuations in exchange rates are 
managed by transactions in the forward foreign exchange markets. 
These derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value based 
on quoted market rates. Changes in the fair value of these derivative 
financial instruments are recognised in the income statement. The 
Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for 
trading purposes.

Channel 4 has not sought to apply hedge accounting treatment 
for any of its foreign exchange hedging activity in either of the 
years presented. As a result, changes in the fair value of hedging 
instruments have been recognised in the income statement as 
they have arisen.

Where Channel 4 has identified forward foreign exchange  
derivative instruments within certain contracts (embedded 
derivatives), these have been included in the balance sheet at fair 
value. Fair value of these derivatives is determined by reference 
to quoted market rates. The value of the derivatives is reviewed 
on an annual basis or when the relevant contract matures.

Leases
The Group adopted the lessee accounting model required 
under IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ on 1 January 2019. This removes the 
distinction between finance leases and operating leases 
previously reflected in the Group’s accounting policy. 

On adoption of the standard (and at the inception of subsequent 
new leases) a right-of-use asset is recognised in the Group’s 
financial statements reflecting its right to control the underlying 
lease assets and use them to generate future economic benefits. 
A corresponding lease liability is also recognised in line with the 
principal and interest to be repaid over the lease term. These 
amounts are determined based on the present value of the 
minimum lease payments to be made over the contract term, 
discounted using the rate implicit in the lease if this can be 
determined, and otherwise using the Group’s incremental 
borrowing rate. 

The Group subsequently recognises depreciation relating to the 
right-of-use asset, as well as interest accrued on the lease liability, 
in the income statement. 

The Group applies practical expedients provided in IFRS 16 to 
exclude short-term and low-value lease contracts from the new 
accounting model, and these are presented as operating costs.

Employee benefits – pensions
Defined	benefit	scheme
The Group maintains a defined benefit pension scheme. The net 
obligation under the scheme is calculated by estimating the future 
benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the 
current and prior periods, discounting to determine a value at today’s 
prices, and deducting the fair value of scheme assets at bid price. 
The assumed discount rate for the liabilities is the current rate of 
return of high-quality corporate bonds with similar maturity dates.

The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method.

Remeasurement gains and losses that arise in calculating 
the Group’s obligation in respect of the plan are recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income within the statement 
of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 
The finance cost is recognised in the income statement.

Defined	contribution	scheme
Obligations under the Group’s defined contribution scheme are 
recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is 
significant, provisions are determined by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability.

Before provisions are established in relation to onerous contracts, 
impairment reviews are carried out and impairment charges 
recognised on assets dedicated to the contract.

Group accounting policies  
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Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements

1. Revenue
2021

£m
2020

£m

Linear advertising revenue 835 689
Digital advertising revenue 224 161
Non-advertising revenue 105 84

Total revenue 1,164 934

Gross revenues from transactions with one individual external customer comprised more than 10% of the Group’s revenues in 2021, 
amounting to £122 million (2020: £103 million). The Group’s major customers are all media buying agencies. Approximately 5% of the 
Group’s revenues (2020: 5%) are attributable to external customers outside the UK and these are therefore not separately presented.

The Group has material contracts with customers with a duration of more than one year, relating to partnerships and distribution of 
channels and services. The aggregate amount of the transaction price for these contracts allocated to performance obligations which are 
still unfulfilled as at 31 December 2021 is £105 million (2020: £70 million). The Group expects to recognise £33 million of revenue relating 
to these performance obligations in 2021 (2020: £27 million to be recognised in 2021), with the remainder recognised on a straight-line 
basis until 2023. 

The Group recognised £30 million of revenue during 2021 that was recorded as a contract liability at the previous year end (2020: £28 
million).

2. Cost of transmission and sales
2021

£m
2020

£m

Content 671 522
Other content-related costs 88 79
Broadcast and transmission costs 99 99
Other cost of sales 166 125

Total cost of transmission and sales 1,024 825

The Group’s cost of transmission and sales is reported here as one segment as described in the ‘Group accounting policies’ section on 
page 206. Other cost of sales includes direct costs of linear and digital advertising and rights, marketing, technology and audience 
research costs.
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3. Other operating expenditure
Other operating expenditure includes:

2021
£m

2020
£m

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (notes 9, 11) 7 8
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 10) 2 2
Restructuring costs 1 1
Impairment of trade receivables (note 14) – –
Other administrative expenses 28 27

Other operating expenditure 38 38

In 2021, £2 million of restructuring costs were expensed to the income statement in respect of initiatives to increase operational efficiency 
within the Group (2020: £4 million). Of this amount, £1 million is recognised within Cost of transmission and sales, with the remainder in 
Other operating expenditure. 

Auditor’s remuneration
Fees in respect of services provided by the auditor were:

2021
£000

2020
£000

Audit of these financial statements 324 230
Amounts receivable by auditor and their associates in respect of:
Audit-related assurance services 45 40

Auditor remuneration 369 270

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(continued)
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4. Employee expenses and information
A detailed analysis of Members’ remuneration, including salaries and variable pay, is provided in the Members’ Remuneration Report.

The direct costs of all employees, including Members, appear below:
2021

£m
2020

£m

Aggregate gross salaries 83 77
Employer’s National Insurance contributions 8 7
Employer’s defined contribution pension contributions 5 6

Total direct costs of employment 96 90

During 2020, the Group claimed £1 million under the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme, which was subsequently repaid to the Treasury 
by the year end. No claims were made under the scheme during 2021.

The Executive Members are considered to be the key management of the Corporation. As disclosed in the Members’ Remuneration Report 
on page 187, the total remuneration of the Executive Members for the year ending 31 December 2021 is £2,544,000 (2020: £2,217,000).

The salary multiple of highest paid Executive Member to employees in the 25th, 50th and 75th percentiles was as follows:
2021

£000
2020
£000

Total remuneration of highest paid Executive Member (page 187) 1,196 991
Total remuneration of employee at 75th percentile 86 94
Total remuneration of employee at 50th percentile 55 61
Total remuneration of employee at 25th percentile 40 43

Multiple of highest paid Executive Member to employee at 75th percentile 13.9 5.4

Multiple of highest paid Executive Member to employee at 50th percentile 21.7 16.2

Multiple of highest paid Executive Member to employee at 25th percentile 30.3 23.0

Total remuneration is defined as base salary, variable pay, employer pension contribution and other benefits. The total remuneration of 
employees in the 25th, 50th and 75th percentiles is calculated based on the methodology set out under Option A provided in the 
Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018.

The average monthly number of employees, including Executive Members, was as follows:
2021

Number
2020

Number

Commercial 238 230
Creative 377 314
Operational 396 356
4Talent 24 12

Total 1,035 912

The headcount calculation reflects the actual proportion of hours worked in a week for each individual employee. The employee 
information disclosed in this note excludes a small number of on-screen talent who are remunerated via Channel 4’s payroll. 2020 figures 
have been restated to reflect current classification of rules by area.
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5. Net finance expense
Net finance expense recognised in the year comprised:

2021
£m

2020
£m

Interest receivable on short-term deposits – 1
Net interest expense on pension scheme (note 19) (1) (2)
Other finance expense – (1)

Net finance expense (1) (2)

6. Income tax expense
The taxation charge is based on the taxable profit for the year and comprises:

2021
£m

2020
£m

Current tax:
Current year 9 7
Prior year (3) 1

Deferred tax: origination and reversal of temporary differences (note 12)
Current year 9 (2)
Prior year (3) (1)

Total income tax expense 12 5

Corporation tax is charged at the standard UK rate of 19% for the year (2020: 19%). An increase in this rate to 25% (effective 1 April 2023) 
was announced in the 2021 Spring Budget and substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. This will increase the Corporation’s future tax charge 
accordingly. This change in rate has been reflected in calculating the Group’s deferred tax balances.

Reconciliation of income tax:
2021
Rate

2021
£m

2020
Rate

2020
£m

Surplus before income tax 101 74

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate 19.0% 19 19.0% 14

Effects of:
Non-deductible expenses 1 1
Utilisation of brought forward losses – (9)
Impact of deferred tax rate change (2) –
Deferred tax not recognised (4) –
Other tax adjustments (2) (1)

Total income tax expense 12 5

The income tax expense excludes the Group’s share of income tax of investments accounted for using the equity method of £nil (2020: 
£nil) which has been included in the Group’s share of post-acquisition profits, net of income tax (note 7).
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7. Investments accounted for using the equity method
The carrying value of the Group’s investments accounted for using the equity method is as follows:

Indie Growth 
Fund

£m

Carrying value at 1 January 2020 7
Acquisitions 2
Disposals (3)

Total carrying value at 31 December 2020 6

Carrying value at 1 January 2021 6
Acquisitions 4
Disposals (1)
Impairment loss (1)

Total carrying value at 31 December 2021 8

The Indie Growth Fund
In 2021, Channel 4 invested £4 million (2020: £2 million) in the Indie Growth Fund. Investment activity during 2021 reflected the Fund’s 
strategy geared to fast-growing independent production companies in the Nations and Regions as well as digital and diverse businesses 
across the whole of the UK.

Channel 4 set out two key aims when launching the Indie Growth Fund. Firstly, to provide access to funding for a broad portfolio of small 
and medium-sized independent production companies based in the UK to help them grow and develop their business. Secondly, to put 
our capital to work in more remit-delivering ways and open Channel 4 up to sharing in the benefits of companies that go on to generate 
shareholder value in the medium term. Therefore, the Indie Growth Fund companies are held for investment purposes and it is not 
management’s intention to control these entities. The Indie Growth Fund companies have been classified as associates as Channel 4 
generally has commitments to purchase more than 20% of the equity and voting rights in these entities. Where this is not the case, 
management is satisfied that significant influence exists over these entities due to Channel 4’s ability to influence, but not control, 
the financial and operating policies of these entities.

During 2021, Channel 4 sold its stake in one Indie Growth Fund entity – Lightbox Media Limited (for consideration of £1 million, recognising 
a gain on disposal of £nil). During 2020, Channel 4 sold its stakes in Eleven Film Limited and Whisper Films Limited for a total consideration 
of £9 million, recognising a total gain on disposal of £5 million. During 2021, Channel 4 received deferred consideration on the disposal of 
Eleven Film Limited, recognising a further gain on disposal of £1 million. 

The Indie Growth Fund investments are assessed annually to identify any indicators of impairment, and if any are noted then a full 
impairment review is performed. An impairment loss of £1 million (2020: £nil) was recognised in non-operating expenditure. 

Of the £671 million (2020: £522 million) total of programme rights recognised as expenses in 2020 (note 13), Channel 4 commissioned 
£11 million (2020: £15 million) of content from Indie Growth Fund companies. Channel 4 owed the Indie Growth Fund companies £nil in 
respect of these transactions at 31 December 2021 (2020: £nil). 

Channel 4 had committed £nil for subsequent investment in the Indie Growth Fund entities as at 31 December 2021 (2020: £nil).
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7. Investments accounted for using the equity method continued
The Indie Growth Fund is comprised of the following entities incorporated in the United Kingdom:

Proportion of equity owned  
at 31 December

Company Activity Registered address 2021 2020

Dial Square 86 Limited TV programme production 
activities

Somerset House, Strand, London WC2R 1LA 4.7% 4.7%

Lightbox Media Limited TV programme production 
activities

Regina House, 124 Finchley Road, London  
NW3 5JS

– 22.0%

Spelthorne Community 
Television Limited

TV programme production 
activities

2nd Floor, 63–64 Margaret Street, London  
W1W 8SW

25.0% 25.0%

Voltage TV Productions 
Limited

TV programme production 
activities

5 Elstree Gate, Borehamwood, Herts WD6 1JD 15.0% 15.0%

Parable Ventures Limited TV programme production 
activities

64 New Cavendish Street, London W1G 8TB 18.0% 18.0%

Firecrest Films Limited TV programme production 
activities

Fairfield, 1048 Govan Road, Glasgow G51 4XS 25.0% 25.0%

Two Rivers Media Limited TV programme production 
activities

1st Floor, Tontine Building, 20 Trongate, Glasgow 
G1 5ES

17.0% 17.0%

Candour Productions 
Limited (formerly True 
Vision Yorkshire Limited)

TV programme production 
activities

18 The Glasshouse Studios, Fryern Court Road, 
Burgate, Fordingbridge, Hampshire SP6 1QX

25.0% 25.0%

Five Mile Films Limited TV programme production 
activities

Lower Ground Floor, 2 St Pauls Road, Clifton, 
Bristol BS8 1LT

17.5% 18.0%

Eagle Eye Drama Limited TV programme production 
activities

35 Soho Square, London W1D 3QX 25.0% 25.0%

Yeti Media Limited TV programme production 
activities

Lon Cae Ffynnon Unit 1i, Cibyn Industrial Estate, 
Caernarfon LL55 2BD

25.0% 16.7%

Proper Content Limited TV programme production 
activities

6th Floor, Charlotte Building, 17 Gresse Street, 
London W1T 1QL

25.0% 20%

Uplands Television Limited TV programme production 
activities

93 Chatterton Road, Bromley BR2 9QQ 25.0% –

Big Deal Films Limited Artistic creation Unit 6, 58-60 Minerva Road, London NW10 6HJ 25.0% –
Duck Soup Films Limited Motion picture production 

activities
2nd Floor South, Marshall Court, Leeds LS11 9YP 25.0% –

Paper Entertainment 
Limited

TV programme production 
activities

Flat 50, The Nautilus Building, 3 Myddleton 
Passage, London EC1R 1XW

20.0% –

Salamanda Media Limited TV programme production 
activities

Room 2b, Unit 126 Metroplex Business Park, 
Broadway, Salford M50 2UW

20.0% –

Spirit Media Studios 
Limited

Video production activities PO Box 484, Teddington TW11 1DU 25.0% –

The equity owned for each of the entities listed above relates to ordinary shareholdings.

Summary	annual	financial	information	of	Indie	Growth	Fund	investments

Current 
assets

£m

Non-current  
assets

£m

Current  
liabilities

£m

Long-term  
liabilities

£m
Revenue

£m

(Loss)/profit 
from  

continuing  
operations

£m

2021 20 – (15) (4) 45 (1)

2020 27 – (20) (4) 40 (2)

Other
Channel 4 holds 25% of the shares and voting rights in European Broadcaster Exchange (EBX) Limited, a digital advertising sales venture 
with other European broadcasters. European Broadcaster Exchange (EBX) Limited is incorporated in the United Kingdom.

Proportion of equity owned  
at 31 December

Company Activity Registered address 2021 2020

European Broadcaster 
Exchange (EBX) Limited

Television programming and 
broadcasting activities

6th Floor, 65 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7NQ 25% 25%
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8. Other investments
Channel 4 Ventures (formerly Commercial Growth Fund)

Channel 4 
Ventures

£m
Other  

£m
Total

£m

Carrying value at 1 January 2020 20 2 22
Acquisitions 3 4 7
Fair value movement (1) (1) (2) 
Disposals (6) (1) (7)

Total carrying value at 31 December 2020 16 4 20

Carrying value at 1 January 2021 16 4 20
Acquisitions 18 – 18
Fair value movement (3) – (3)
Disposals (1) – (1)

Total carrying value at 31 December 2021 30 4 34

Channel 4 Ventures
During 2015, Channel 4 launched the Commercial Growth Fund (now renamed as Channel 4 Ventures), a fund with the aim of attracting new 
advertisers to TV and stimulating existing sectors. Channel 4 Ventures exchanges advertising airtime in return for equity shareholdings or 
convertible loan instruments. During 2021, the Corporation invested a further £19 million (2020: £3 million) in Channel 4 Ventures 
holdings. 

Channel 4 Ventures investments are recorded at fair value. The Group elected to recognise any movement in the fair value of the Channel 4 
Ventures investments through other comprehensive income from 1 January 2018 when it adopted IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’. Fair value 
has been assessed against quoted prices in active markets where available or against other observable inputs. A net fair value loss of £3 
million (2020: a net fair value loss of £2 million) has been recognised in other comprehensive income during 2021. 

There were no other transactions with the Channel 4 Ventures companies in 2021 (2020: none).

Other investments
During 2020, Channel 4 acquired a £4 million equity shareholding in BritBox SVOD Limited.

During 2019, Channel 4 acquired a £2 million equity shareholding in Future plc as consideration relating to the sale of Barcroft Studios 
Limited, one of its Indie Growth Fund investments. The Group disposed of this holding during 2020. 
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9. Property, plant and equipment

 

Freehold 
land and
building

£m 

Fixtures,
fittings and
equipment

£m 

Assets  
under 

construction
£m

Total 
£m 

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2020 100 53 1 154
Additions – 3 – 3
Transfers 14 (14) – –
Revaluation (18) – – (18)

At 31 December 2020 96 42 1 139

At 1 January 2021 96 42 1 139
Additions 2 6 1 9
Revaluation – – – –

At 31 December 2021 98 48 2 148

Depreciation
At 1 January 2020 – 40 – 40
Charge for the year 2 5 – 7
Transfers 12 (12) – –
Revaluation (14) – – (14)

At 31 December 2020 – 33 – 33

At 1 January 2021 – 33 – 33
Charge for the year 2 4 – 6
Revaluation (2) – – (2)

At 31 December 2021 – 37 – 37

Net book value
At 1 January 2021 96 9 1 106

At 31 December 2021 98 11 2 111

At 1 January 2020 100 13 1 114

At 31 December 2020 96 9 1 106

The Group had committed £5 million for expenditure on property, plant and equipment at the balance sheet date (2020: £nil). No assets 
have been pledged for security (2020: none).

Valuation of freehold property
The freehold property at 124 Horseferry Road, London SW1P 2TX was valued at 31 December 2021 by independent valuers CBRE Limited, 
in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Manual of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. CBRE Limited has appropriate 
qualifications and recent experience in the fair value measurement of properties in the relevant location. The property was valued on the 
basis of open market value, which the Members believe approximates to current value. In reaching their conclusions, the valuers have paid 
attention to comparable transactions which have taken place in recent months within the Victoria area of London. They have also taken into 
account ongoing repair work to the building in arriving at their valuation.

The open market value for this property was £98 million (2020: £96 million). After additions made to the building during 2021 and 
depreciation charged on the open market value at 31 December 2021 (£2 million), a gain on revaluation of £2 million has been recognised 
in the statement of other comprehensive income (2020: loss on revaluation of £4 million).
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9. Property, plant and equipment continued
If freehold property had not been revalued it would have been included in the financial statements at the following amounts:

2021
£m

2020
£m

Cost 86 72
Additions 2 –
Transfers – 14
Accumulated depreciation (43) (41)
Impairment (6) (6)

Net book value based on cost 39 39

10. Intangible assets

Goodwill 
 £m

Developed 
software

£m

Broadcasting 
licence

£m

Software 
under 

construction
£m

Network 
distribution 

rights
£m

Brands
£m

Total
£m

Cost
At 1 January 2020 2 26 5 1 27 1 62
Disposal – (3) – – – – (3)

At 31 December 2020 2 23 5 1 27 1 59

At 1 January 2021 2 23 5 1 27 1 59
Additions – – – 3 – – 3
Transfer – 1 – (1) – – –
Disposal – (1) – – – – (1)

At 31 December 2021 2 23 5 3 27 1 61

Amortisation
At 1 January 2020 – 25 5 – 2 – 32
Amortisation for the year – – – – 2 – 2
Disposal – (3) – – – – (3)

At 31 December 2020 – 22 5 – 4 – 31

At 1 January 2021 – 22 5 – 4 – 31
Amortisation for the year – – – – 2 – 2

At 31 December 2021 – 22 5 – 6 – 33

Carrying amount
At 1 January 2021 2 1 – 1 23 1 28

At 31 December 2021 2 1 – 3 21 1 28

At 1 January 2020 2 1 – 1 25 1 30

At 31 December 2020 2 1 – 1 23 1 28

Goodwill represents goodwill arising on the acquisition of Global Series Network Limited (‘GSN’) on 30 July 2015. GSN holds the rights to 
the Walter Presents foreign language content transmitted across the Channel 4 portfolio.

Developed software represents amounts capitalised on internally developed computer software, principally in relation to the management 
of advertising and sponsorship revenues, and programme scheduling applications meeting the recognition criteria for internally generated 
intangible assets.

The network distribution rights and brands arose during 2018 on the acquisition of Box Plus Network Limited (‘Box’).
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11. Lease assets and liabilities  
Right-of-use assets  

Property 
£m

Total 
£m

At 1 January 2020 3 3
Additions and changes in terms 10 10
Charge for the year (1) (1)

At 31 December 2020 12 12

At 1 January 2021 12 12
Additions and changes in terms (1) (1)
Charge for the year (1) (1)

At 31 December 2021 10 10

The Group expenses short-term leases and low-value assets as incurred in accordance with the exemption permitted by IFRS 16. 
These expenses amounted to £0.1 million in 2021 (2020: less than £0.1 million).

Lease liabilities
Property 

£m
Total

 £m

Current
Within one year 1 1
Non-current
Between two to five years 3 3
Greater than five years 6 6

Total 10 10

The interest expense relating to lease liabilities under IFRS 16 was £0.1 million in 2021 (2020: £0.1 million).

12. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised at 25% (2020: 19%) reflecting the corporation tax rate substantively enacted as at 
31 December 2021.

Assets
2021

£m

Assets
2020

£m

Liabilities
2021

£m

Liabilities
2020

£m

Net
2021

£m

Net
2020

£m

Property, plant and equipment 5 3 – – 5 3
Employee benefits 7 13 – – 7 13
Trading losses 5 10 – – 5 10
Temporary differences on acquired intangible assets – – (6) (5) (6) (5)

Total deferred tax assets/liabilities 17 26 (6) (5) 11 21

A deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary difference can be utilised (either now or in later accounting periods). At 31 December 2021, based on long-term forecasts, and 
in line with the Group’s aim to remain commercially self-sustainable in the long term, management considers it probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which to recognise these assets. Unrecognised deferred tax assets include losses carried forward that the 
Group is not yet able to utilise.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of:

2021
£m

2020
£m

Carried forward capital losses 1 1
Carried forward trading losses – 4

Tax assets 1 5
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12. Deferred tax assets and liabilities continued 
Movements in temporary differences during the year
The amount of deferred tax recognised in the income statement in respect of each type of temporary difference is as follows:

Balance at 
1 Jan 
2021

£m

Recognised
in income

£m

Recognised  
in other

comprehensive
income

£m

Merger 
accounting 
adjustment

£m

Balance at 
31 Dec 

2021
£m

Property, plant and equipment 3 2 – – 5
Employee benefits 13 (2) (4) – 7
Trading losses 10 (5) – – 5
Temporary differences on acquired intangible assets (5) (1) – – (6)

Total deferred tax assets/liabilities 21 (6) (4) – 11

Balance at 
1 Jan 

2020
£m

Recognised
in income

£m

Recognised  
in other

comprehensive
income

£m

Merger 
accounting 
adjustment

£m

Balance at 
31 Dec 

2020
£m

Property, plant and equipment 3 – – – 3
Employee benefits 13 – – – 13
Trading losses 6 4 – – 10
Temporary differences on acquired intangible assets – – – (5) (5)

Channel 4 deferred tax assets 22 4 – (5) 21

Temporary differences on acquired intangible assets (4) (1) – 5 –

Group deferred tax assets 18 3 – – 21

13. Programme and film rights
2021

£m
2020

£m

Programmes and films completed but not transmitted 120 95
Acquired programme and film rights 51 56
Programmes and films in the course of production 128 89

Total programme and film rights 299 240

Programme and film rights held on the balance sheet have increased since 2020 as the hurdles to production posed by Covid-19 have 
lifted, and commissioning and acquisitions activity has returned to pre-pandemic levels.

Certain programmes and film rights may not be utilised within one year but are expected to be consumed during the normal operating 
cycle and are therefore disclosed as current assets. The proportion of total programme and film rights not expected to be utilised within 
one year is 10% (2020: 13%).

Programmes and films in the course of production are disclosed within programme and film rights, rather than within prepayments, as 
management believes this most clearly reflects the total value of current assets relating to the production of content and that it is most 
useful to the readers of the financial statements to include the total value of current assets relating to the production and acquisitions 
of content in one line on the balance sheet. 

Programme and film rights to the value of £671 million were recognised as expenses in the year across the main and digital television 
channels (2020: £522 million). Of this amount, obsolete programmes and developments written off totalled £48 million (2020: 
£28 million). 

Programme and film rights include £31 million (2020: £26 million) in respect of developed film rights.
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14. Trade and other receivables
2021

£m
2020

£m

Trade receivables 170 186
Prepayments 34 25
Accrued income 20 18

Total trade and other receivables 224 229

There is no difference between the fair value and book value of trade and other receivables. Trade receivables are shown net of impairment 
charges amounting to £nil (2020: net of £1 million impairment initially recognised during 2019 in relation to outstanding balances from 
customers).

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from customers. 

(i) Trade receivables 
Credit risk with respect to trade receivables is principally related to amounts due from advertising agencies and retailers. A risk strategy 
exists to protect these receivables including insurance for most customers. Exposure is monitored continually and reviewed on a weekly 
basis, and any issues are formally reported. Based on credit evaluation and discussions with insurers, customers may be required to 
provide security in order to trade with the Group.  

The Group may establish an allowance for impairment that represents our expected credit loss in respect of trade and other receivables. 
The main component of this allowance is a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures. Losses with regard to 
these receivables are historically low as advertising revenue is either protected by trade credit insurance or pre-paid prior to transmission. 
The Group’s expected lifetime credit loss at 31 December 2021 was £nil (2020: £1 million in line with a provision held at that date).

(ii) Counterparty 
See interest rate risk and exposure in note 15.

Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum credit exposure at the balance sheet 
date in relation to trade receivables was £170 million for the Group (2020: £186 million), with £115 million of other financial assets (2020: 
£110 million), and cash and cash equivalents of £157 million (2020: £166 million). The exposure to credit risk all arises in the UK.

Trade receivables of £170 million for the Group (2020: £186 million) were aged under six months or were not yet due under standard credit 
terms at the balance sheet date. £139 million of the receivables were insured at the balance sheet date (2020: £162 million) 
and £167 million (2020: £184 million) has been subsequently collected by the Group since the balance sheet date.
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15. Treasury
2021

£m
2020

£m

Bank balances 37 7
Money market funds1 90 139
Money market deposits with initial maturity of less than three months 30 20

Cash and cash equivalents 157 166

Money market deposits with initial maturity of more than three months 10 10
Investment funds 105 100

Other financial assets² 115 110

1 Amounts held in money market funds are repayable within seven days.

2 Other financial assets comprise deposits of three or more months’ duration and other funds with time-restricted access, and are stated at fair value.

There is no difference between the fair value and book value of cash, cash equivalents and other financial assets.

Cash	flow	information
2021

£m
2020

£m

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 166 130
Other financial assets at 1 January 110 7
Borrowings at 1 January (75) –

Total net cash reserves1 at 1 January 201 137

Net cash flow from/(used in) operating activities 103 62
Net cash flow (used in)/from investing activities (31) 3
Net cash flow used in financing activities (1) (1)

Total cash flow 71 64

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 157 166
Other financial assets at 31 December 115 110
Borrowings as at 31 December – (75)

Total net cash reserves1 at 31 December 272 201

1 The Group presents net cash reserves as an alternative performance measure; an explanation of this APM is provided on page 207. Net cash reserves represents the total of Cash 
and cash equivalents and Other financial assets above net of cash borrowings. 

Interest rate risk and exposure 
The Group invests surplus cash in fixed-rate money market deposits, high-interest bank accounts and variable and constant net asset 
value money market funds. Funds are invested only with an agreed list of counterparties that carry a minimum of an A- credit rating or 
equivalent from Standard and Poor’s and Moody’s credit rating services with government support, or with money market funds that 
have an AAA credit rating from either of these credit rating services.

It is estimated that if interest rates had been 0.5% points lower/higher throughout the year, with all other variables held constant, 
the Group’s surplus before tax would have been £1 million lower/higher (2020: £1 million).

At the balance sheet date, the Group had no debt and was not exposed to fluctuations in interest rates. In 2018 the Group entered into a 
revolving credit facility (‘RCF’), providing £75 million of additional liquidity. The facility is unsecured and is committed with a single tangible 
net worth covenant. This facility was drawn down in full during 2020 to provide additional liquidity, if required, as part of the Group’s 
response to the Covid-19 outbreak. None of this additional funding was utilised at any point during 2020 or 2021, and the facility was 
repaid in full in June 2021. After the balance sheet date, this facility was renewed for a further five-year term and now runs until March 2027.
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15. Treasury continued 
The interest rate profile of the Group’s cash and deposits at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 is set out below:

Effective 
interest 

rate
2021

%

Effective 
interest 

rate
2020

%

Total
2021

£m

Total
2020

£m

Interest-bearing deposits maturing in less than three months held in Sterling 0.1 0.0 152 165
Interest-bearing deposits maturing in less than three months held in foreign currencies 0.0 0.0 5 1

Total cash and cash equivalents 0.1 0.0 157 166

Money market deposits maturing after three months held in Sterling 0.2 0.3 10 10
Investment funds 0.1 0.8 105 100

Other financial assets 0.1 0.8 115 110

Foreign	currency	risk	and	derivative	financial	instruments
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in currencies other than Sterling. The currencies that 
give rise to this risk are US Dollars and Euros. The Group holds bank accounts in foreign currencies and uses forward exchange contracts 
and currency cash receipts to hedge its currency risk. Changes in the fair value of exchange contracts that economically hedge monetary 
assets and liabilities in foreign currencies, and for which no hedge accounting is applied, are recognised in the income statement. Both the 
change in the fair value of the forward contracts and the foreign exchange gains and losses relating to monetary items are recognised as 
part of net finance expense (note 5).

The Group does not have any material foreign subsidiaries and as a result is not exposed to translational foreign currency risk in this regard. 
The Group is exposed to currency movements on foreign cash holdings. Amounts held by currency are detailed above within the analysis of 
the Group’s and Channel 4’s cash and deposits.

At 31 December 2021, the total value of forward contracts used as economic hedges of monetary liabilities was £nil (2020: £nil). At 
31 December 2021, these have been revalued with reference to forward exchange rates based on maturity. The change in fair value of £nil 
(2020: £nil) has been recognised in the income statement and the associated liability recorded on the balance sheet as at 31 December 
2021. The forward contracts have been assessed as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy under IAS 13 and assessed against observable market 
inputs.

Maturity within 
12 months  
of balance 
sheet date

Maturity within 
12 months  
of balance 
sheet date

Maturity more 
than 12 months 

after balance 
sheet date

Maturity more 
than 12 months 

after balance 
sheet date Total Total

2021  
No.

2020  
No.

2021  
No.

2020  
No.

2021  
No.

2020  
No.

Forward contracts to purchase US Dollars 1 – – – 1 –
Forward contracts to purchase Euros – – – – – –

Total forward contracts with fixed maturity dates 1 – – – 1 –

It is estimated that if Sterling had strengthened/weakened by 10% at the balance sheet date against other currencies, with all other 
variables held constant, the Group’s deficit before tax would have been £1 million lower/higher (2020: £nil).

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the Group’s income or the 
value of its assets and liabilities. These risks are managed by the Group’s treasury function as described below.

The Audit & Risk Committee is responsible for approving the treasury policy for the Group. The Group’s policy is to ensure that adequate 
liquidity and financial resource is available to support the Group’s continuing activities and growth while managing the risks described 
above. The Group’s policy is not to engage in speculative financial transactions. The Group does not seek to apply hedge accounting. The 
Group’s treasury and funding activities are undertaken by a treasury function, whose work is overseen by a Treasury Risk Committee 
reporting to the Finance Director. Its primary activities are to manage the Group’s liquidity, funding requirements and financial risk, 
principally arising from movements in interest and foreign currency exchange rates within the parameters of the approved treasury policy.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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16. Trade and other payables
2021

£m
2020

£m

Trade payables 14 16
Taxation and social security 1 1
Other creditors 76 61
Accruals 232 182
Deferred income 40 30
VAT 26 36

Total trade and other payables 389 326

There is no difference between the fair value and book value of trade and other payables. The contractual cash flows are equal to the 
carrying amount and are payable within six months or less at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The Group endeavours to pay all invoices in accordance with contract terms and, unless agreed payment terms specify otherwise, the 
Group’s standard payment terms are within 45 days of the date of the invoice, with the exception of certain programme and transmission 
costs with qualifying independent production companies which are on immediate payment terms. Any complaints about failure to pay on 
time should be addressed to the Chief Operating Officer, who will ensure that they are investigated and responded to appropriately.

The number of days taken to pay suppliers of services in 2021, as calculated using average payable balances, was seven (2020: eight). 
This is significantly lower than the Group’s standard payment terms due to the impact of the immediate payment terms described above.

Under HMRC’s deferral scheme, the Group deferred £10 million of VAT payments for Q1 and Q2 2020, and has repaid £9 million in 
instalments as at December 2021, with the remainder repaid in early 2022.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group fails to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The management of operational liquidity risk 
aims primarily to ensure that the Group always has a liquidity buffer that is able, in the short term, to absorb the net effects of transactions 
made and expected changes in liquidity both under normal and stressed conditions without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group’s reputation. The cash balances held by the Group and, from March 2018, the £75 million revolving credit facility, 
are considered to be sufficient to support the Group’s medium-term funding requirements.

17. Provisions
Onerous 

lease/
dilapidations

£m

Restructuring
costs

£m
Total

£m

At 1 January 2020 – 2 2
Utilised in the year – (2) (2)
Charged to the income statement 1 1 2

At 31 December 2020 1 1 2

At 1 January 2021 1 1 2
Utilised in the year – (1) (1)
Charged to the income statement – 2 2

At 31 December 2021 1 2 3

Provisions have been analysed as current and non-current as follows:
2021

£m
2020

£m

Current 2 1
Non-current 1 1

Total 3 2

Contingent liabilities
The Members are not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings, pending or threatened, against any Member of the Group which gives 
rise to a significant contingent liability.
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18. Commitments

2021

Due within 
1 year

£m

Due within 
2–5 years

£m

Due after 
5 years

£m
Total

£m

Programme commitments 414 224 – 638
Transmission contracts 29 73 52 154

Total 443 297 52 792

2020

Due within 
1 year

£m

Due within 
2–5 years

£m

Due after 
5 years

£m
Total

£m

Programme commitments 405 226 1 632
Transmission contracts 29 89 61 179

Total 434 315 62 811

Transmission contracts represent committed capacity costs for transmission on the digital terrestrial and satellite network. Committed 
payments for digital terrestrial transmission capacity costs amounted to £21 million in 2021 (2020: £26 million). The digital terrestrial 
transmission contracts expire between 2020 and 2031. Committed payments for satellite transmission capacity costs were £8 million 
in 2020 (2020: £8 million). The satellite transmission contracts expire in 2024. 

In addition to the above, the Group is party to the shareholder agreement for Digital 3 and 4 Limited. The Group is committed to meeting 
its share of contracted costs entered into by that company. The Group’s share of Digital 3 and 4 Limited’s committed payments was  
£25 million in 2021 (2020: £24 million) and is forecast to be £25 million in 2022. Digital 3 and 4 Limited has entered into long-term 
distribution contracts that expire in 2028 and 2034 and the Group is committed to funding its contractual share.

The Group’s commitments for further subscriptions for minority shareholdings in companies in the Indie Growth Fund as at 31 December 
2021 are disclosed in note 7.

19. Employee benefits – pensions
Prior to 2015, the Group operated a defined benefit pension scheme – the Channel 4 Television Staff Pension Plan (the ‘Plan’), providing 
benefits based on final salary for employees. The scheme closed to future accrual with effect from 31 December 2015 without material 
impact to the Group’s defined benefit obligation.

Nature	of	benefits,	regulatory	framework	and	governance
The Plan is a registered defined benefit final salary scheme subject to the UK regulatory framework for pensions, including the Scheme 
Specific Funding requirements. The Trustees of the Plan are responsible for operating the Plan and have a statutory responsibility to act in 
accordance with the Plan’s Trust Deed and Rules, in the best interests of the beneficiaries of the Plan, and UK legislation (including Trust 
law). The employer has the power to set the contributions that are paid to the Plan, following advice from the scheme actuary. However, 
these must be agreed by the Trustees to the extent required by Part 3 of the Pensions Act 2004 (Scheme Funding). 

Risks to which the Plan exposes the employer
The nature of the Plan exposes the employer to the risk of paying unanticipated additional contributions to the Plan in times of adverse 
experience. The most financially significant risks are likely to be:
– members living for longer than expected;
– higher than expected actual inflation and salary increase experience;
– lower than expected investment returns; and
– the risk that movements in the value of the Plan’s liabilities are not met by corresponding movements in the value of the Plan’s assets.

The sensitivity analysis disclosed on page 228 is intended to provide an indication of the impact on the value of the Plan’s liabilities of the 
risks highlighted.

Plan amendments, curtailments and settlements
There have not been any material curtailments or settlements during the year. 
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19. Employee benefits – pensions continued
Investment strategy
The Trustees’ primary objectives are that the Plan should meet benefit payments as they fall due; and that the Plan’s funding position 
should remain at an appropriate level. The Trustees are aware that there are various measures of funding, and have given due weight to 
those considered most relevant to the Plan. 

The Trustees’ investment objective is to target an appropriate return on the Plan’s assets to meet the objectives above whilst managing and 
maintaining investment risk, taking into account the strength of the employer covenant. 

The Trustees, with the help of their advisers and in consultation with Channel 4, undertake a review of investment strategy from time to 
time. This includes consideration of the broad split between growth and matching assets, as well as asset class and asset manager 
arrangements. The Trustees have also considered how social, environmental and ethical factors should be taken into account in the 
selection, retention and realisation of investments, given the time horizon of the Plan and its members.

The Trustees regularly seek advice from their investment adviser about the benchmark allocation and consider the impact of further 
opportunities to enhance the current investment strategy, taking into account market conditions and anticipated future cash flows. 

The assets have a diversified mix of UK and global equities and bonds. The portfolio also contains a multi-asset portfolio with an absolute 
return focus, and bond assets are invested in a dynamic liability driven investment (‘LDI’) portfolio, so that the Plan’s assets better match 
its liabilities under movements in long-term interest rates and inflation assumptions. 

The most recent investment strategy discussions, which took place during 2019, focused on efficiently achieving returns. Due to new 
offerings in the LDI market, the Plan was able to increase its credit exposure and maintain its exposure to equities, whilst leaving the levels 
of interest rate and inflation liability matching broadly the same.

The 2019 review, which occurred in conjunction with the actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2018, resulted in the Plan: 
– replacing its passive global equity allocation with equity-linked LDI (which maintained overall equity exposure); 
– replacing part of the existing LDI allocation with credit-linked LDI (introducing credit exposure but, in combination with the above 

switch, maintaining overall liability matching); and 
– increasing its allocation to absolute return bonds. 

These changes increased the expected return of the investment portfolio whilst keeping the investment risk to an acceptable level. 

In order to begin to tackle longevity risk (that is, the risk that members of the Plan live for longer than expected over time), the Trustees 
entered into a c.£45 million bulk annuity policy with Just Retirement in March 2018. This provides income to match the requirements of 
certain pensioner liabilities (providing protection against interest rates, inflation and longevity risks).

The next formal actuarial valuation of the Plan, as at 31 December 2021, is underway and the Trustees, in conjunction with their investment 
advisors, will review the current investment strategy and implement any changes as necessary.
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19. Employee benefits – pensions continued
Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet

2021
£m

2020
£m

Present value of funded obligations (576) (590)
Fair value of Plan assets 547 522

Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations (29) (68)

Movements in the fair value of Plan assets recognised in the balance sheet:
2021

£m
2020

£m

Fair value of scheme assets at 1 January 522 453
Interest income on Plan assets 7 9
Return on Plan assets (excluding amounts in interest income) 19 67
Employer contributions net of charges 10 9
Benefits paid (11) (16)

Fair value of scheme assets at 31 December 547 522

The fair value of the Plan assets at the balance sheet date is comprised as follows:
2021

£m
2020

£m

Overseas and emerging markets equity 70 63

Total equity securities 70 63

Corporate bonds 91 90
Infrastructure 57 50

Total debt securities 148 140

Multi-asset absolute return 52 47
Liability driven investments 235 228

Total investment funds 287 275

Cash and cash equivalents 1 1
Annuity policy buy-in 41 43

Fair value of scheme assets at 31 December 547 522

The Plan assets do not include any directly or indirectly owned financial instruments issued by the Corporation. The valuation of the assets 
above is based on Level 1 inputs in the IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy, with the exception of the infrastructure assets and annuity policy buy-in 
which are valued based on relevant Level 3 inputs. 

All equities and bonds are held as part of investment portfolios which have quoted prices in active markets. 

Movements in the present value of scheme liabilities for defined benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheet:
2021

£m
2020

£m

Present value of scheme liabilities at 1 January 590 532
Interest expense on pension scheme liabilities 8 11
Remeasurement deficit on plan liabilities arising from changes in demographic assumptions 2 –
Remeasurement (gain)/deficit on plan liabilities arising from changes in financial assumptions (34) 71
Experience remeasurement 21 (8)
Benefits paid (11) (16)

Present value of scheme liabilities at 31 December 576 590
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19. Employee benefits – pensions continued 
Expenses recognised in the income statement arose as follows:

2021
£m

2020
£m

Net interest expense 1 2

Net charge to income statement 1 2

The remeasurement deficit recognised in other comprehensive income arose as follows:
2021

£m
2020

£m

Remeasurement gain/(deficit) on plan liabilities 11 (63)
Remeasurement gain on plan assets (excluding amounts in interest income) 19 67

Net remeasurement surplus/(deficit) on pension scheme 30 4

The cumulative amount of net remeasurement deficits/gains recognised in the statement of changes in equity since transition to IFRS is 
a £111 million deficit (2020: £140 million deficit).

Principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date
2021

%
2020

%

Discount rate 1.90 1.30
Rate of increase in salaries 2.40 2.00
Rate of increase in pensions 3.15 2.80
Inflation 3.25 2.85

2021
years

2020
years

Life expectancy from 65 (now aged 45) – male 23.8 23.5
Life expectancy from 65 (now aged 45) – female 26.7 26.1
Life expectancy from 65 (now aged 65) – male 22.1 22.4
Life expectancy from 65 (now aged 65) – female 24.9 24.9

These assumptions were adopted in consultation with the independent actuary to the Channel Four Television Staff Pension Plan. If 
experience is different from these assumptions, or if the assumptions need to be amended in future, there will be a corresponding impact 
on the net pension scheme liability recorded on the Group balance sheet. The expected returns on Plan assets are set by reference to 
historical returns, current market indicators and the expected long-term asset allocation of the Plan.

Sensitivity analysis
The table below sets out the sensitivity of the scheme’s pension liabilities to changes in actuarial assumptions, showing the revised present 
value of scheme liabilities in each scenario:

2021
£m

2020
£m

0.5% decrease in discount rate 638 657
1 year increase in life expectancy 599 613
0.5% increase in salary assumptions 579 594
0.5% increase in inflation (and inflation-linked) assumptions 620 645

The sensitivities disclosed are calculated using approximate methods taking into account the duration of the Plan’s liabilities.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(continued)



229

19. Employee benefits – pensions continued 
Funding arrangements
The Plan was closed to future accrual with effect from 31 December 2015. The Corporation’s contributions to the scheme are determined 
by a qualified independent actuary (the ‘Actuary to the Plan’) on the basis of triennial valuation using the projected unit method. The most 
recent triennial valuation was carried out as at 31 December 2018. The results of the valuation at 31 December 2018 showed that the 
scheme’s assets represented 75% of the benefits that had accrued to members, reflecting a deficit of £134 million. The next triennial 
valuation will be carried out as at 31 December 2021.

Following the valuation and discussions with the Actuary to the Plan, the Trustees and the Board agreed a revised schedule of contributions 
to reduce the Plan’s funding deficit of £9 million per annum from January 2020 until August 2028.

The weighted average duration of the Plan’s defined benefit obligation is approximately 22 years. The majority of the Plan’s benefits are 
to be paid as annuities from retirement of a member until their death.

In accordance with the fund rules, the Corporation can realise any surplus on the winding up of the scheme after all other benefits have 
been paid. As a result, no adjustment is required in respect of IFRIC 14 ‘IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 
Requirements and their Interaction’.

20. Related party transactions
Members
Details of transactions in which Members have an interest are disclosed in the Report of the Members (page 171).

Details of Members’ remuneration are shown in the Members’ Remuneration Report (page 187).

Key management personnel
The Executive Members are considered to be the key management of the Group.

Joint ventures and associates
Details of transactions between the Group and its joint ventures and associates as at 31 December 2021 are disclosed in note 7.

Other
The Group also contributes to the funding of the following organisations, each of which is incorporated in the United Kingdom. The table 
below presents the Group’s ownership of the entities, or legal guarantee (indicated with *), and transactions with them during the year.

Services received Funding and services provided

Name
Nature of 
business Share class

Ownership 
interest

2021
£m

2020
£m

2021
£m

2020
£m

Broadcasters’ Audience Research  
Board Limited Research * – – – 2 2

Clearcast Limited Regulator Ordinary, deferred 25.0% – – 1 2
Digital 3 and 4 Limited Operator ‘A’ Ordinary 50.0% 1 1 25 24
DTV Services Limited Marketing Ordinary 20.0% 6 7 3 4
Digital UK Marketing * – – – 2 2
Thinkbox Limited Marketing Ordinary 20.0% 1 1 2 2
YouView Limited Platform Voting, non-voting 14.3% – – 1 1

The Group had £nil trade payables remaining with the organisations listed above at 31 December 2021 (2020: £1 million). No dividends 
were received in 2021 (2020: £nil) from any of the related parties listed above.

These related party disclosures are also applicable to the Channel 4 financial statements.
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21. Post Balance Sheet Events
In July 2021, the Government announced a consultation on the future ownership of Channel 4, which took place over the second half of the 
year. In April 2022, following the balance sheet date, the Government published a White Paper in which it set out its intention to proceed 
with the privatisation of Channel 4. This is expected to require a lengthy legislative process, with the Group continuing to operate as normal 
and a continued focus on the delivery of its remit while this takes place. 

Management’s assessment is that this announcement does not represent an adjusting event for the 2021 financial statements under IAS 10 
Events After The Reporting Period, and that the proposals are at too early a stage to quantify any potential future impact on the Group’s 
financial statements arising as a result.
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Channel 4 balance sheet 
as at 31 December

Group  
note

Channel 4 
note

2021
£m

2020
£m

Assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 111 106
Right-of-use asset 11 10 12
Intangible assets 2 22 22
Other investments 3 4 4
Deferred tax assets 12 17 26

Total non-current assets 164 170

Programme and film rights 4 293 235
Trade and other receivables 5 220 226
Other financial assets 6 115 110
Cash and cash equivalents 6 152 161

Total current assets 780 732

Total assets 944 902

Liabilities
Employee benefits – pensions 19 (29) (68)
Lease liabilities 11 (10) (12)
Deferred tax liabilities (6) (5)

Total non-current liabilities (45) (85)

Trade and other payables 7 (502) (450)
Current tax payable – (3)
Provisions 17 (3) (2)
Borrowings 15 – (75)

Total current liabilities (505) (530)

Total liabilities (550) (615)

Net assets 394 287

Revaluation reserve 54 52
Other retained earnings 340 235

Total equity 394 287

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Corporation has not presented its own income statement. A surplus of  
£79 million has been recognised in relation to the Corporation in 2021.

The financial statements on pages 231 to 236 were approved by the Members of the Board on 4 May 2022 and were signed on its  
behalf by:

Sir Ian Cheshire     Alex Mahon
Chair      Chief Executive

The notes on pages 234 to 236 form part of these financial statements.
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Channel 4 statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December

Group note
Channel 4 

note

Retained 
earnings

£m

Revaluation 
reserve

£m

Total  
equity

£m

At 1 January 2020 178 56 234

Surplus for the year 62 – 62
Net remeasurement surplus on pension scheme 19 4 – 4
Revaluation of freehold land and buildings 9 – (4) (4)
Merger accounting adjustment 2 (9) – (9)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 57 (4) 53

At 31 December 2020 235 52 287

At 1 January 2021 235 52 287

Surplus for the year 79 – 79
Net remeasurement surplus on pension scheme 19 30 – 30
Revaluation of freehold land and buildings 9 – 2 2
Deferred tax on pension 12 (4) – (4)

Total comprehensive income for the year 105 2 107

At 31 December 2021 340 54 394
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Channel 4 accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except that freehold properties, derivatives and certain 
financial instruments are stated at fair value, and are presented in Pounds Sterling, rounded to the nearest million.

The financial statements have been prepared under the Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’. The 
Corporation’s financial result and balance sheet are included in the consolidated financial statements presented on pages 204 to 230. 
As permitted by Financial Reporting Standard 101, the Corporation has not presented its own cash flow statement and has not provided 
the disclosures required by IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’.

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Corporation has not presented its own income statement. A surplus of 
£79 million (2020: £62 million deficit) was recorded in relation to the Corporation. Accounting policies applied in the preparation of the 
Corporation’s financial statements are consistent with the Group policies presented on pages 204 to 209, except as stated below.

In preparing these financial statements the Corporation has taken advantage of all disclosure exemptions conferred by FRS 101. Therefore, 
these financial statements do not include disclosure of related party transactions with other wholly owned members of the Group headed 
by the Corporation. Details of transactions between the Group and its related parties are disclosed in Group note 20 on page 229.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are carried at historical cost less provision for impairment.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
Investments in associates and joint ventures are carried at historical cost less provision for impairment.

Equity investments
Equity investments represent equity holdings without significant influence. Equity investments are normally carried at fair value. Where an 
active market value is not available, the Members believe that valuation at cost less provision for impairment is a reasonable approximation 
of fair value.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are reflected net of any expected credit loss.

Critical accounting judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
The critical accounting judgements made by management and the sources of estimation uncertainty in the application of IFRS that have 
a significant risk of material adjustment on the financial statements of the Corporation are considered to be programme and film rights 
amortisation and the classification of transponder assets as service contracts under IFRS 16, as disclosed for the Group on page 204.
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Notes to the Channel 4 financial statements

1. Operating expenditure
Auditor’s remuneration
Fees in relation to the audit of the Corporation financial statements and additional fees paid to the auditor for the year ended 31 December 
2021 are presented in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements on page 211.

Staff costs
All staff costs are borne by Channel 4 and are presented in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements on page 212 and in the 
Members’ Remuneration Report on pages 185 to 192. The average monthly number of employees of the Corporation is 1,035 (2020: 904), 
classified as shown below:
2021 Male no. Female no.

Executive team 8 5
Senior managers 21 17
Employees 422 553

Total employees 451 575

Non-Executive Members 6 3

Total including Non-Executive Members 457 578

The key management of the Corporation are considered to be the same as for the Group, as disclosed in Group note 4.

2. Intangible assets

Developed 
software

£m

Assets under 
construction 

£m

Network 
distribution 

rights 
£m

Brands 
£m

Negative 
goodwill

£m
Total 

£m

Cost
At 1 January 2020 26 1 – – – 27
Merger accounting adjustment – – 27 1 (5) 23
Disposal (3) – – – – (3)

At 31 December 2020 23 1 27 1 (5) 47

At 1 January 2021 23 1 27 1 (5) 47

Additions – 3 – – – 3
Disposal (1) – – – – (1)

At 31 December 2021 22 4 27 1 (5) 49

Amortisation
At 1 January 2020 25 – – – – 25
Merger accounting adjustment – – 4 – (1) 3
Disposal (3) – – – – (3)

At 31 December 2020 22 – 4 – (1) 25

At 1 January 2021 22 – 4 – (1) 25
Amortisation for the year – – 2 – – 2

At 31 December 2021 22 – 6 – (1) 27

Carrying amount
At 1 January 2021 1 1 23 1 (4) 22

At 31 December 2021 0 4 21 1 (4) 22

At 1 January 2020 1 1 – – – 2

At 31 December 2020 1 1 23 1 (4) 22

During 2020, the trade and assets of The Box Plus Network (‘Box’), previously a 100% owned subsidiary, were hived up into the 
Corporation, as part of Box’s operational integration into Channel 4 following the full acquisition of the business in 2018. As a result of this 
transaction, intangibles with a net book value of £24 million which were recognised on consolidation of Box into the Group following the 
full acquisition are now recognised in the Corporation’s books. This transaction also resulted in a £9 million adjustment to the 
Corporation’s retained earnings to retrospectively recognise the accounting treatment of these intangible assets under FRS 101. 
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3. Investments
Subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures
The cost of investments  at 31 December is:

2021
£000

2020
£000

4 Ventures Limited 1 1

The subsidiary undertakings incorporated in the United Kingdom at 31 December 2021 are as follows. Where the Members have taken the 
exemption under Companies Act s479A from having an audit of the financial statements for subsidiaries controlled and consolidated by 
the Group, this is noted below:

Name Company number Nature of business

Issued 
ordinary  

£1 shares
Ownership 

interest

Registered office address is: 124 Horseferry Road,  
London SW1P 2TX

4 Ventures Limited1 04106849 Intermediate holding company and non-primary 
function activities

1,000 100%

Film Four Limited1,2 03075944 Film distribution 1,000 100%
Channel Four Investments Limited1,2 08950142 Indie Growth Fund 1 100%
The Box Plus Network Limited1 02643552 Non-trading 1,000 100%
Global Series Network Limited1,2 09086979 TV and film distribution 2,000 100%
GSN Holdings International Limited1,2 10526433 TV and film distribution 1,000 82.5%
Channel Four Television Company Limited 01533774 Non-trading 100 100%
E4.com Limited2 04063871 Non-trading 1,000 100%
E4 Television Limited2 04060680 Non-trading 1,000 100%
Film on Four Limited2 01915181 Non-trading 100 100%
Sport on Four Limited2 01637216 Non-trading 2 100%

1 Exemption from audit of subsidiary financial statements taken by the Members.
2 Indirect shareholding through 4 Ventures Limited.

Associated undertakings
For the Corporation’s indirect shareholdings in the Indie Growth Fund through Channel Four Investments Limited and European Broadcast 
Exchange (‘EBX’) Limited, refer to Group note 7. 

For the Corporation’s indirect shareholdings in Channel 4 Ventures through 4 Ventures Limited, refer to Group note 8. 

Other investments
Total 

£m

Carrying value at 1 January 2021 4
Additions –

Carrying value at 31 December 2021 4

4. Programme and film rights
2021

£m
2020

£m

Programmes and films completed but not transmitted 120 95
Acquired programme and film rights 45 51
Programmes and films in the course of production 128 89

Total programme and film rights 293 235

Certain programme and film rights may not be utilised within one year as disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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5. Trade and other receivables 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Trade receivables 170 187
Prepayments 34 25
Accrued income 16 14

Total trade and other receivables 220 226

6. Treasury
2021

£m
2020

£m

Bank balances 32 2
Money market funds 90 139
Money market deposits maturing in less than three months 30 20

Cash and cash equivalents 152 161

Money market deposits maturing after three months 10 10
Investment funds 105 100

Other financial assets 115 110

7. Trade and other payables 

 
2021

£m
2020

£m

Trade payables 14 15
Taxation and social security 1 1
Other creditors 71 59
Amounts due to subsidiaries 113 130
Accruals 230 179
Deferred income 46 30
VAT 27 36

Total trade and other payables 502 450

The amounts due to subsidiaries relate to cash balances managed by the Corporation on behalf of Group companies, and as such the 
Corporation does not expect settlement of these balances to be required in the foreseeable future.
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Historical metrics 2017–2021

Page ref 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Creativity
Commissioning success

Originated content spend (£m) 107 510 489 492 370 492

Engaging audiences

Portfolio high peak-time viewing share (8-11pm) 12.7% 12.6% 12.2% 12.8% 13.2%
Portfolio viewing share ABC1s 10.8% 10.4% 10.1% 10.2% 10.5%
Portfolio viewing share 16-34-year-olds 97 16.4% 15.9% 15.7% 15.7% 15.0%
Channel 4 viewing share 93 5.9% 5.9% 5.8% 5.9% 6.1%
Portfolio viewing share 93 10.5% 10.2% 9.9% 10.1% 10.3%
Portfolio 15-minute reach 94 81.4% 78.7% 75.8% 73.0% 70.5%
Programme streaming views (m) 95, 147 719 915 995 1,253 1,518
Registered viewers (m)1 24 16.6 19.6 22.2 24.0 26.8

1 Registered viewers are net of duplicate and active users within the last two years.

Sustainability
Financial metrics

Corporation revenue (£m) 200 960 975 985 934 1,164
Digital advertising revenue (£m) 210 100 120 145 161 224
Non-advertising revenue (£m) 210 75 81 73 84 105
Content spend (£m) 210 675 662 660 522 671
Year-end net cash reserves (£m) 205 190 180 137 201 272
Pre-tax surplus/(deficit) (£m) 200 (17) 5 (26) 74 101

Ad sales measures

Linear advertising revenue (£m) 210 785 774 767 689 835
SOCI portfolio high peak-time (8-11pm) 18.7% 17.9% 17.6% 18.2% 18.8%
SOCI portfolio ABC1s 17.5% 16.6% 16.2% 16.3% 16.6%
SOCI portfolio 16-34-year-olds 21.4% 20.8% 20.9% 21.3% 20.1%
SOCI portfolio 15.4% 14.7% 14.3% 14.7% 14.8%
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2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Performance versus competitors
Portfolio viewing share

Channel 4 10.5% 10.2% 9.9% 10.1% 10.3%
BBC 31.6% 30.9% 30.7% 31.1% 31.5%
ITV 21.7% 23.2% 23.2% 22.2% 22.3%
Channel 5 6.5% 6.3% 6.5% 6.7% 6.8%

Source: BARB all individuals.

Portfolio high peak-time viewing share 8-11pm

Channel 4 12.7% 12.6% 12.2% 12.8% 13.2%
BBC 31.3% 29.6% 30.3% 29.4% 30.0%
ITV 23.6% 25.2% 24.6% 22.8% 23.2%
Channel 5 7.5% 7.2% 7.3% 8.0% 8.4%

Source: BARB all individuals.

SOCI portfolio

Channel 4 15.4% 14.7% 14.3% 14.7% 14.8%
ITV 34.5% 36.1% 35.7% 34.6% 34.5%
Channel 5 9.4% 8.9% 9.0% 9.6% 9.9%
Sky 25.5% 26.1% 27.2% 27.4% 27.1%

Source: TechEdge.

SOCI portfolio ABC1s1

Channel 4 17.5% 16.6% 16.2% 16.3% 16.6%
ITV 34.0% 35.7% 35.3% 34.7% 34.6%
Channel 5 8.8% 8.8% 8.9% 9.5% 10.1%
Sky 24.0% 24.2% 25.5% 25.9% 25.3%

1 See also key performance indicators on pages 146 to 147.
Source: TechEdge.

SOCI portfolio 16-34-year-olds1

Channel 4 21.4% 20.8% 20.9% 21.3% 20.1%
ITV 28.8% 32.4% 32.9% 30.0% 33.3%
Channel 5 8.4% 8.0% 8.0% 8.5% 7.5%
Sky 24.8% 24.1% 25.7% 27.9% 27.0%

1 See also key performance indicators on pages 146 to 147.
Source: TechEdge.

Historical metrics 2017–2021
(continued)
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Historical record

2012 
£m

2013 
£m

2014 
£m

2015 
£m

2016 
£m

2017 
£m

2018 
£m

2019 
£m

2020 
£m

2021 
£m

Consolidated results
Revenue 925 908 938 979 995 960 975 985 934 1,164

Operating surplus/(deficit) (29) (15) 4 24 (18) (25) 8 (27) 71 102
Net financial income/(expense) 1 (1) (1) (1) – (1) – (1) (2) (1)
Gain on sale of investment – – – – – 8 1 4 5 1
Impairment losses on investments – – – – – – – – – (1)
Share of profit/(loss) in joint venture/

investments 1 – 1 3 3 1 – (2) – –
Fair value loss on joint venture – – – – – – (9) – – –
Gain on bargain purchase – – – – – – 5 – – –

Surplus/(deficit) before taxation (27) (16) 4 26 (15) (17) 5 (26) 74 101
Taxation – 1 (1) – (3) 2 (2) 1 (5) (12)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (27) (15) 3 26 (18) (15) 3 (25) 69 89

All figures are shown in accordance with IFRS.

Advertising sales
2012

£m
2013

£m
2014 

£m
2015

£m
2016

£m
2017 

£m
2018 

£m
2019 

£m
2020 

£m
2021 

£m

Channel 4 Sales House 1,009 1,036 1,073 1,171 1,203 1,166 1,183 1,161 1,047 1,298

Total TV market 3,808 3,936 4,169 4,478 4,485 4,342 4,344 4,191 3,698 4,640

Source (Total TV market): Thinkbox. Channel 4 Sales House revenues are based on internal data and include immaterial revenue streams not included in the Thinkbox Total TV market.

Audience share (portfolio)
2012

%
2013

%
2014 

%
2015

%
2016

%
2017

%
2018

%
2019

%
2020

%
2021

%

BBC 33.6 32.4 33.1 32.8 32.1 31.6 30.9 30.7 31.1 31.6
ITV 22.4 23.1 22.0 21.2 21.3 21.7 23.2 23.2 22.2 22.3
Channel 4 excluding S4C 11.5 11.0 10.9 10.6 10.5 10.5 10.2 9.9 10.1 10.2
Channel 5 6.0 6.0 5.9 6.0 6.2 6.5 6.3 6.5 6.7 6.8
Other 26.5 27.5 28.1 29.4 29.9 29.7 29.4 29.7 29.9 29.1

Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Source: BARB all individuals.

Audience share
2012

%
2013

%
2014 

%
2015

%
2016

%
2017

%
2018

%
2019

%
2020

%
2021

%

BBC One 21.3 21.0 21.7 21.9 22.0 21.8 21.3 20.9 21.3 22.2
BBC Two 6.1 5.8 6.1 5.7 5.9 5.8 5.8 5.7 5.6 5.7
ITV and GMTV 15.7 16.2 15.6 15.0 15.4 15.5 16.9 16.9 16.7 16.8
Channel 4 excluding S4C 6.6 6.1 5.9 5.9 5.9 5.9 5.9 5.8 5.9 6.1
Channel 5 4.5 4.4 4.4 4.2 4.1 4.2 4.0 4.0 4.3 4.5
Other 45.8 46.5 46.3 47.3 46.7 46.8 46.1 46.7 46.2 44.7

Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Source: BARB all individuals.


